# Imagen 3D en Cardiopatías Congénitas

Universidad de Sevilla - King's College London





Dr María de las Nieves Velasco Forte Programa de Doctorado en Biología Molecular, Biomedicina e Investigación Clínica Línea de Investigación Clínica Especialista en Pediatría y Áreas Específicas Especialista en Cardiología Infantil y Fetal Bristol Royal Hospital for Children (Reino Unido)

## Tabla de contenido

Tabla de contenido	3
Originalidad de la Tesis	5
Resumen	6
Abstract	9
Abreviaturas/Abbreviations	11
Tabla de Figuras	13
Resumen de Tablas	20
Agradecimientos	21
Capítulo 1. Introducción a las cardiopatías congénitas 1.1 Etiología de las cardiopatías congénitas 1.2 Epidemiología e Impacto de las cardiopatías congénitas: morbimortalidad 1.3 Diagnóstico por imagen 1.4 Tratamiento quirúrgico e intervencionista	<b>23</b> 23 26 30 48
<ul> <li>Capítulo 2. Visualización en 3D y Modelos Tridimensionales en Medicina</li> <li>2.1 Visualización en 3D con técnicas de imagen</li> <li>2.2 Cómo crear un modelo 3D</li> <li>2.2.1 Adquisición de la imagen</li> <li>2.2.2 Segmentación de la anatomía</li> <li>2.2.3 Tecnologías y materiales disponibles para la impresión 3D</li> </ul>	<b>52</b> 52 52 52 52 54 56
<ul> <li>Capítulo 3. Objetivos y Metodología de la tesis</li> <li>3.1 Objetivos: esquema</li> <li>3.2 Metodología</li> <li>3.2.1 Análisis morfológico tridimensional de los músculos papilares en pacicon ventrículo izquierdo borderline</li> <li>3.2.2 Mejora de la calidad de la imagen 3D adquirida en RMC en pacientes cardiopatías congénitas</li> <li>3.2.3 De la imagen tridimensional a los modelos 3D: Creación de modelos precierre de fístulas coronarias por cateterismo cardíaco</li> <li>3.2.4 Creación de modelos para la educación del personal médico</li> </ul>	<b>59</b> 60 61 ientes 61 con 67 bara el 73 83
<ul> <li>Capítulo 4. Resultados</li> <li>4.1 Análisis morfológico tridimensional de los músculos papilares en pacientes con ve izquierdo borderline</li> <li>4.2 Visualización de la anatomía cardíaca mediante el uso de iNav (image-based nav</li> <li>4.3 Creación de modelos en pacientes con fístulas coronarias</li> <li>4.4 Utilización de modelos 3D para el aprendizaje de personal médico. Perspectivas</li> </ul>	85 entrículo 85 vigation) 91 96 futuras.
<ul> <li>4.4.1 Hipoplasia de cavidades izquierdas y sus distintos estadios</li> <li>4.4.2 Tetralogia de Fallot y sus complicaciones</li> <li>4.4.3 Truncus arterioso</li> <li>4.4.4 Ventrículo derecho de doble salida</li> </ul>	103 103 108 112 113
Capítulo 5. Discusión y Conclusiones	117
Chapter 5. Discussion and Conclusions	125
Contribuciones a Congresos durante la Tesis Doctoral	133
Becas obtenidas para el desarrollo de la tesis	139

Publicaciones para la tesis doctoral	140
Otras publicaciones	142
Apéndice I	148
Apéndice II – Artículos incluidos en la tesis	160
Referencias	192

## Originalidad de la Tesis

Memoria presentada por María de las Nieves Velasco Forte para optar al grado de Doctor con mención internacional por la Universidad de Sevilla.

El presente trabajo de investigación ha sido realizado en el Instituto de Biomedicina de Sevilla en colaboración con King's College London (KCL), bajo la supervisión del Doctor Israel Valverde Pérez, el Dr Tarique Hussain, el Dr José Antonio Ordoñez Fernández y el Dr Tarik Smani Hajami.

El trabajo presentado es un compendio de publicaciones en el que Mari Nieves Velasco es primera autora, habiendo realizado la mayor parte del trabajo expuesto, en colaboración con el equipo de ingenieros de KCL tal y como se establece en los artículos adjuntos al final del documento.

Mari Nieves Velasco Forte ha recibido financiación para la realización de este proyecto a través de la beca de la AEPC y del contrato para investigación proporcionado por King's College London.

### Resumen

Las cardiopatías congénitas precisan de una minuciosa evaluación tridimensional para determinar las opciones de tratamiento y garantizar el éxito del procedimiento a realizar. A pesar de que el método diagnóstico más habitual utilizado es la ecografía, la resonancia magnética cardíaca (RCM) se ha convertido en una herramienta fundamental para el seguimiento y la toma de decisiones en estos pacientes, proporcionando información precisa sobre los volúmenes y la función ventricular, valorando la idoneidad de la reparación biventricular frente a la univentricular y ayudando en la planificación de procedimientos intervencionistas.

En esta tesis se explora el uso de secuencias 3D en resonancia magnética para evaluar cardiopatías congénitas complejas, así como su aplicación para la representación tridimensional y su uso para la enseñanza. Inicialmente, se investiga el uso de imágenes de resonancia magnética en formato 3D para evaluar la estructura de los músculos papilares y determinar su morfología en pacientes con síndrome de corazón izquierdo hipoplásico. En ciertos casos, es difícil establecer si el ventrículo izquierdo tiene un tamaño suficiente como para mantener la circulación sistémica. El análisis de la morfología ventricular, así como el tamaño del resto de estructuras del lado izquierdo es crucial en estos pacientes. En esta tesis se describen las características de los músculos papilares, comparándolos en pacientes con ventrículo izquierdo hipoplásico, borderline y ventrículo izquierdo de tamaño normal, utilizando las secuencias eco gradiente y 3D bSSFP (balance steady state free precession).

Posteriormente, se analizó cómo mejorar la secuencia 3D bSSFP para el análisis de estructuras de pequeño tamaño. Las secuencias tridimensionales en resonancia cardíaca, como la angiografía y el 3D bSSFP, carecen de la nitidez necesaria para la descripción de

la anatomía de forma detallada. Para abordar este problema, se describió el uso de iNAV ("image-based navigation"), en el cual en lugar de usar el movimiento del diafragma para reducir el artefacto causado por la respiración del paciente, rastreamos el movimiento del corazón per se. Se comparan las imágenes tridimensionales obtenidas con iNAV y dNAV (navegación diafragmática habitual), valorando la mejora en la visualización de las arterias coronarias en su origen, trayecto proximal y medio de forma objetiva y subjetiva. El siguiente paso consistió en el empleo de secuencias de RMC para hacer representaciones tridimensionales y para la impresión 3D de modelos pacienteespecíficos con el objetivo de describir el origen y trayecto de fístulas coronarias complejas. Por último, se aplica el uso de imágenes tridimensionales y su segmentación para la creación de una librería de cardiopatías congénitas en 3D para la enseñanza de médicos en formación.

Los principales hallazgos de la tesis son los siguientes: 1) la visualización en tres dimensiones de los músculos papilares permitió definir un acortamiento o ausencia del soporte papilar superolateral como una característica distintiva del ventrículo izquierdo borderline/hipoplásico; 2) la calidad de la imagen obtenida por resonancia se puede mejorar mediante el uso de iNAV en pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas; 3) la aplicación de la creación de imágenes en 3D es vital para lograr el diagnóstico correcto en pacientes con fístulas coronarias complejas, mientras que la impresión de modelos paciente-específicos es fundamental para la planificación del cateterismo intervencionista y 4) el uso en conjunto de estas tecnologías 3D tiene aplicaciones útiles en la enseñanza. En resumen, esta tesis muestra que la RM cardíaca del corazón en su conjunto, mejorada con el uso de iNAV, y su representación tridimensional e impresión, puede brindar información anatómica importante para la planificación de procedimientos intervencionistas y para la enseñanza en cardiopatías congénitas.

### Abstract

Congenital heart disease relies heavily on 3-dimensional assessment to determine treatment options and procedural success. In spite of echocardiography being the most common diagnostic method used, cardiac magnetic resonance imaging has become a fundamental tool for monitoring and decision-making in these patients, providing accurate information on ventricular volumes and function, assessing suitability of biventricular repair versus univentricular and for procedural guidance.

This thesis investigates the use of the 3D approach using MRI to evaluate heart disease, its application for 3D representation and its use for teaching. In regards to evaluating heart disease, I investigated the use of 3D whole heart MR imaging to evaluate the papillary muscles' structure and determine their morphology in patients with hypoplastic left heart syndrome. In certain cases, it is difficult to decide whether the left ventricle is large enough to sustain the systemic circulation. The analysis of the ventricular morphology as well as the size of the rest of the left-sided structures is essential in these patients. In this thesis, the characteristics of the papillary muscles are described, comparing them in patients with hypoplastic left ventricle, borderline and normal size left ventricles, using gradient echo and three-dimensional sequences such as 3D balance steady state free precession (bSSFP).

I then look into how this technique can be improved to look at smaller structures. Threedimensional sequences such as angiography and 3D bSSFP lack the critical clarity to describe the anatomy in full detail. To overcome this issue, I described the use of iNAV (image-based navigation), in which instead of using the diaphragm as a means of reducing the artifact caused by the patient's breathing, we track the movement of the heart itself. The three-dimensional images obtained with iNAV and dNAV (diaphragmatic navigation) are compared, assessing the improvement in the visualization of the coronary arteries at their origin, proximal and middle course in an objective and subjective manner. The work is followed by the use of this technology to make 3D representations using volume rendering and 3D-printing to depict coronary fistulas. Finally, I look at the entirety of these developments and apply it to teaching trainees in congenital heart disease.

The main findings of the thesis are: 1) that the 3D approach was able to define a shortening or absence of the superolateral papillary support as a hall-mark of the borderline/hypoplastic left ventricle; 2) that image quality can be improved by the use of iNAV in patients with CHD; 3) that the application of volume rendering was vital to achieve the correct diagnosis whereas 3D printing was vital for interventional planning in geometrically complex coronary fistulas and 4) that the amalgamated use of these 3D technologies has useful applications in effective teaching.

In summary, this thesis shows that he 3D whole heart cardiac MR approach, augmented by iNAV and depicted with rendering and printing can give important anatomical insights for procedural planning and teaching in CHD.

## **Abreviaturas/Abbreviations**

- 3D= tres dimensiones/tridimensional
- ACD= arteria coronaria derecha
- ACI= arteria coronaria izquierda
- ACx= arteria circunfleja
- AD= aurícula derecha
- ADA= arteria descendente anterior
- AI= aurícula izquierda
- ALCAPA= Anomalous origin of the Left Coronary artery from the Pulmonary Artery
- ARCAPA= Anomalous origin of the Reft Coronary artery from the Pulmonary Artery

Ao= aorta

- bSSFP= balance steady state free precession
- BT= Blalock Taussig
- CC= cardiopatías congénitas
- CIA= comunicación interauricular
- CHD= congenital heart disease
- CIV= comunicación interventricular
- CRUISE= Constant Respiratory Using Single End-expiratory Thresholding
- ECG= electrocardiograma
- dNAV= diaphragmatic navigation
- iNAV= image-based navigation
- Qp/Qs= flujo pulmonar/flujo sistémico
- Ms= milisegundos
- PEARS= Personalized External Aortic Root Support
- PET= tomografía por emisión de positrones

- RM= resonancia magnética
- RMC= resonancia magnética cardíaca
- RPD= rama pulmonar derecha
- RPI= rama pulmonar izquierda
- SHCI= síndrome de hipoplasia de cavidades izquierdas
- STL= estereolitografía
- TAC= tomografia axial computerizada
- T= Tesla
- VCI= vena cava inferior
- VCS= vena cava superior
- VD= ventrículo derecho
- VI= ventrículo izquierdo

# Tabla de Figuras

Figura 1. Plano coronal modificado (secuencia spin-echo) en el que se muestra una
estenosis proximal en la arteria pulmonar derecha con buen calibre distal. Nótese el
adecuado contraste entre el endotelio y la cavidad sanguínea de la arteria pulmonar
derecha que es mucho más difuminado a nivel intracardiaco
Figura 2. Ejemplo de secuencia gradient-echo. Plano eje corto. Existe un excelente
contraste entre el endocardio, la cavidad sanguínea y el miocardio que permite identificar
los músculos papilares
Figura 3. 3D bSSFP, adquisición sagital en una cardiopatía con comunicación
interventricular moderada en la que se ha realizado previamente una cirugía de banding
pulmonar
Figura 4. 3D bSSFP (imagen inferior derecha) utilizado para la planificación y ejecución
de cateterismo guiado por resonancia cardíaca (resto de la imagen) en un paciente de 12
años con Hipoplasia de cavidades izquierdas tras operación de Fontan
Figura 5. Ejemplo de angiografía 3D con adquisición preferencial en circuito pulmonar.
Figura 6. Paciente con Tetralogía de Fallot (imagen gradient-echo) con reparación
transannular en la infancia y dilatación severa del tracto de salida derecho y la arteria
pulmonar
Figura 7. Reconstrucción 3D de angiografía con contraste en paciente con arco aórtico
doble
Figura 8. Secuencia de cine mostrando el drenaje de la vena pulmonar superior derecha a
la vena cava superior
Figura 9. Imagen gradient echo en paciente con canal aurículoventricular, vista en cuatro
cámaras

Figura 10. Paciente con ventrículo izquierdo borderline, imagen gradient-echo, vista en
cuatro cámaras
Figura 11. Pasos para proceso de segmentación utilizando un software de acceso gratuito
online. A) Selección de la región de interés. B) Thresholding o umbral de brillo. C)
Edición manual de la anatomía. D) Representación 3D de la segmentación 55
Figura 12. Ejemplos de modelos 3D de distintos materiales utilizados para planificación
de cateterismo cardíaco
Figura 13. La longitud de los músculos papilares se estimó utilizando una reconstrucción
multiplanar en cuatro cámaras de forma paralela al eje longitudinal del ventrículo
izquierdo
Figura 14. (a) Inserción estrecha de los vientres del soporte muscular supero-lateral(*) en
un paciente con ventrículo izquierdo (VI) de tamaño normal. (b) Inserción ancha de los
vientres del soporte muscular supero-lateral (*) un paciente con ventrículo izquierdo
borderline
Figura 15. Para realizar la medición, se tomó como referencia el punto central de ambos
grupos de musculares, y se dibujó una línea entre el punto de referencia tomado y el centro
del ventrículo izquierdo
Figura 16. Análisis del origen y curso medio de la arteria coronaria derecha (imagen
superior) e izquierda (imagen inferior). A) Origen de la coronaria derecha (flecha) y curso
proximal. B) Visualización del curso medio de la ACD en el mismo paciente. C) Origen
(flecha) y curso proximal de la ACI. D) Curso medio de la ADA y la ACx (flechas) en el
mismo paciente
Figura 17. Paciente 1. Fístula coronaria de la arteria coronaria derecha drenando en el
ventrículo izquierdo (imágenes de TAC). A) Origen de la arteria coronaria derecha (*),

Figura 19. Paciente 3. Fístula coronaria compleja con dos aneurismas. A) Origen de la fistula (★), vista coronal. B) Gran saco aneurismático (\*) y curso de la fístula (flecha blanca), vista axial (nótese la calcificación). C) Drenaje de la fistula al seno coronario (★), nótese la compresión del gran saco aneurismático (\*) hacia su punto de drenaje, corte sagital. D) Reconstrucción 3D de la fistula mostrando el gran saco y drenaje en la aurícula izquieda (flecha negra). Ao= aorta, CS= seno coronario, LA= aurícula izquierda, LV= Figura 20. Paciente 4. Fístula coronaria de la arteria coronaria izquierda. A) Ecografía transtorácica mostrando el curso de la fistula coronaria alrededor de la raíz aórtica (\*). B) Drenaje de la fistula en la aurícula derecha (nótese la presencia de dos puntos de drenaje, flechas blancas). C) Eco 3D mostrando el curso de la fistula (flecha negra). D) Origen de la fistula (fleche negra), curso (flecha blanca) y drenaje (\*) en un corte axial de la Figura 21. Reconstrucción obtenida con software de diseño asistido por ordenador y modelo 3D para el paciente 1 (A & B), 2 (C & D), 3 (E & F), 4 (G & H) (67)......80 Figura 22. Comparación entre dos modelos de distinto material. A&C) Poliuretano. Figura 23. Distribución de los músculos papilares en función del tamaño ventricular. (a) Patrón más frecuente de organización de los músculos papilares en ventrículo izquierdo (VI) de tamaño normal: \*\* soporte inferomedial con dos vientres; ★ soporte superolateral con sólo un vientre. (b) Ventrículo izquierdo de tamaño normal con varios vientres en ambos soportes musculares ( $\star\star$  soporte superolateral con dos vientres, \*\*\* soporte inferomedial con tres vientres). (c) Músculo papilar único en posición inferomedial en paciente con VI borderline (\*). (d) Músculos papilares formados por un único vientre en paciente con hipoplasia de cavidades izquierdas en posición inferomedial (\*) y Figura 24. 3D bSSFP en 4 pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas, adquiridos usando iNAV (parte superior de la imagen) y dNAV (parte inferior). ALCAPA= Anomalous Left Figura 25. Tiempo de escaneado para pacientes bajo anestesia general (imagen derecha) Figura 26. Score visual para las imágenes adquiridas con iNAV y dNAV. El porcentaje de casos para cada score se ha representado en la parte superior de la imagen. Las figuras A – D representan scores del 2 al 5 respectivamente. Ninguna imagen recibió un score de 

D) Paciente 2. Origen y curso de la arteria coronaria izquierda (\*) y derecha (flecha) en corte axial (C) y coronal (D). E) & F) Paciente 3. E) Saco aneurismático de gran tamaño (\*) y recorrido de la fístula, corte axial (nótese la calcificación). F) Imagen en 3D de la fistula mostrando el gran saco aneurismático principal (\*), un segundo aneurisma (flecha blanca) y su drenaje hacia la aurícula izquierda (flecha negra). G) & H) Paciente 4. G) Ecografía transtorácica mostrando el curso de la fistula coronaria alrededor de la raíz aórtica (\*). H) Origen de la fistula (fleche negra), curso (flecha blanca) y denaje (\*) en un corte axial de la secuencia 3D-bSSFP.
98 Figura 29. Planificación del cateterismo en el paciente 1. A) Angiografía rotacional del modelo con el dispositivo colocado en el punto de drenaje de la fistula en el VI, cerca de la válvula mitral. B) Reconstrucción en 3D de las imágenes de TAC del mismo paciente.
C) Cierre de la fistula con el dispositivo. D) Modelo 3D con el dispositivo cerca del punto de drenaje, en la misma ubicación en la que se realizó en el paciente durante l cateterismo.
100 Figura 30. Imagen 3D de la morfología de un corazón con síndrome de hipoplasia del

 Figura 34. Reconstrucción tridimensional tras cirugía de Fontan (conexión de la vena cava superior a la rama pulmonar derecha). La circulación del circuito de Fontan se ha separado del resto de la anatomía cardíaca para facilitar su explicación ...... 108 Figura 35. Morfología de la Tetralogía de Fallot previa a la reparación: hipertrofia del ventrículo derecho, comunicación interventricular perimembranosa, cabalgamiento aórtico, estenosis pulmonar (infundibular, valvular y/o supravalvular según el caso). Figura 36. Dilatación severa del tracto de salida derecho y la arteria pulmonar, provocando estenosis del origen de las ramas pulmonares en paciente post-cirugía reparadora de Tetralogía de Fallot con parche transanular......110 Figura 37. Variante "Válvula pulmonar ausente", visión anatómica posterior. Dilatación evidente de ambas ramas pulmonares ......111 Figura 38. Tetralogía de Fallot con MAPCAs (major aorto-pulmonary collaterals, flechas Figura 39. Truncus arterioso tipo I. Origen de la arteria pulmonar principal desde el tronco, en su lado izquierdo, dividiéndose posteriormente en rama pulmonar derecha e Figura 40. Variante con comunicación interventricular perimembranosa y vasos normalmente relacionados con dextroposición aórtica ......114

Figura 41. Ejemplo de PDF interactivo preparado para la página web de la biblioteca en
un paciente con ventrículo derecho de doble salida y CIV remota. El usuario puede hacer
cortes o navegar en el interior del corazón en los tres ejes del espacio114
Figura 42. Variante con defecto septal tipo canal auriculoventricular. El modelo ha sido
diseñado en tres fragmentos para mostrar la relación entre la CIV y la salida de los grandes
vasos
Figura 43. CIV subpulmonar en paciente con malposición de grandes vasos, estenosis
subpulmonar y valvular pulmonar en el que se realizó Glenn bilateral 116

## Resumen de Tablas

Tabla 1. Diagnóstico, modalidad de imagen, arteria coronaria afectada y lugar de drenaje
de la fistula coronaria para cada paciente. AD= aurícula derecha. ACD= arteria coronaria
derecha. ACI= arteria coronaria izquierda. RMC= resonancia magnética cardíaca. SC=
seno coronario. TAC= Tomografía axial computerizada. VCS= vena cava superior 74
Tabla 2. Resumen del diseño y características de impresión de los modelos 81
Tabla 3. Rasgos frecuentes asociados al síndrome de hipoplasia del ventrículo izquierdo
(SHVI)
Tabla 4. Número de pacientes con músculo papilar único y posición del mismo 87
Tabla 5. Diagnóstico y características demográficas de los pacientes incluidos en el
estudio iNAV vs dNAV

### Agradecimientos

Quisiera agradecer la ayuda recibida por parte del Dr Israel Valverde de la Universidad de Sevilla y del Dr Tarique Hussain de la Universidad de King's College London para la publicación de los artículos incluidos en esta tesis. Ambos se han convertido en no sólo mis supervisores, sino mis amigos e incluso parte de mi familia. Nunca olvidaré el apoyo recibido por el Dr Kuberan Pushparajah, Dr John Simpson, Dr Aaron Bell y Sujeev Mathur durante mi aprendizaje en técnicas de imagen en el Evelina Children's Hospital de Londres. Imprescindible mencionar también la ayuda del equipo de ingenieros de King's College London, en especial Markus Henningson y Nick Byrne.

Me gustaría también agradecer a mi pareja Steven, mi hijo Thomas, mis padres Francisco y Cristina y mi hermano Javi su comprensión y apoyo durante las horas dedicadas a este proyecto y la escritura de la tesis.

### Capítulo 1. Introducción a las cardiopatías congénitas

Las cardiopatías congénitas son un grupo de enfermedades caracterizado por la presencia de alteraciones anatómicas en el corazón. Estos defectos estructurales son producidos por anomalías en la formación del mismo durante el periodo embrionario. En la actualidad, los avances diagnósticos y terapeúticos han aumentado la esperanza de vida de la población afecta, creando un conjunto de pacientes con necesidades complejas de carácter multidisplinar.

El avance continuo de las técnicas de diagnóstico por imagen es un pilar básico y esencial para seguir mejorando no sólo la esperanza de vida, sino también la calidad de vida, disminuir las complicaciones a corto y largo plazo y la necesidad de reintervenciones. En esta tesis, se analizan las características morfológicas del corazón en pacientes con hipoplasia de cavidades izquierdas en relación a aquellos con ventrículo izquierdo de tamaño normal y borderline para la toma de decisiones clínicas utilizando la resonancia. Dadas las limitaciones técnicas, se planteará la mejora de la adquisición de la secuencia de resonancia que permite el análisis tridimensional de la anatomía. Finalmente, dichas imágenes se transformarán en modelos tridimensionales para la planificación del cateterismo cardíaco y se creará una biblioteca para facilitar el acceso y el aprendizaje del personal sanitario a patologías poco frecuentes por su complejidad anatómica.

### 1.1 Etiología de las cardiopatías congénitas

Las malformaciones cardíacas congénitas son los defectos congénitos humanos más frecuentes, con una prevalencia aproximadamente del 1% de la población mundial, independientemente de la raza (1). A pesar de los avances en el cuidado de los pacientes afectos, las cardiopatías congénitas siguen representando una de las causas más

importantes de mortalidad en recién nacidos, asociando una importante tasa de morbilidad y muerte prematura.

El corazón es un órgano formado por cuatro cavidades que se origina a partir de un tubo único localizado en la línea media; su desarrollo se inicia a partir de la tercera semana durante la gestación. La configuración definitiva del corazón se lleva a cabo en general por tres procesos: formación del tubo cardiaco, plegamiento del mismo y tabicación del corazón primitivo, el cual comprende la tabicación de la aurícula, del ventrículo y del tronco-cono.

La etiología de las cardiopatías congénitas es multifactorial y en gran medida aún desconocida. Los estudios epidemiológicos sugieren que los factores genéticos son la causa conocida predominante de este tipo de patología, aunque la exposición a noxas ambientales también es relevante. Tanto los defectos cromosómicos como las mutaciones de un solo gen pueden causar anomalías cardíacas, con frecuencia pueden también formar parte de una enfermedad multisistémica. Así ocurre en pacientes con trisomía del 21, aproximadamente el 50% de las personas con síndrome de Down tienen defectos del canal auriculoventricular y/o tetralogía de Fallot. En pacientes con síndrome de Turner (45, X), la anomalía más frecuente es la coartación aórtica. Mutaciones específicas en el ADN pueden suponer la aparición de una cardiopatía, como ocurre en la microdeleción 22q11 o síndrome de DiGeorge, que generalmente surge de novo, y representan un 34% de los pacientes con truncus arteriosus y un 16% de los casos de TOF. Estas mutaciones pueden asociar malformaciones extracardíacas, como ocurre en el síndrome de Alagille, el de Holt-Oram o el síndrome de Noonan.

Existe mayor concordancia en el desarrollo de cardiopatías congénitas en los gemelos homocigotos con respecto a los gemelos heterocigotos (2, 3) e incluso existe evidencia

24

de que los embarazos gemelares suponen un mayor riesgo de cardiopatías congénitas para ambos fetos (4). El riesgo de recurrencia de cardiopatías en una pareja tras un hijo afecto es mayor que el de la población general. Existen algunas formas de herencia mendeliana en ciertas cardiopatías, como las comunicaciones auriculares, los isomerismos, el prolapso severo de la válvula mitral y la válvula aórtica bicúspide (5-8). A su vez, la incidencia de cardiopatías es más alta en parejas consanguíneas, lo que implica la existencia de genes recesivos en su transmisión (9).

Existen además diferencias en las cardiopatías según el sexo. Los defectos auriculares y la persistencia del ductus arterioso son más comunes en la población femenina, mientras que entre los varones son más frecuentes los defectos del tracto de salida como la transposición de grandes vasos, la tetralogía de Fallot, la estenosis valvular aórtica o la coartación de aorta.

No obstante, se estima que sólo se establece una causa genética conocida en menos del 20% de los casos de cardiopatías congénitas (10). Curiosamente, una gran proporción de las cardiopatías complejas infantiles ocurren en sujetos sin previa historia familiar y a pesar de que en la mayoría de los casos no se encuentra una causa establecida con claridad, la epidemiología de las cardiopatías congénitas sugiere un origen genético frecuente en los pacientes afectados (11). Este hecho sugiere que en una parte importante de los casos nos encontramos que una mutación genética de novo, tales como anomalías cromosómicas, copias de determinadas variantes genéticas y mutaciones puntuales. La severidad de ciertas patologías repercute en la capacidad de los sujetos afectados para reproducirse, lo que limita la transmisión a la descendencia de genes con gran repercusión en la salud. En cuanto a los factores ambientales que rodean al feto, la diabetes mellitus y la fenilcetonuria han sido reconocidos como factores de riesgo mayores para la aparición de cardiopatías congénitas en el feto. La obesidad, el alcoholismo, la infección

por rubeola, la exposición a ciertos disolventes orgánicos o a drogas como la talidomida y el ácido retinoico también se ha asociado a la aparición de anomalías cardíacas en el feto (12).

Desde un punto de vista global la mayoría de los hallazgos apuntan a la existencia de una gran contribución genética a la aparición de cardiopatías congénitas. Es necesario considerar también la interacción entre medio ambiente y genética, así como la existencia de defectos en varios loci, interacciones aditivas, o causas multifactoriales. Estos factores probablemente no sólo afectan al corazón per se, sino que también pueden repercutir en el desarrollo neurológico, la aparición de arritmias o insuficiencia cardíaca, así como la predisposición a la aparición de cáncer en pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas (11).

#### 1.2 Epidemiología e Impacto de las cardiopatías congénitas: morbimortalidad

Hace sólo unas décadas, sólo una minoría de los pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas complejas o severas sobrevivía hasta la edad adulta. La introducción del bypass cardiopulmonar en los años 50 permitió la realización de la cirugía cardíaca a corazón abierto, con un aumento espectacular de la supervivencia de estos pacientes. A pesar de que las cardiopatías siguen siendo la causa principal de mortalidad en pacientes con defectos congénitos, la supervivencia hasta la edad adulta es ahora posible en la mayor parte de los pacientes, incluyendo casos graves como la hipoplasia de cavidades izquierdas (13, 14). El continuo avance en el diagnóstico, las técnicas de imagen, biomarcadores, nuevos dispositivos, así como la mejora en los procedimientos quirúrgicos e intervencionistas, la organización de los cuidados y la investigación

biomédica en los últimos años, han modificado notablemente las expectativas de supervivencia de este conjunto de la población.

A pesar de ser el defecto congénito más frecuente, se cree que aproximadamente un 35% de las cardiopatías congénitas se diagnostican una vez pasada la infancia o incluso una vez avanzada la edad adulta. La prevalencia de defectos cardíacos congénitos moderados o severos se estima en 8 de cada 1000 nacidos vivos (12). El grupo étnico y la localización geográfica podrían jugar cierto papel en la prevalencia, puesto que dada la disparidad en el acceso a sanidad y al diagnóstico mediante ecografía, es difícil llegar a conclusiones certeras. La prevalencia está cambiando también en los últimos años con el desarrollo de la cardiología fetal, puesto que en ciertos casos conlleva la interrupción del embarazo. En la actualidad, el 57-87% de las lesiones severas se diagnostican durante el embarazo (12). La mortalidad ha disminuido de forma significativa en las últimas décadas. Un estudio llevado a cabo en Noruega demostró que la supervivencia en pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas hasta la edad adulta ha mejorado en los últimos años, constituyendo un 62% entre 1971-1989 e incrementándose hasta el 87% en los años 1990-2011.

El número de operaciones realizadas en pacientes con defectos simples ha aumentado a su vez debido a la mejora en el diagnóstico, este hecho contribuye al incremento en el número total de pacientes en edad adulta diagnosticados con una cardiopatía congénita. Por otro lado, sólo las intervenciones de defectos simples son realmente curativas. Un gran número de pacientes necesitará una o más re-intervenciones a lo largo de su vida, ya sea por complicaciones causadas por defectos residuales, correcciones anatómicas tras cirugías paliativas en la infancia, la adición de cirugías paliativas o en caso de necesitar un trasplante cardíaco en casos de insuficiencia cardíaca irreversible (15, 16). En la actualidad, el 50% de los pacientes adultos con cardiopatías congénitas que se somete a una operación es debido a la necesidad de realizar una re-intervención, especialmente en

27

casos de defectos severos que precisan cirugías complejas. En estos casos, las reintervenciones se hacen cada vez de forma más temprana, puesto que la reparación precoz de ciertas patologías como las asociadas al uso de tubos de Contegra en posición pulmonar o la patología del arco aórtico ha demostrado dar mejores resultados a largo plazo (15, 17). Además, al envejecer, la población con patología cardíaca congénita puede también desarrollar enfermedad coronaria o valvular que puede precisar intervención, por lo que el número total de intervenciones probablemente continúe aumentando.

En el año 2000 se estimó que la prevalencia de pacientes adultos con cardiopatías congénitas era de 40.000 por cada 10 millones de habitantes (18). Probablemente este número ascienda hasta aproximadamente 75.000 pacientes por cada 10 millones de habitantes en las próximas décadas (12). El registro holandés conocido como CONCOR sobre defectos congénitos cardíacos mostró que, a la edad de 18 años, los pacientes con lesiones leves tienen una esperanza de vida de 84 años, similar a la población general. Los adultos con un defecto de moderada o severa gravedad tienen una esperanza de vida de 75 y 53 años, respectivamente (19).

La cirugía cardíaca en cardiopatías congénitas se asocia a una importante morbimortalidad. Entre un 20-50% de los pacientes desarrolla algún tipo de complicación, incluyendo arritmias (especialmente supraventriculares o bloqueo aurículo-ventricular), hemorragias, derrame pleural o pericárdico, insuficiencia renal y respiratoria o neumotórax, entre otros. La mortalidad postoperatoria es variable según el tipo de procedimiento, en general la supervivencia en adultos para todas las cirugías es del 91% a los 5 años de la operación (16, 20). Afortunadamente, la mortalidad postoperatoria ha disminuido con el tiempo (16, 20). Hay factores de riesgo potenciales preoperatorios, tales como la cianosis, la insuficiencia cardíaca, el número de reintervenciones previos a la operación, e intraoperatorios tales como el tiempo de bypass cardiopulmonar. Dos tercios de la población con cardiopatías congénitas fallece debido a patología cardíaca, las causas más frecuentes son la insuficiencia cardíaca (26%) y muerte súbita (21). Las causas no cardíacas de muerte más comunes son los tumores malignos (9%) y la neumonía (4%). Los predictores de mortalidad independientemente de la causa son la edad, el sexo, la severidad de la cardiopatía, endocarditis, arritmias supraventriculares y ventriculares u otros trastornos de la conducción, el infarto de miocardio y la hipertensión pulmonar. En cuanto a las diferencias según el sexo, los hombres en edad adulta con defectos auriculares de tipo ostium secundum tienen peor supervivencia que la población general. Por otro lado, la mortalidad a los 30 días tras intervención en pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas es más alta en los varones con respecto a las mujeres durante la edad fértil (22). Los hombres tienen más riesgo de endocarditis y necesitan la implantación de un desfibrilador automático con mayor frecuencia que las mujeres, mientras que la hipertensión pulmonar es más común en la población femenina (23, 24). Con respecto a la edad, en pacientes menores de 60 años la causa de muerte más frecuente tras cirugía cardíaca es atribuible a la cardiopatía congénita en sí; sin embargo, en pacientes con más de 60 años la causa de muerte principal es la patología valvular o isquémica (25).

Las cardiopatías congénitas tienen un gran impacto en la vida tanto de los hombres como de las mujeres que las padecen. Los hombres parecen más afectados en la vida laboral, presentando mayor tasa de paro y de empleo a tiempo parcial que la población general (26). Tanto la limitación física que pueden sufrir algunos pacientes, como el retraso cognitivo, la influencia de la presencia de la patología en sus ambiciones futuras y su personalidad e incluso la discriminación laboral podrían explicar este hecho. Algunos de estos pacientes también pueden experimentar dificultades a la hora de obtener una hipoteca bancaria o un seguro médico.

La mejora en la esperanza de vida de este grupo de la población acarrea a su vez nuevos retos. Muchos pacientes tendrán secuelas y defectos residuales de por vida, por lo que el seguimiento regular es esencial. Esto a su vez crea la necesidad de un programa de transición desde la edad pediátrica a la adolescencia, evitando así la pérdida del seguimiento de pacientes; así como la mejor comprensión de las complicaciones a largo plazo y su manejo, prevención y tratamiento. En la actualidad, muchos de estos pacientes alcanzan la edad fértil, por lo que la planificación familiar y la investigación en cuanto al riesgo durante el embarazo es esencial.

#### 1.3 Diagnóstico por imagen

Las técnicas de imagen cardiaca como método diagnóstico han producido una de las más importantes revoluciones en el manejo del paciente cardiaco, la comprensión de la fisiopatología y la investigación básica de la práctica totalidad de las enfermedades cardiacas (27) (28).

La ecocardiografía fetal ha supuesto un progreso sustancial en el diagnóstico prenatal de las cardiopatías congénitas, permitiendo la mejora en el asesoramiento a los padres y ayudando a guiar el lugar óptimo para el nacimiento de los recién nacidos afectos, y la adecuada planificación a través del equipo de cardiología y neonatología. La eco fetal facilita además el diagnóstico y tratamiento de las arritmias fetales, sirviendo también de guía para las intervenciones intraútero fetales tales como la dilatación valvular para reducir la obstrucción y mejorar el desarrollo ventricular tales como la estenosis aórtica (29) y conllevando un mejor pronóstico de los neonatos con cardiopatías (30).

30

La ecocardiagrafía transtorácica y transesofágica han mejorado enormemente en los últimos años. Las nuevas técnicas de eco permiten detectar el movimiento de las fibras cardíacas (Speckle Tracking o Strain) y analizar la contracción y relajación miocárdica usando la técnica de Tissue Doppler. La ecografía en 3D permite la visualización de defectos congénitos cardíacos, así como cuantificar la función cardíaca y el volumen ventricular, de una forma comparable a la resonancia magnética cardíaca (RMC) (31). También ha mostrado utilidad en el cierre percutáneo de defectos del septo interauricular, la corrección de regurgitación paravalvular en pacientes con válvulas protésicas, y la dilatación valvular en casos de estenosis (32). La fusión de imágenes durante el cateterismo, utilizando de forma simultánea la eco 3D y los rayos X, o la integración de las imágenes previamente adquiridas mediante TAC o resonancia cardíaca a la adquisición por fluoroscopia durante el procedimiento, disminuye la radiación necesaria para llevar acabo la intervención (33).

La resonancia cardíaca se ha establecido en los últimos años como una modalidad de diagnóstico alternativa y complementaria a la ecocardiografía, con frecuencia superior en cuanto a calidad de imagen para la visualización de la anatomía y el análisis de la función cardíaca en pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas. Presenta varias ventajas con respecto a otras modalidades, pues la calidad de la resonancia no se ve afectada en pacientes con mala ventana acústica, no precisa de la inyección de contraste yodados y no expone al paciente ni al personal médico a radiación.

Secuencias de Imagen en Resonancia Cardíaca más frecuentes en pacientes con Cardiopatías Congénitas Durante la adquisición de imágenes del corazón mediante el uso de la resonancia magnética, se deben tener en cuenta varios aspectos. En primer lugar, el corazón es una estructura en movimiento continuo. Para sincronizar la imagen con el ciclo cardíaco, es esencial una señal de electrocardiograma de alta calidad. Además, el corazón está en continua interacción con la pared torácica y el diafragma; ambas estructuras se mueven durante la respiración. Por lo tanto, se requiere la realización de apnea para reducir al mínimo el artefacto producido por el movimiento respiratorio tanto como sea posible. En algunos pacientes será necesaria la anestesia general para evitar no sólo el artefacto provocado por la respiración sino también por la falta de cooperación en los pacientes pediátricos y la dificultad para mantenerse inmóviles durante largos periodos de tiempo.

• Spin echo

Esta secuencia se usa en RM cardíaca para generar imágenes en las que la sangre que fluye aparece oscura (de color negro) y los tejidos estacionarios tienden a aparecer en diferentes tonos de gris o blanco, de ahí el nombre común de imágenes en "sangre negra".



*Figura 1*. Plano coronal modificado (secuencia spin-echo) en el que se muestra una estenosis proximal en la arteria pulmonar derecha con buen calibre distal. Nótese el adecuado contraste

entre el endotelio y la cavidad sanguínea de la arteria pulmonar derecha que es mucho más difuminado a nivel intracardiaco.

Esta secuencia emplea la activación de ECG para compensar el movimiento cardíaco y los pulsos de preparación para suprimir la señal de la sangre, llevando a cabo la adquisición de la imagen en sístole. El movimiento respiratorio se puede abordar pidiendo al paciente que aguante la respiración (preferiblemente en espiración para disminuir el tamaño de la imagen que vamos a obtener, adquiriendo múltiples promedios de señal ("signal averages"), codificando la secuencia de forma lateral de derecha a izquierda o sincronizando con un navegador respiratorio. En los estudios de pacientes neonatos, esta secuencia es de especial importancia ya que normalmente produce un ratio señal/ruido más alto, ofreciendo una mayor resolución espacial incluso con un campo de visión ("field of view") más pequeño (36). La secuencia spin echo también es menos susceptible a los artefactos causados por implantes metálicos tales como los stent en las ramas pulmonares en pacientes con Tetralogía de Fallot o en el istmo aórtico en pacientes con coartación.

Con esta técnica se pueden adquirir imágenes de alta resolución, con un tamaño de vóxel pequeño (1-1.5 mm), lo cual es particularmente útil en pacientes más jóvenes y pacientes con fisiología univentricular (34) (35). Sin embargo, esta secuencia no genera una imagen isotrópica, lo que limita su aplicación para la visualización 3D. Pese a que la resolución espacial es excelente, para obtener una señal adecuada requiere cortes con un grosor elevado de al menos 7-8 mm. Además, para obtener un buen contraste entre sangre y endocardio o endotelio, generalmente se adquiere en sístole. Por tanto, no es una técnica adecuada para valoración de las cavidades cardiacas en diástole.

• Secuencias de cine – Ecogradiente

En las secuencias de cine o ecogradiente, el flujo de sangre aparece como una imagen brillante. Esta adquisición se sincroniza con el ECG del paciente y se muestra como múltiples imágenes a lo largo del ciclo cardíaco, proporcionando información funcional generalmente como una pila de cortes contiguos a modo de cine. Este grupo de imágenes se puede alinear en un plano de eje corto ventricular paralelo a las válvulas auriculoventriculares y perpendicular al tabique interventricular o en un plano axial transversal a la pared torácica. Los volúmenes y la masa telediastólica y telesistólica de ambos ventrículos se pueden calcular delineando el contorno de los bordes endocárdico y epicárdico (37), permitiendo así el cálculo de la fracción de eyección como un marcador de la función ventricular.



*Figura 2*. Ejemplo de secuencia gradient-echo. Plano eje corto. Existe un excelente contraste entre el endocardio, la cavidad sanguínea y el miocardio que permite identificar los músculos papilares.

Las imágenes de cine también pueden proporcionar información funcional para las válvulas, valorando el movimiento de las valvas, lo que permite la identificación de defectos tales como la reducción de la excursión de los velos, el prolapso o la falta de coaptación de las valvas. Para disminuir el artefacto provocado por el movimiento respiratorio el paciente debe contener la respiración o podemos aumentar el número de

promedios de señales adquiridos (signal average) (34). Esta técnica carece de ciertas características, de manera similar a la secuencia spin echo. No es una adquisición isotrópica, tiene peor resolución (1.5-1.8 mm) y requiere un grosor de corte también elevado de al menos 6-8 mm. En cuanto a las ventajas que aporta, permite la adquisición en diferentes momentos del ciclo cardiaco, tanto en sístole como en diástole. Sin embargo, al ser tan sensible a los artefactos de flujo, no es adecuada para evaluar segmentos donde exista aceleración de flujo debido a estenosis o shunts de elevada velocidad.

### • 3D balance Steady State Free Precession (3D bSSFP)

El 3D bSSFP ofrece un conjunto de datos en 3D estático que contiene la región de interés seleccionada del paciente. Para evitar artefactos de movimiento en esta secuencia, es necesario tener en cuenta no sólo los músculos respiratorios y el diafragma, sino también la propia contracción y relajación del corazón. Es por tanto una secuencia de pulsos sincronizada con el ECG. La adquisición puede ser de fase simple o dual, dependiendo de si se utiliza la contracción o la relajación isovolumétrica de los ventrículos (o ambas fases) para activar la adquisición.



*Figura 3.* 3D bSSFP, adquisición sagital en una cardiopatía con comunicación interventricular moderada en la que se ha realizado previamente una cirugía de banding pulmonar.

La compensación del movimiento respiratorio generalmente se logra mediante el uso de un navegador diafragmático. Estas secuencias pueden combinarse con medios de contraste y producir un conjunto de datos 3D de alta resolución de todo el corazón y la vasculatura intratorácica (37). La reconstrucción de imágenes puede hacerse de forma tridimensional o de manera multiplanar, permitiendo la medida el diámetro de los vasos y las cámaras cardíacas. Debido a que la imagen adquirida es isotrópica (hasta 1.3x1.3x1.3 mm), es la técnica de elección para la reconstrucción 3D de las imágenes. Además puede utilizarse para la planificación de intervenciones guiadas por RM (Figura 4).



**Figura 4**. 3D bSSFP (imagen inferior derecha) utilizado para la planificación y ejecución de cateterismo guiado por resonancia cardíaca (resto de la imagen) en un paciente de 12 años con Hipoplasia de cavidades izquierdas tras operación de Fontan.
#### • Angiografía con contraste en Resonancia Cardíaca

Esta secuencia utiliza agentes de contraste intravenosos con gadolinio para reducir el tiempo de relajación T1 de la sangre y mejorar el contraste entre la sangre y el tejido que la rodea (38). Esta adquisición también proporciona un conjunto de cortes contiguos que puede analizarse como un volumen completo en formato multiplanar o puede transformarse en una imagen tridimensional.

La compensación respiratoria se consigue mediante la realización de una apnea por parte del paciente o interrumpiendo la ventilación asistida en pacientes bajo anestesia general. La adquisición de esta secuencia no depende del ciclo cardíaco al no estar asociada al ECG del paciente, por lo que el operador desconoce la fase cardíaca en la que se adquiere. Para una calidad óptima de las imágenes de angiografía en resonancia, el momento de la adquisición de la imagen deben adaptarse a la pregunta clínica que pretendemos responder y las estructuras cardíacas que deben evaluarse para ello.



Figura 5. Ejemplo de angiografía 3D con adquisición preferencial en circuito pulmonar.

La resolución que puede conseguirse con las imágenes adquiridas con el uso de esta secuencia es alta incluso en niños pequeños, pudiendo llegar a una resolución isotrópica

de hasta 1.3x1.3x1.3 mm. Sin embargo, una de sus limitaciones es que al no ser una secuencia sincronizada, la imagen obtenida es una imagen ponderada del tamaño de los vasos sanguíneos y corazón entre sístole y diástole. Es por ello que los bordes de las estructuras anatómicas no están bien definidos, lo que limita la precisión para la medida de diámetros.

Por lo tanto, la utilidad de la angiografía en resonancia ha sido reconocida en el diagnóstico de enfermedad vascular en niños y, con frecuencia, el cateterismo cardíaco con fines diagnósticos puede evitarse en la actualidad en la mayoría de los casos (37) (39) (40).

## Indicaciones clínicas de Resonancia Magnética Nuclear en pacientes con Cardiopatías Congénitas

La resonancia magnética cardíaca es hoy en día una modalidad diagnóstica indispensable, complementaria a la ecocardiografía en pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas. Muchos adultos se benefician de una resonancia de base para referencia futura y pueden identificarse anomalías previamente no sospechadas, que no han sido detectadas mediante la ecocardiografía realizada de forma rutinaria (41). Algunos centros hospitalarios recomiendan una resonancia cardíaca en todos los pacientes en la adolescencia antes de ser transferidos al servicio de cardiopatías congénitas del adulto (42).

Aunque el seguimiento en la edad pediátrica suele realizarse con ecocardiografía, la RMC está indicada en general si ha tenido lugar un cambio en la sintomatología del paciente, siendo adecuado un intervalo de 3 años entre un estudio por resonancia y el siguiente en la mayoría de los casos una vez alcanzada la edad adulta (41).

La resonancia también está indicada cuando se necesita información para la valoración de estructuras concretas, como en los siguientes casos (41) (43):

- Evaluación de venas sistémicas y pulmonares (drenaje anómalo u obstrucción).
- Cuantificación de volúmenes ventriculares y fracción de eyección
- Evaluación del tracto de salida del ventrículo derecho, la válvula pulmonar y su conexión con la arteria pulmonar y las ramas pulmonares.
- Cuantificación de la regurgitación pulmonar.
- Cuantificación de shunts mediante medidas de flujo en aorta ascendente y tronco pulmonar.
- Evaluación anatómica de la arteria aorta
- Cuantificación de colaterales aorto-pulmonares y malformaciones arteriovenosas
- Anomalías coronarias y enfermedad de las arterias coronarias, incluida la evaluación de la viabilidad miocárdica y perfusión.
- Detección y cuantificación de fibrosis miocárdica en el ventrículo izquierdo y derecho mediante realce tardío con gadolinio.

Existe un amplio grupo de patologías que pueden beneficiarse de la resonancia como herramienta diagnóstica, para la planificación necesaria de forma previa a la realización de un procedimiento quirúrgico o intervencionista, así como durante el seguimiento del paciente (41) (44) (34, 37).

A continuación, se resumen las patologías más frecuentes y su valoración por resonancia cardíaca:

#### • Tetralogía de Fallot y estenosis de las ramas pulmonares

En pacientes con tetralogía de Fallot, la RMC es de especial importancia en el seguimiento postoperatorio. La mayoría de las técnicas de corrección de TOF implican cierto grado de regurgitación pulmonar, lo cual conlleva la dilatación y disfunción del

ventrículo derecho y la aparición de arritmias ventriculares. La función y los volúmenes se evalúan utilizando las imágenes de cine previamente mencionadas.

El momento ideal para el reemplazo de la válvula pulmonar se basa no sólo en la sintomatología sino también en la dilatación progresiva del ventrículo derecho, la función sistólica y diastólica miocárdica y el riesgo de morbi-mortalidad durante el procedimiento. La resonancia es la técnica gold standard para la evaluación del ventrículo derecho en estos pacientes y ayuda en la decisión multidisciplinar para valorar si la intervención más adecuada para el reemplazo de la válvula pulmonar en estos pacientes es mediante intervención quirúrgica o vía percutánea a través del cateterismo cardíaco. En estos casos, la regurgitación pulmonar se evalúa mediante la medición del flujo proporcionadas usando secuencia de contraste de fase. El tamaño de la arteria pulmonar y sus ramas se puede evaluar mediante la angiografía o el 3D bSSFP, valorando su anatomía de forma tridimensional o calculando su diámetro usando el formato multiplanar.



*Figura 6.* Paciente con Tetralogía de Fallot (imagen gradient-echo) con reparación transannular en la infancia y dilatación severa del tracto de salida derecho y la arteria pulmonar.

• Anomalías del arco aórtico:

En esta categoría se pueden incluir diferentes patologías, como la interrupción del arco aórtico, el tronco arterioso, la coartación aórtica, los anillos vasculares y trastornos genéticos del tejido conectivo que afectan a la arteria aorta. La RMC es útil para el diagnóstico, la planificación del procedimiento y para evaluar los resultados tras la intervención quirúrgica o intervencionista durante el seguimiento. Las reconstrucciones en 3D son particularmente útiles para planificar intervenciones del arco aórtico.



Figura 7. Reconstrucción 3D de angiografía con contraste en paciente con arco aórtico doble.

La resonancia magnética de contraste de fase se planifica utilizando la velocidad máxima prevista en el vaso en estudio (normalmente inferida con una ecografía previamente realizada en el paciente). Esta secuencia proporciona información funcional adicional a la descripción anatómica. Las mediciones de flujo son particularmente útiles para evaluar la existencia de colaterales y velocidades máximas en zonas específicas de la anatomía.

• Venas pulmonares:

La evaluación de las venas pulmonares es necesaria no sólo cuando se sospecha una afección congénita que las afecte, sino también como parte de la evaluación de otras cardiopatías congénitas. La anatomía del lumen, la cuantificación del flujo sanguíneo y la información sobre las estructuras circundantes se pueden obtener durante los estudios de RMC utilizando varias secuencias. La angiografía por resonancia magnética con contraste o 3D bSSFP ofrecen detalles anatómicos sobre su curso y su drenaje o comunicación con otras estructuras o vasos cardíacos. Las imágenes de cine a lo largo de las venas también pueden proporcionar información visual sobre la dinámica de la sangre dentro del vaso. Las imágenes del 3D bSSFP, la angiografía y las secuencias de cine pueden ayudar a evaluar la presencia de estenosis.



*Figura 8.* Secuencia de cine mostrando el drenaje de la vena pulmonar superior derecha a la vena cava superior.

Las secuencias de contraste de fase proporcionan información sobre el retorno venoso de ambos pulmones, la redistribución del flujo de ciertas áreas del pulmón y la existencia de colaterales, lo que ayuda a cuantificar el Qp/Qs (flujo pulmonar/flujo sistémico) y así la repercusión de un shunt si éste existiera.

• Valoración de shunt intra o extracardíaco

La RMC se ha convertido en parte de la evaluación hemodinámica de los shunts, ofreciendo una valoración no invasiva de la magnitud del shunt, su ubicación y la dirección del flujo a través del mismo.

La ubicación de la lesión se puede visualizar con imágenes de cine cuando son intracardíacas. Las comunicaciones extracardíacas, como las colaterales, el ductus arterioso persistente o la ventana aortopulmonar, se visualizan mejor usando la angiografía o el 3D bSSFP.



*Figura 9.* Imagen gradient echo en paciente con canal aurículoventricular, vista en cuatro cámaras.

Mediante el uso de resonancia de contraste de fase, se puede calcular el flujo en diferentes vasos y estimar el Qp/Qs o el shunt, reemplazando los métodos de oximetría (Fick) realizados en el laboratorio de cateterismo y superando las limitaciones de este tipo de técnica. El Qp o flujo pulmonar puede calcularse como el flujo en la arteria pulmonar principal si no hay shunt a nivel de los grandes vasos, o como el flujo de retorno a través de las venas pulmonares cuando existe una conexión anómala en las grandes arterias. También se puede utilizar la suma del flujo en ambas ramas de la arteria pulmonar, es decir, en los casos en que se haya creado un shunt artificial (shunt de Blalock-Taussig, Sano o shunt central) mediante cirugía cardíaca. El Qs o flujo sistémico se puede medir en la aorta ascendente por encima de la válvula aórtica, o como una suma del flujo de retorno obtenido en la vena cava superior (VCS) y la vena cava inferior (VCI), dependiendo de la existencia de shunts a nivel de las arterias pulmonares o a nivel sistémico.

• Análisis de la anatomía univentricular

La RMC ha ganado importancia en la evaluación de corazones univentriculares a lo largo de las diferentes etapas de paliación que requiere el tratamiento quirúrgico de esta enfermedad. Aunque no siempre se necesita inicialmente, la RMC puede ser relevante en pacientes cuando la posibilidad de reparación biventricular es posible o dudosa, ya que permite obtener imágenes adicionales de los tractos de salida, la aorta ascendente, el arco aórtico, las arterias pulmonares y las venas pulmonares, y características de las válvulas como la presencia de insuficiencia aórtica, la insuficiencia tricuspídea o los volúmenes y la función sistólica de ambos ventrículos, lo que puede ayudar a decidir qué vía quirúrgica es más adecuada para el paciente.



*Figura 10.* Paciente con ventrículo izquierdo borderline, imagen gradient-echo, vista en cuatro cámaras

En las etapas quirúrgicas consecutivas, la RMC ofrece información sobre la anatomía de los grandes vasos; la existencia de estenosis en el retorno venoso sistémico, venas pulmonares o arterias pulmonares, la presencia de colaterales, el análisis funcional del ventrículo dominante y permitirá evaluar los flujos a través de la circulación de Fontan. Para poder llevar a cabo un estudio detallado anatómico y funcional, normalmente se utiliza una combinación de imágenes de sangre negra, 3D bSSFP, secuencia de contraste de fase, angiografía e imágenes de cine. Las imágenes obtenidas con secuencias de estrés (usando adenosina o dobutamina) se pueden usar para comprobar la contractilidad del ventrículo y el gasto cardíaco.

• Valoración de las arterias coronarias y la presencia de fibrosis

El estudio de las arterias coronarias en los niños es fundamental en aquellos afectados con enfermedad congénita o adquirida que involucre anomalías de estos vasos como fístulas coronarias, origen anómalo de una de las arterias (síndrome de ALCAPA o ARCAPA), translocación posquirúrgica de las coronarias o de forma previa a la implantación percutánea de válvulas con stent en posición pulmonar o aórtica.

En enfermedades adquiridas y/o hereditarias, como la enfermedad de Kawasaki y otros tipos de arteritis, y la miocardiopatía hipertrófica o dilatada, el uso de secuencias que ofrecen información sobre la cicatrización miocárdica como el realce tardío de gadolinio, mapeo con T1 nativo (27) y estudios de perfusión de adenosina, pueden proporcionar información sobre el pronóstico de estos pacientes y sobre la viabilidad del tejido cardíaco tras un evento isquémico (45).

Aunque la TAC sincronizada con el ECG del paciente sigue siendo la modalidad de elección para visualizar el curso y la anatomía de las arterias coronarias, su uso está limitado en los niños dada la exposición a la radiación y la elevada frecuencia cardíaca en esta población. La secuencia 3D bSSFP normalmente permite la visualización del origen y el curso proximal de las arterias coronarias, proporcionando imágenes de mejor calidad a medida que aumenta el tamaño del paciente y disminuye su frecuencia cardíaca.

#### Otras Modalidades para el Diagnóstico por Imagen

La Tomografía Axial Computerizada es considerada la modalidad de elección en ciertas patologías en algunos centros. La elección entre RMC o TAC dependerá de la experiencia del equipo de diagnóstico por imagen, de las peculiaridades del paciente y de la región de interés que necesitamos visualizar. Durante el estudio por RMC, cuando es llevada a cabo en pacientes en edad pediátrica, será necesaria anestesia general en un gran número de casos, mientras que el TAC, dada la rapidez de la ejecución del estudio, puede realizarse

con el paciente despierto o sedado en la mayoría de los niños. El TAC es de especial utilidad en ciertas patologías, en particular aquellas que afectan a vasos en su curso a nivel extracardíaco, tales como los anillos vasculares completos o incompletos (slings), las colaterales aortopulmonares, la evaluación de las venas pulmonares, las arterias coronarias y en pacientes con marcapasos o dispositivos implantados no compatibles con el campo magnético que precisa la resonancia (46).

Debido a la necesidad de radiación, el uso del TAC en la población pediátrica sigue siendo limitado. Sin embargo, la evolución de los últimos modelos y la disminución de la radiación (47), así como la mejora en la calidad de imagen al incorporar la sincronización con ECG ha llevado a un aumento en el empleo de esta técnica en pacientes en edad infantil tales como neonatos, sustituyendo así el cateterismo con fines diagnósticos (48). Al ser la adquisición de la imagen más rápida que la resonancia y no precisar por tanto anestesia general, la TAC se utiliza de forma preferencial para la valoración anatómica en ciertas patologías de alto riesgo como aquellas en las que la circulación pulmonar depende de un BT shunt, o la estenosis aórtica severa, en las que la vasodilatación provocada por los agentes anestésicos puede poner en riesgo la vida del paciente.

La tomografía por emisión de positrones (PET) ha sido una técnica utilizada para la investigación durante muchos años, inicialmente orientada al análisis de la respuesta metabólica, fisiológica, inflamatoria o patológica de ciertos tejidos. En la actualidad, se utiliza como una herramienta indispensable en el diagnóstico y manejo de patologías como la hipertensión pulmonar idiopática o asociada a cardiopatías congénitas (49), y para la detección de inflamación en pacientes con sospecha de endocarditis (50). La fusión de ambas ténicas como PET-TAC ha mostrado utilidad en el manejo de pacientes

con patología coronaria, para el estudio de la perfusión miocárdica, incorporando información en cuanto a la morfología y para cuantificar la perfusión miocárdica (51).

#### 1.4 Tratamiento quirúrgico e intervencionista

(56).

Durante mucho tiempo, la cirugía ha sido la piedra angular en el tratamiento de los pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas. Con la evolución del cateterismo cardíaco, ciertas técnicas quirúrgicas han sido reemplazadas y se ha extendido el arsenal de posibilidades terapeúticas disponibles para el tratamiento de estos pacientes. Este es el caso de la comunicación interauricular ostium secundum, con la excepción de defectos de gran tamaño o sin bordes apropiados para la colocación del dispositivo. La técnica y los dispositivo han evolucionado en gran medida desde el primer caso descrito por King en humanos en 1976 (52). Hoy en día existen diversos diseños en el mercado que han sido aprobados después de valorar su seguridad, capacidad para el cierre del defecto, facilidad para ser desplegado y recogido si fuera necesario. La erosión de la aorta es una de las mayores complicaciones en la actualidad (53). El cierre quirúrgico del ductus arterioso persistente se ha realizado desde hace más de 60 años, mientras que el cierre percutáneo comenzó en 1967, convirtiéndose en el método de elección en la mayoría de los casos una vez pasado el periodo neonatal (54). Del mismo modo, el cierre de colaterales aortopulmonares, fístulas arteriovenosas, colaterales veno-venosas, y fístulas coronarias se realiza preferentemente de forma percutánea (55). Los defectos del tabique interventricular también pueden cerrarse mediante cateterismo en determinadas ocasiones, pero supone un procedimiento más complejo y no siempre exitoso. Las comunicaciones interventriculares perimembranosas pueden presentar complicaciones con el cierre percutáneo, dada su proximidad al tejido de conducción y la válvula aórtica

48

La valvuloplastia mediante el uso de un catéter con balón se realiza con frecuencia en la actualidad en la válvula aórtica y pulmonar cuando no existe calcificación de las valvas. En los últimos 10 años, han tenido lugar numerosos avances en el reemplazo valvular de forma percutánea de la válvula pulmonar, limitando así el número de operaciones y esternotomías necesarias durante la vida de los pacientes con estenosis del tracto de salida derecha como es el caso de la Tetralogía de Fallot. Con frecuencia, los pacientes con este tipo de enfermedad también precisan de la colocación de stents en las ramas pulmonares en caso de estenosis, en ocasiones incluso en el mismo procedimiento en el que se realiza el reemplazo valvular (57) (58).

Las intervenciones quirúrgicas también han evolucionado enormemente en los últimos años. Uno de los primeros procedimientos quirúrgicos descritos fue el cierre quirúrgico del ductus arterioso en 1938, inicialmente llevado a cabo por el cirujano Robert Gross (59). En los años 50, la introducción del bypass cardiopulmonar supuso uno de los mayores avances para los pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas. La hipotermia y la parada circulatoria fueron introducidas en los años 70, mejorando de forma exponencial los resultados de la cirugía, reduciendo la morbilidad y la mortalidad. Aún hoy en día se siguen desarrollando nuevas técnicas quirúrgicas, tales como la creación de un soporte para la raíz aórtica de los pacientes con patologías del tejido conectivo mediante impresión 3D, de forma personalizada para el paciente en sí. Esta nueva operación evita así la necesidad de la inserción de un conducto valvulado, puesto que, aunque elimina el riesgo de disección aórtica, conlleva el reemplazo de la válvula e incluso aunque su funcionamiento sea adecuado, su uso puede asociarse a la aparición de eventos tromboembólicos y existe riesgo de sangrado a largo plazo por el uso de antiagregantes y/o anticoagulantes (60, 61). El uso del procedimiento de PEARS (Personalized External

Aortic Root Support) evita el uso de anticoagulantes, y disminuye el riesgo de aparición de aneurismas en estos pacientes (62).

La historia natural de los pacientes con cardiopatías ha cambiado de forma dramática en los últimos años. Inicialmente, los pacientes derivados para tratamiento quirúrgico eran aquellos con defectos cardíacos no reparados. En la actualidad, una gran proporción de los pacientes en lista de espera precisan de tratamiento quirúrgico para el manejo de complicaciones posteriores o residuales con respecto a la operación inicial, que previamente no se trataban. Los datos del registro CONCOR demuestran que un 40% de los procedimientos quirúrgicos son reintervenciones (12). El concepto de curación o reparación total no es por tanto real en la mayor parte de los pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas, la mayoría necesitaran seguimiento a lo largo de toda la vida. En algunos pacientes la reparación de la patología cardíaca no es posible y pasaran por varios estadíos de paliación como es en caso de los pacientes con fisiología univentricular. La insuficiencia cardíaca, la hipertensión pulmonar y la aparición de arritmias son complicaciones frecuentes en una gran proporción de los adultos con cardiopatías congénitas (63).

Todavía en la actualidad, el pronóstico para los pacientes que precisan una reintervención es peor en comparación con los que se operan por primera vez, especialmente cuando se trata de la tercera o la cuarta cirugía (12). La realización de una esternotomía de forma repetida puede acarrear complicaciones. La dilatación del ventrículo derecho, la posición anterior de la aorta, la calcificación de los conductos de contegra justo detrás del esternón o incluso adheridos al mismo, pueden implicar complicaciones inmediatas al iniciar la operación, como la aparición de hemorragias

50

severas. Por este motivo, la valoración de la anatomía es esencial de forma preoperatoria mediante la TAC o la RM (63).

## Capítulo 2. Visualización en 3D y Modelos Tridimensionales en Medicina

#### 2.1 Visualización en 3D con técnicas de imagen

Existen distintas opciones para la visualización tridimensional de la anatomía cardíaca, entre ellas la ecocardiografía 3D y la reconstrucción de las imágenes adquiridas mediante TAC o RMC. El TAC y la resonancia, permiten la visualización no sólo de la anatomía del corazón, sino que también incluyen los grandes vasos (la arteria pulmonar y su división en la rama pulmonar derecha e izquierda y la arteria aorta, los troncos aórticos y la aorta descendente). Su uso ha demostrado servir en la descripción de la morfología en casos complejos, la planificación de procedimientos quirúrgicos, y el aprendizaje del personal médico en formación, así como la comunicación con los pacientes (12).

El problema percibido con la visualización tridimensional usando las técnicas nombradas en el párrafo anterior es su presentación en una pantalla bidimensional. Este hecho ha llevado al desarrollo de tecnologías que permiten la creación de un objeto 3D, tales como la impresión tridimensional y la holografía. Ambas opciones permiten la manipulación por parte del operador de la anatomía del paciente, la observación desde distintos planos y la apreciación de la profundidad y las relaciones entre las distintas estructuras (64) (65, 66).

#### 2.2 Cómo crear un modelo 3D

#### 2.2.1 Adquisición de la imagen

La mayoría de los modelos 3D se crean a partir de las imágenes adquiridas con TAC o RMC englobando el corazón en su conjunto. Para ello, son necesarios algunos requisitos imprescindibles. Cada corte debe ser contiguo al anterior, la imagen debe ser adquirida de manera isotrópica, y cada punto de la imagen adquirida debe mantener la misma distancia y posición con otro punto concreto durante todo el estudio.

La preferencia entre el uso del TAC o la RMC se basa en la experiencia del centro, la estructura cardíaca principal de interés para el estudio y la edad del paciente, con tendencia a utilizar la resonancia magnética en población pediátrica para evitar la radiación (67). A pesar de su relevancia, los detalles de la secuencia empleada para la adquisición del estudio utilizado para la segmentación no siempre aparecen descritos en los artículos clínicos publicados (68)(69)(70)(71). El 3D bSSFP y la angiografía con contraste son las secuencias más empleadas cuando el paciente se somete a una resonancia cardíaca con el fin de obtener un conjunto tridimensional de datos que incluya el corazón y los grandes vasos (72)(73)(74)(75).

El TAC ha sido descrito como una de las modalidades más fáciles para crear un modelo para impresión 3D en una revisión reciente (76). La ecocardiografía 3D también se ha utilizado cuando las válvulas cardíacas son parte de la región de interés para la segmentación. Se han obtenido resultados prometedores usando tanto la combinación de eco 3D con TAC como con ambas técnicas de forma independiente (77)(78)(79). Sin embargo, en pacientes en los que es el modelo se crea con el fin de planificar el cierre de la orejuela auricular izquierda en casos con fibrilación auricular (para reducir el riesgo de embolismo sistémico), el TAC ha mostrado mejores resultados frente a la ecocardiografía 3D para la segmentación y creación del modelo (80).

Dado que esta parte de la medicina está aún en pleno desarrollo y mejora, otras modalidades de diagnóstico por imagen están surgiendo como alternativas para la impresión en 3D. Este es el caso de la angiografía rotacional, puesto que permite que los cortes tomográficos sean normalmente reconstruidos con alta resolución espacial, también facilita la segmentación de la anatomía del paciente. Una breve serie de casos

publicada recientemente sugiere que esta opción podría extenderse en un mayor número de centros, ayudando a crear modelos 3D en países en los que la TAC o la RMC no se encuentran disponibles con facilidad (81).

#### 2.2.2 Segmentación de la anatomía

Una vez adquirida la imagen, es necesario importar los datos a un software para su segmentación. Desafortunadamente, con frecuencia el nombre del software o programa empleado no queda reflejado en las publicaciones científicas recogidas en las bases de datos. Una revisión sistemática reciente sobre la metodología para la segmentación de la imagen demostró que sólo el 34% de las publicaciones proporcionan suficientes detalles para que los métodos puedan ser reproducidos por otro centro. Un 38% mencionaba los métodos que habían utilizado, pero sin explicar de forma precisa cómo se habían aplicado, y el 29% restante de las publicaciones no proporcionaron ninguna descripción en absoluto de la metodología utilizada en el estudio (71).

Existen distintos softwares disponibles ya sea a nivel comercial o con acceso online gratuito para llevar a cabo el proceso de segmentación (71, 82-86). Éste puede realizarse mediante el uso de sistemas manuales o semiautomáticos.

Al comenzar la segmentación de forma manual, el primer paso implica la delimitación de la región anatómica de interés, separándola de los tejidos circundantes. Durante la segmentación, las técnicas más usadas son el "thresholding" o umbral de brillo, "region growing" o expansión regional y la segmentación manual (71, 82, 87). El thresholding ayuda a separa el corazón del resto de estructuras anatómicas que lo rodean. La expansión regional incluye las cavidades cardíacas y estructuras vasculares previamente incluidos. La edición manual supone el análisis de cada plano obtenido para comprobar la exactitud del modelo. Esta parte del procedimiento requiere del conocimiento preciso de la anatomía, para obtener una réplica exacta al corazón del paciente. Cualquier error en la segmentación quedará reflejado en el modelo.

Una vez finalizada la segmentación, el archivo de estereolitografía (.stl) creado se envía a un software de diseño asistido por computadora, donde se refinarán de forma detallada las características anatómicas del corazón del paciente. Este proceso permite la creación de un modelo con superficies lisas, así como recortar el extremo distal de los vasos, se puede eliminar el contenido interior del modelo dejando sólo la pared de las estructuras vasculares y parte del miocardio e incluso realizar varios cortes para mostrar la anatomía interna al resto del equipo médico exponiendo así las características morfológicas del paciente en cuestión con mayor facilidad. En la figura 11 se muestra un ejemplo de segmentación realizada con un software de acceso gratuito online.



*Figura 11.* Pasos para proceso de segmentación utilizando un software de acceso gratuito online. A) Selección de la región de interés. B) Thresholding o umbral de brillo. C) Edición manual de la anatomía. D) Representación 3D de la segmentación.

#### 2.2.3 Tecnologías y materiales disponibles para la impresión 3D

Una de las primeras técnicas empleadas para la impresión en 3D en medicina fue el rapid prototyping o prototipado rápido. Ésta a su vez puede dividirse en sustractiva o aditiva dependiendo del método de impresión utilizado.

Dentro de las técnicas sustractivas, el fresado es el único método empleado en medicina. Las ténicas aditivas más empleadas en las ciencias médicas son la impresión polyjet, el modelado de fusión por deposición, la estereolitografía y la impresión por sinterizado selectivo por láser (87) (86) (88).

En el modelado de deposición fundida, un filamento termoplástico es forzado a través de una boquilla de extrusión calentada. El filamento se derrite mientras se mueve en dirección vertical y horizontal. La capa del material se endurece inmediatamente después de la extrusión; el proceso es repetido en cada capa de material hasta que el modelo está terminado. El modelo queda incluido en un soporte de material que luego se disuelve dejando únicamente el modelo anatómico inicialmente segmentado y enviado a la impresora (72).

La impresión por polyjet funciona de manera similar a una impresora de inyección de tinta. Durante el proceso, se inyectan capas de fotopolímeros líquidos, para crear el modelo siguiendo la forma previamente definida, usando archivos STL en software asistidos por computadora. Cada capa se endurece rápidamente bajo luz ultravioleta. Se incorporan múltiples capas hasta que el modelo esté completo.

La estereolitografía construye los modelos a través de la polimerización de una resina fotopolimérica. Un haz de luz ultravioleta controlado digitalmente endurece la superficie de la resina capa por capa para imprimir el modelo (72).

56

La sinterización selectiva por láser utiliza un láser de alta potencia para fusionar metal o polvo cerámico. Ofrece modelos 3D de alta precisión, utilizados para prototipos funcionales o implantes médicos, pero el costo también es generalmente superior en comparación con otras técnicas de fabricación aditiva.

Desde el comienzo del uso de modelos tridimensionales en medicina, se han utilizado diversos materiales con diferentes propiedades para imprimir estructuras cardiovasculares. Inicialmente, se utilizaban preferentemente materiales duros para mostrar la anatomía cardíaca y los grandes vasos (68) (89). Sin embargo, los modelos con consistencia similar a la goma o el caucho impresos con el interior vacío para apreciar las estructuras cardíacas se usan con mayor frecuencia para la planificación rutinaria de las intervenciones, ya que proporcionan una representación más realista de la anatomía del paciente, hecho fundamental para planificar cualquier procedimiento quirúrgico o intervencionista (90). Otras características particulares de los nuevos materiales son la posibilidad de obtener distintos grados de opacidad, transparencia y suavidad o esponjosidad (Figura 12).



*Figura 12. Ejemplos de modelos 3D de distintos materiales utilizados para planificación de cateterismo cardíaco.* 

Estenosis pulmonar izquierda (flecha) tras maniobra de Le Compte, planificación del tamaño del balón y del stent a utilizar. B) Paciente con cirugía de Senning en la infancia, fuga del parche. Planificación del acceso y colocación del stent. C) Aneurisma aórtico (flecha) tras implantación de prótesis valvular. D) Estenosis pulmonar izquierda (flecha blanca) y estenosis del tracto de salida derecho (flecha negra) en pacientes con tetralogía de Fallot. E) Paciente con drenaje venoso pulmonar anómalo. F) Planificación de cierre con dispositivo de CIV muscular (flecha blanca) en paciente con múltiples defectos del septo interventricular. A)-C), E) y F) son modelos de Tango Plus imprimidos con tecnología polyjet, D) representa un modelo de poliuretano imprimido mediante modelado de fusión por deposición. RA= aurícula derecha, LA= aurícula izquierda, MPA= arteria pulmonar.

### Capítulo 3. Objetivos y Metodología de la tesis

Como se ha explicado anteriormente, resulta fundamental la visualización del conjunto del corazón de forma tridimensional para entender la fisiopatología cardíaca dada la complejidad morfológica de su anatomía.

Durante la realización de la tesis se evaluaron cuatro áreas:

 Análisis de la RMC para la evaluación de la anatomía cardiaca: ¿Proporcionan las secuencias actuales de RMC una calidad de imagen óptima para poder evaluar la variabilidad anatómica presente en cardiopatías congénitas?

Se evaluó la secuencia de RMC 3D bSSFP para la caracterización de la morfología de los músculos papilares en pacientes con ventrículo izquierdo borderline comparándolo con aquellos de tamaño normal e hipoplásico.

 Implementación de la RMC para optimizar la calidad de imagen: ¿Se puede mejorar alguna secuencia de imagen de RMC que permita mejorar la caracterización anatómica?

Se planteó la mejora de la secuencia 3D bSSFP que permite la visualización de la anatomía en 3D, utilizando para su valoración la visualización de las arterias coronarias, pues son las estructuras anatómicas más pequeñas del corazón.

3. Aplicación Clínica: Uso de la imagen de RMC para creación de modelos 3D en intervencionismo estructural. ¿Se puede trasladar la imagen de RMC a un modelo físico impreso en 3D que mejore la planificación del cateterismo cardiaco? Se evaluó la secuencia previamente desarrollada (iNAV) para la impresión de un modelo físico tridimensional que permita planificar la intervención del cateterismo cardíaco en pacientes con fístulas coronarias.

4. Aplicación Docente: Uso de la imagen de RMC para creación de modelos 3D en educación médica. ¿La utilización de modelos 3D mejora la comprensión y aprendizaje de las cardiopatías congénitas?

Debido al acceso limitado a especímenes para la docencia y la naturaleza única de la anatomía de cada paciente, se creará una biblioteca de acceso internacional a nivel Europeo para el aprendizaje del personal sanitario en distintos centros sobre cardiopatías de alta complejidad

### 3.1 Objetivos: esquema

 Análisis mediante imagen 3D de los músculos papilares de pacientes con ventrículo izquierdo borderline. Comparación con pacientes con ventrículo izquierdo de tamaño normal e hipoplásico.

2) Mejora de la calidad de la imagen 3D adquirida en RMC en pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas: investigar el uso de iNAV CRUISE para la adquisición del 3D bSSFP, así como la comparación de esta técnica con dNAV en pacientes pediátricos con cardiopatías congénitas o estructurales.

3) Creación de modelos 3D para el cierre de fístulas coronarias por cateterismo cardíaco4) Creación de una biblioteca de modelos 3D con fines educativos a través de la AEPC

(Association for European Paediatric and Congenital Cardiology)

#### 3.2 Metodología

La metodología de cada apartado ha sido publicada de forma independiente en revistas internacionales (67, 72, 91, 92). En este apartado, se explican los métodos usados en cada estudio de manera independiente, siguiendo el hilo conductor comentado en el apartado anterior.

# 3.2.1 Análisis morfológico tridimensional de los músculos papilares en pacientes con ventrículo izquierdo borderline

Diseñamos un estudio observacional, retrospectivo, con pacientes de un único centro. Antes de comenzar el estudio se llevó a cabo una revisión institucional interna sobre la metodología del estudio. Al tratarse de un estudio retrospectivo incluyendo imágenes adquiridas con fines clínicos, se consideró innecesaria la aprobación por parte del Comité Ético Nacional.

La resonancia magnética cardíaca se utiliza en una amplia variedad de pacientes para evaluar la anatomía y la función del corazón y de los grandes vasos. Todos los estudios de RMC incluidos se realizaron en un escáner con un campo magnético de 1.5 Teslas (T), manufacturado por Philips (Achieva, Philips Healthcare, Best, Países Bajos). Se utilizó anestesia general en pacientes con indicación clínica para el uso de la misma, en función de la edad y/o su cooperación.

Antes de someterse a la cirugía y durante su seguimiento, siguiendo el protocolo institucional en el Evelina Children's Hospital, se realizó una RMC en los pacientes con ventrículos izquierdos borderline. Durante la RMC, se llevaron a cabo una selección de secuencias de cine en eje corto y secuencias tridimensionales englobando el conjunto del

corazón y los grandes vasos (3D bSSFP), (93) (94). Estas secuencias fueron utilizadas para evaluar las siguientes características:

- Ratio entre la longitud de los músculos papilares y la longitud del ventrículo izquierdo (longitud del músculo papilar/longitud del VI)
- Ángulo entre ambos músculos papilares
- Número de grupos y posición de los músculos papilares
- Características de su inserción en la pared del ventrículo izquierdo

El 3D bSSFP se adquirió englobando el corazón completo del paciente, con orientación sagital, con los siguientes parámetros: tiempo de repetición (ms) / tiempo de eco (ms), 3,4/1,7; ángulo de inclinación o flip angle, 70°; número de cortes, 60-120; resolución isotrópica, 1–1,5 mm3; ventana de adquisición, 60–75 ms.

Los cines en eje corto se adquirieron utilizando una secuencia estándar, con adquisición retrospectiva, bidimensional, con precesión libre en estado estacionario. Los parámetros utilizados para la secuencia fueron los siguientes: tiempo de repetición / tiempo de eco: 3.0ms / 1.5ms, ángulo de inclinación o flip angle: 60°, promedio de 30 fases por latido cardíaco, campo de visión 280–400 mm, tamaño de matriz 172–196 mm, espesor del corte 6–10 mm, sin espacio adicional entre cortes, sensibilidad de codificación para submuestreo espacial (factor 2), 12-16 cortes para cubrir los ventrículos desde el ápex hasta la base, tomados con el paciente en apnea (entre 6-8 apneas necesarias para la adquisición).

Los pacientes se dividieron en varios grupos en base a las características mencionadas anteriormente:

 El ratio de longitud de los músculos papilares en relación al VI fue analizado en cada paciente utilizando la secuencia 3D bSSFP. Esta secuencia se importó en el software Osirix, se utilizó un formato multiplanar para obtener una visión cardíaca en cuatro cámaras que permitiera la medida de la longitud del ventrículo izquierdo desde el anillo mitral hasta el ápex ventricular. La longitud de los músculos papilares fue estimada de forma paralela al eje longitudinal del ventrículo izquierdo en la posición de cuatro cámaras mencionada anteriormente (Figura 13).



*Figura 13.* La longitud de los músculos papilares se estimó utilizando una reconstrucción multiplanar en cuatro cámaras de forma paralela al eje longitudinal del ventrículo izquierdo.

- Inserción estrecha o ancha de los músculos papilares en función de la fijación a la pared ventricular de los vientres musculares según el siguiente criterio (Figura 14):
  - Pacientes con inserción estrecha: aquellos con un solo vientre muscular o aquellos en los que los vientres musculares que forman el músculo papilar se insertan en proximidad unos de otros.
  - b. Pacientes con inserción de base ancha: aquellos en los que los vientres musculares que forman el músculo papilar se insertan separados entre sí.



*Figura* **14.** (*a*) Inserción estrecha de los vientres del soporte muscular supero-lateral(\*) en un paciente con ventrículo izquierdo (VI) de tamaño normal. (*b*) Inserción ancha de los vientres del soporte muscular supero-lateral ( $\star$ ) en un paciente con ventrículo izquierdo borderline.

3) En pacientes con inserción discreta de los músculos papilares, se midió el ángulo entre el soporte infero-medial y el supero-lateral. Para realizar la medición, se tomó como referencia el punto central de ambos grupos musculares, y se dibujó una línea entre el punto de referencia tomado y el centro del ventrículo izquierdo (Figura 15).



*Figura 15.* Para realizar la medición, se tomó como referencia el punto central de ambos grupos musculares, y se dibujó una línea entre el punto de referencia tomado y el centro del ventrículo izquierdo.

4) Tamaño ventricular según el valor del volumen indexado por superficie corporal

- se dividió a los pacientes en tres subgrupos (95, 96):

- a. Ventrículo izquierdo de tamaño normal
- b. Ventrículo izquierdo de tamaño bordeline
- c. Ventrículo izquierdo hipoplásico: volumen diastólico ≤13 ml/m² ó ≤20 ml/m² + características que imposibilitan la reparación quirúrgica ventricular (atresia mitral, hipoplasia mitral severa, atresia aórtica con septo interventricular íntegro)

Algunos de los pacientes con ventrículo izquierdo de tamaño bordeline tuvieron como primer paso quirúrgico un procedimiento híbrido con banding de ambas ramas pulmonares y colocación de un stent a nivel del ductus arterioso. El análisis estadístico se realizó con SPSS software (versión 19, 2010; SPSS, Chicago, Illinois, Estados Unidos de América). El análisis de la de varianza (ANOVA) fue utilizado para comparar el ratio de la longitud de los músculos papilares, la edad y ángulo entre los músculos papilares. Se aplicó la corrección de Bonferroni para pruebas post hoc. El número de músculos papilares y las características de su inserción se analizaron utilizando la prueba exacta de Fisher. La diferencia en la inserción de los músculos papilares entre grupos se analizó mediante una prueba de Kruskal-Wallis.

# 3.2.2 Mejora de la calidad de la imagen 3D adquirida en RMC en pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas

La secuencia 3D steady-state free precession se utiliza con frecuencia en pacientes pediátricos con cardiopatías congénitas para evaluar la morfología cardíaca y valorar la presencia de patología estructural (93, 97). Sin embargo, para su adquisición es necesario mitigar el artefacto creado por el movimiento de la caja torácica durante la respiración, haciendo el tiempo de escaneado bastante extenso y en ocasiones dificil de tolerar por los pacientes en edad pediátrica (98). Para evitar el artefacto creado por la respiración natural del paciente, generalmente se utiliza un navegador respiratorio unidimensional, que se coloca en el lado derecho del diafragma. El navegador diafragmático (dNAV: "diaphragmatic navigation") se utiliza para programar la adquisición de la secuencia sólo cuando el diafragma se encuentra en una determinada posición durante el ciclo respiratorio del paciente (99). Recientemente, se han descrito técnicas de compensación del movimiento respiratorio avanzadas para mejorar la calidad y/o reducir el tiempo de escaneado durante la adquisición del 3D bSSFP (100-102). Estas técnicas normalmente rastrean el movimiento directamente del corazón durante la respiración, en vez de el realizado por el diafragma.

La medida directa del movimiento del corazón se ha conseguido a través del uso del *self-navigation*, en el que la información del navegador se extrae de la secuencia, o a través de la navegación basada en imagen (iNAV: image-based navigation), en la que un navegador 2D o 3D explora el movimiento del corazón durante la adquisición de la secuencia (103, 104).

En un estudio reciente llevado a cabo en pacientes adultos, la navegación basada en el rastreo del corazón o iNAV se consideró de mejor calidad que la conseguida con dNAV

(102). Sin embargo, la adquisición de la imagen se basaba en la utilización de una señal respiratoria externa al corazón para mitigar el artefacto creado por la respiración del paciente. En otro estudio, se ha implementado la técnica mediante el uso del Constant Respiratory Using Single End-expiratory Thresholding (CRUISE), que permite una eficacia de adquisición exacta sin necesidad de dicha señalización externa para reducir el artefacto respiratorio (103, 104).

En este estudio, se incluyeron pacientes de forma prospectiva entre Marzo y Octubre de 2016, tras aprobación por el Comité de Ética Nacional en Reino Unido (IRB: 10/H0802/65). Todos los participantes aportaron consentimiento informado por escrito. Se incluyeron pacientes pediátricos con cardiopatía congénita o estructural a los que se les había solicitado una resonancia cardíaca por indicación clínica. Se excluyeron aquellos pacientes con inestabilidad clínica u hospitalizados en cuidados intensivos para evitar un incremento en el tiempo de anestesia general.

#### Protocolo de Resonancia Cardíaca:

Todos los estudios de resonancia se realizaron en un escáner de 1.5T (Achieva, Philips Healthcare, Best, The Netherlands), con un coil de 5 canales. El número y tipo de secuencias ejecutados en cada paciente fueron adaptados en cada caso en función de la indicación clínica para la realización de resonancia. En general, se incluyeron secuencias de cine, adquisición de flujos, secuencias sangre negra, angiografía y 3D bSSFP. En los casos en los que se realizó angiografía, se utilizó la forma comercial de contraste Dotarem® (Gadoterate meglumine; concentración: 0.5 mmol/ml de Gadolinio; dosis: 0.2 mmol/kg) o Gadovist® (gadobutrol, concentración: 1.0 mmol/ml; dosis: 0.1 mmol/kg). En estos casos, el 3D bSSFP se adquirió justo después de la angiografía utilizando iNAV

y dNAV en orden aleatorio. Se utilizó anestesia general en función de la necesidad clínica en cada paciente.

Los parámetros de adquisición del 3D bSSFP fueron los siguientes: field-of-view =  $250-300 \times 60-100 \text{ mm}^3$ , tamaño del voxel =  $1.3 \times 1.3 \times 1.3 \text{ mm}^3$ , tiempo de repetición/tiempo de eco = 3.9/1.95 ms, ángulo flip =  $70^\circ$ , factor de aceleración de imagen paralela = 2. Se utilizó electrocardiografía cardíaca (ECG) para minimizar el artefacto de movimiento creado por la contracción del músculo cardíaco. Para cada paciente se calculó el tiempo máximo de contracción y relajación isovolumétrica del corazón, utilizando el tiempo isovolumétrico más largo para la adquisición de la secuencia.

Para mejorar el contraste de la secuencia se utilizaron pulsos T2 prep (tiempo de eco=35 ms) y supresión grasa. Para cada paciente, se anotó el tiempo de adquisición para iNAV y dNAV.

Para la adquisición de dNAV se utilizó un factor de rastreo de 0.6. El tamaño del navegador se adaptó al peso del paciente siguiendo nuestro protocolo institucional (3 mm si peso menor de 20 kg, 5 mm si peso entre 20 y 40 kg y 7 mm si mayor de 40 kg).

#### Adquisición usando iNAV:

La adquisición mediante iNAV se realizó mediante el uso de gradientes de codificación de fase, con 10 startup ecos en la secuencia bSSFP (103). Se programó la región de interés recogiendo los márgenes del corazón en dirección lateral e inferosuperior. Se ajustó la geometría del shim box según la anatomía de cada paciente. Definimos la referencia para iNAV usando el primer navegador del registro. La corrección traslacional se aplicó al espacio K modulando su fase. Implementamos la compensación respiratoria utilizando el sistema CRUISE (105). De forma resumida, este método utiliza el doble de datos necesarios para llenar el espacio K de la resonancia, con una eficiencia exacta del 50%.

Para reconstruir la imagen, sólo se utilizó la mitad adquirida al final de la fase espiratoria. Tanto la compensación con CRUISE como la corrección con iNAV se llevaron a cabo en tiempo real durante la adquisición, sin necesidad de post-procesado de la imagen.

#### Análisis de las imágenes:

En todos los casos, las imágenes adquiridas se reformatearon para visualizar la arteria coronaria derecha (ACD), arteria coronaria izquierda (ACI), descendente anterior (ADA) y circunfleja (ACx). Las imágenes se analizaron de forma cuantitativa y cualitativa valorando en cada una las siguientes características:

- 1) calidad de la imagen
- 2) nitidez
- 3) identificación del origen de las arterias coronarias
- 4) longitud visible de las arterias coronarias (análisis cuantitativo y cualitativo)

El análisis cualitativo de las imágenes se realizó usando un score para imágenes de resonancia previamente descrito (106):

- 1 visualización pobre de la anatomía cardíaca
- 2 anatomía visible pero marcadamente borrosa
- 3 visible pero moderadamente borrosa
- 4 levemente borrosa
- 5 bordes nítidos y bien delimitados

Dos observadores, con 3 y 10 años de experiencia en análisis de imágenes de resonancia, realizaron el análisis cualitativo en las imágenes obtenidas con iNAV y dNAV en todos los pacientes. Se calculó la nitidez de los vasos en los primeros 4 centímetros en todas las

arterias coronarias en forma de porcentaje (0% = sin borde definido, 100%= con borde nítido) utilizando un software para su análisis (107). Ambos observadores realizaron el análisis de forma ciega con respecto a la secuencia (dNav vs iNav). Se comparó además la nitidez de los vasos entre pacientes que habían sido escaneados bajo anestesia general y pacientes despiertos. Se analizó también el subgrupo de pacientes que recibió contraste intravenoso frente al grupo en el que no se utilizó.

Para cada paciente, se describió la visibilidad tanto del origen como del curso proximal de las arterias coronarias estudiando la imagen en múltiples planos. Consideramos satisfactoria la visualización proximal cuando se describió el origen de ambas arterias coronarias. La visualización distal se comprobó para cada arteria coronaria tal y como se indica en la figura 16: para la ACD y la ACx, la visualización se consideró satisfactoria cuando el curso de la arteria se observó hasta el nivel de apertura de las válvulas aurículoventriculares; para la ADA, seguimos el curso hasta el mismo punto de visualización de la de arteria circumfleja. La longitud visible de cada arteria también se analizó de forma cuantitativa (98).



*Figura 16. Análisis del origen y curso medio de la arteria coronaria derecha (imagen superior) e izquierda (imagen inferior). A) Origen de la coronaria derecha (flecha) y curso proximal. B) Visualización del curso* 

medio de la ACD en el mismo paciente. C) Origen (flecha) y curso proximal de la ACI. D) Curso medio de la ADA y la ACx (flechas) en el mismo paciente.

#### Análisis estadístico:

El análisis estadístico se realizó a través de MATLAB (The Mathworks Inc., Natick, USA) statistics tool box y SPSS (v 20.0). Para valorar la significación estadística en las variables continuas como la nitidez y el tiempo de escaneado, se realizó el test de la T de student con dos colas. Las variables continuas se presentan usando la media y la desviación estándar. La visualización proximal y distal de las arterias coronarias se hizo a través de la prueba de proporciones utilizando la suma de las visualizaciones llevadas a cabo por los dos observadores previamente mencionados. Para la variable categórica (score visual), realizamos el test de Wilcoxon para valorar el nivel de significación estadística. Las variables categóricas se han representado en forma de mediana, percentil 25 y 75. Se consideró significativo un valor p menor de 0.05.
# 3.2.3 De la imagen tridimensional a los modelos 3D: Creación de modelos para el cierre de fístulas coronarias por cateterismo cardíaco

Las fístulas coronarias son comunicaciones de una arteria coronaria con alguna de las cavidades cardíacas o con alguno de los vasos situados alrededor del corazón. Constituyen la anomalía coronaria congénita más frecuente. Suelen tener un calibre pequeño y carecen de significación clínica, pero en algunos pacientes pueden llegar a producir un cortocircuito de izquierda a derecha del corazón con repercusión hemodinámica y dilatación de cavidades. En los adultos suele ser un hallazgo casual durante una coronariografía. En la actualidad se indica su cierre percutáneo una vez diagnosticadas, reservando el cierre quirúrgico para las fístulas múltiples o de gran tamaño (108). Sin embargo, las fístulas coronarias representan uno de los defectos más difíciles de definir con precisión a nivel anatómico. En este estudio, investigamos el beneficio adicional conferido por la representación de un volumen tridimensional de las imágenes de TAC y la impresión 3D para el diagnóstico y la planificación intervencionista para la corrección de esta patología (67). Con el fin de evaluar la utilidad de la nueva secuencia iNAV desarrollada en esta tesis, también se incluyó un paciente con un modelo 3D impreso a partir de imágenes de RM iNAV.

## Pacientes incluidos e imágenes obtenidas:

Tres adultos con fistulas coronarias complejas fueron remitidos al St Thomas' Hospital para obtener una segunda opinión desde otros hospitales a nivel nacional e internacional. Un cuarto caso, un niño de 2 años de edad, enviado a la consulta de cardiología infantil por un soplo, fue diagnosticado de forma incidental al realizar una ecografía encontrándose el paciente asintomático. Las imágenes del TAC de todos los pacientes se enviaron a nuestro centro (Figuras 17-20). El caso pediátrico local se evaluó usando ecocardiografía transtorácica y RMC siguiendo el protocol institucional (Figura 20). Todos los datos de las imágenes fueron analizados por nuestro equipo y se solicitó un modelo 3D para cada caso. Las características y diagnóstico de los pacientes se resumen en la tabla 1.

Paciente	Modalidad de imagen	Coronaria afectada	Punto de Drenaje
1	angioTAC	ACD	VI
2	angioTAC	ACD y ACI	SC
3	angioTAC	ACI	SC y orejuela izq
4	RMC – 3D bSSFP	ACI	Unión AD - VCS

**Tabla 1.** Diagnóstico, modalidad de imagen, arteria coronaria afectada y lugar de drenaje de la fistula coronaria para cada paciente. AD= aurícula derecha. ACD= arteria coronaria derecha. ACI= arteria coronaria izquierda. RMC= resonancia magnética cardíaca. SC= seno coronario. TAC= Tomografía axial computerizada. VCS= vena cava superior.



**Figura 17.** Paciente 1. Fístula coronaria de la arteria coronaria derecha drenando en el ventrículo izquierdo (imágenes de TAC). A) Origen de la arteria coronaria derecha (\*), nótese la dilatación del vaso. B&C) Drenaje de la fístula en el VI (flecha), imagen axial y coronal. D) Reconstrucción 3D de la fístula.



**Figura 18.** Paciente 2. Tanto la arteria coronaria derecha como la izquierda se encuentran afectadas. A, B, D) Origen y curso de la arteria coronaria izquierda (\*) y derecha (flecha negra) mostrada en cortes coronales. C) Vista axial de la arteria coronaria izquierda (\*).



**Figura 19.** Paciente 3. Fístula coronaria compleja con dos aneurismas. A) Origen de la fistula  $(\bigstar)$ , vista coronal. B) Gran saco aneurismático  $(\ast)$ , vista axial (nótese la calcificación). C) Drenaje de la fistula al seno coronario  $(\bigstar)$ , nótese la compresión del gran saco aneurismático  $(\ast)$  hacia el punto de drenaje, corte sagital. D) Reconstrucción 3D de la fistula mostrando el gran saco aneurismático  $(\ast)$  y drenaje en la aurícula izquieda (flecha negra), aneurisma secundario en el curso de la fístula (flecha blanca). Ao= aorta, CS= seno coronario, LA= aurícula izquierda, LV= ventrículo izquierdo, PA= arteria pulmonar, RV= ventrículo derecho.



**Figura 20.** Paciente 4. Fístula coronaria de la arteria coronaria izquierda. A) Ecografía transtorácica mostrando el curso de la fístula coronaria alrededor de la raíz aórtica (\*). B) Drenaje de la fistula en la aurícula derecha (nótese la presencia de dos puntos de drenaje, flechas blancas). C) Eco 3D mostrando el curso de la fistula (flecha negra). D) Origen de la fistula (flecha negra), curso (flecha blanca) y drenaje (\*) en un corte axial de la secuencia 3D-bSSFP

## Segmentación de las imágenes:

La anatomía cardiovascular de interés se segmentó a partir de las imágenes de TAC y 3D bSSFP utilizando el software Mimics Medical (versión 18.0, Materialise NV, Lovaina, Bélgica). Dependiendo del curso de la fístula, se incluyeron todas las estructuras en relación a la misma, el recorrido de las arterias coronarias afectadas y, la zona de drenaje de la fístula. Se utilizaron las herramientas de "thresholding", recorte y "region growing" para aislar la región anatómica de interés, segmentando el borde sanguíneo alrededor del endocardio y el endotelio vascular de los grandes vasos y retorno venoso. Posteriormente, se utilizó la herramienta de edición manual para perfeccionar la segmentación y conseguir

una réplica exacta de la anatomía del paciente. La segmentación requirió aproximadamente 3 horas para cada caso.

#### Diseño asistido por ordenador:

La geometría 3D se exportó a 3-Matic Medical (versión 10.0, Materialise NV, Lovaina, Bélgica). Se introdujo un espesor de manera uniforme en todos los modelos de 2 mm de forma externa a la superficie segmentada. En los casos adultos, la porción apical del ventrículo izquierdo se recortó utilizando un plano de eje corto, de forma perpendicular al eje axial ventricular, 1 ó 2 cm por debajo del anillo de la válvula mitral. En uno de los casos, se utilizó un plano axial para abrir la aurícula derecha. Estas operaciones permitieron visualizar el origen y drenaje de la fístula en todos los casos.

Se cortaron los vasos en su extremo distal. Se creó un modelo hueco en su interior para mostrar la anatomía. La geometría se exportó en formato de archivo de estereolitografía (STL), el cual se volvió a importar al software Mimics, lo que permitió al cardiólogo responsable del caso verificar la segmentación realizada para el modelo frente a las imágenes tomográficas o de RMC originales antes de proceder a la impresión.

#### Técnica de impresión:

Los archivos STL aceptados se enviaron a la impresora (Objet500 Connex1, Stratasys) para su impresión utilizando técnicas aditivas. Esta impresora utiliza la tecnología polyjet, creando capas de un fotopolímero de resina líquida, que posteriormente se solidifican bajo luz ultravioleta. Los modelos fueron impresos en material TangoPlus FullCure930. Este material flexible permite simular la intervención, proporcionando un modelo hueco. El pdf con la réplica de la anatomía en 3D y los modelos creados para los cuatro pacientes se presentan en la figura 21 (67).



**Figura 21**. Reconstrucción obtenida con software de diseño asistido por ordenador y modelo 3D para el paciente 1 (A & B), 2 (C & D), 3 (E & F), 4 (G & H) (67).

Para el caso pediátrico, se fabricó un segundo modelo en poliuretano termoplástico mediante modelado por deposición fundida (impresora BQ Witbox, espesor de pared = 0,8 mm). Este segundo modelo se imprimió debido a una de las limitaciones del sistema polyjet que necesita la impresión de material de soporte en el interior del modelo hueco para garantizar una reproducción exacta de las estructuras cardíacas. El material de soporte se elimina después de la impresión. A pesar de agregar una pared de espesor uniforme (2 mm) a la geometría STL, el material Tango Plus puede resultar frágil al presionar para eliminar el soporte. El curso de la fístula en el caso pediátrico se encontraba ubicado entre la aurícula izquierda y la raíz aórtica. El hecho de estar entre dos estructuras cardíacas junto a la esponjosidad del material Tango Plus, predispone a la rotura del modelo al manipularlo para realizar el cateterismo en casos como este (figura 22).



**Figura 22.** Comparación entre dos modelos de distinto material creados para el paciente número cuatro. A&C) Poliuretano. B&D) Tango plus (vista anterior y posterior del modelo respectivamente).

Los detalles del diseño y características de impresión de los modelos se resumen en la tabla 2.

Modelo	Material	Tecnología de impresión	Espesor de la pared (mm)
1	Tango Plus	Polyjet	2
2	Tango Plus	Polyjet	2
3	Tango Plus	Polyjet	2
<b>4</b> A	Tango Plus	Polyjet	2
<b>4</b> B	Poliuretano termoplástico	Modelado por deposición fundida	0.8

Tabla 2. Resumen del diseño y características de impresión de los modelos.

#### Revisión del diagnóstico

Las tres formas de análisis de la imagen (datos originales de TAC o RMC, reconstrucción tridimensional y modelo 3D) fueron revisados de forma incremental para analizar su contribución a la comprensión de la anatomía en tres pasos:

- Paso 1: dos cardiólogos con más de 5 años de experiencia en TAC y RMC en pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas revisaron las imágenes de forma independiente. Las imágenes originales fueron analizadas y cada experto elaboraró un informe de diagnóstico, indicando el origen, curso y drenaje de la fístula.
- Paso 2: Se reconstruyó una imagen en 3D y se mostró a los mismos especialistas del paso 1. Se revisó el diagnóstico proporcionado en el paso anterior.
- Paso 3: Los modelos 3D se presentaron a los especialistas y en la reunión multidisciplinar en la que se revisan los casos clínicos para obtener la opinión de los cardiólogos intervencionistas.

En los casos en los que se procedió al cierre por cateterismo cardíaco, el modelo se llevó al quirófano donde se realiza el procedimiento. Se analizó el valor de cada uno de los pasos anteriores para llegar al diagnóstico de los pacientes incluidos.

#### 3.2.4 Creación de modelos para la educación del personal médico

Los modelos 3D pueden servir para mejorar la comprensión de las relaciones espaciales existentes entre las diferentes estructuras cardiovasculares en cardiopatías complejas. Se han utilizado para el aprendizaje en el ámbito de la medicina en distintas disciplinas. Biglino y sus colaboradores utilizaron los modelos 3D para la enseñanza en un curso para personal de enfermería, en el que se presentaban un amplio espectro de cardiopatías congénitas (109). En su estudio, cien enfermeras tuvieron la oportunidad de manipular los modelos 3D de un corazón normal, un corazón tras la realización de un switch arterial en un paciente con trasposición de grandes vasos, un paciente con coartación de aorta, Tetralogía de Fallot, atresia pulmonar con septo íntegro, y los tres estadíos de paliación para el síndrome de hipoplasia de cavidades izquierdas (Norwood, Glenn y Fontan). Este estudio concluyó que los modelos 3D ayudaban a distinguir la anatomía; sin embargo, en el cuestionario entregado las enfermeras mencionaron que el uso de colores y etiquetas para señalar determinadas partes de la anatomía ayudaría a mejorar su entendimiento para el aprendizaje.

Otros estudios han orientado la sesión de una forma distinta, con un tutor o supervisor con experiencia en modelos 3D explicando la clase, como es el caso de un estudio reciente en el que se planteaba el aprendizaje con modelos sobre la Tetralogía de Fallot (110). Los modelos también han servido en la enseñanza de médicos residentes de cirugía cardíaca. En el estudio llevado a cabo por Yoo y sus colaboradores (111), 81 cirujanos o residentes de cirugía cardíaca, realizaron la simulación de cirugías cardíacas durante varias sesiones del curso. De la misma manera, este tipo de aprendizaje por simulación se ha utilizado para procedimientos intervencionistas (112) (113). Este tipo de seminarios con modelos se han vuelto populares entre los residentes de pediatría, por ejemplo, para

la descripción de los distintos tipos de comunicaciones interventriculares (114). Otro estudió demostró los beneficios de su uso para la comprensión de los anillos vasculares por parte de médicos residentes y fellows (115). A pesar de que los resultados sobre la mejora en el conocimiento cuando se añaden modelos 3D en la docencia frente al uso exclusivo de imágenes diagnósticas son controvertidos (109-111), en general los participantes en dichos seminarios expresan una actitud positiva y entusiasta con respecto a su empleo (110).

La obtención de la beca de la AEPC (Association for European Paediatric and Congenital Cardiology) por parte del equipo formado por miembros de la unidad de Cardiología Infantil del Hospital Virgen del Rocío, Evelina London Children's Hospital y el Hospital de Leyden, nos permitió la planificación de un proyecto europeo en común.

Este proyecto consistió en el diseño de una biblioteca virtual con acceso a imágenes convencionales para pacientes con cardiopatías complejas para los miembros de la AEPC. Junto a las imágenes convencionales de TAC o RM, se facilitó el documento STL que permite imprimir el modelo para una determinada patología.

Para cada caso elegido, la prueba de imagen (TAC o resonancia cardíaca) realizada fue exportada para su segmentación utilizando el software Mimics v18.0 o ITK-snap. Una vez elaborado el 3D-Mesh, éste fue enviado a 3-matic para proceder con las técnicas de diseño computacional que permitieron añadir un determinado grosor a la pared del modelo, eliminar el material interior y hacer cortes en el modelo para demostrar mejor la anatomía interior. En la página web facilitamos el documento STL junto a la los pdf creados a partir del software Mimics® que permiten imprimir los modelos de las patologías seleccionadas.

# Capítulo 4. Resultados

A continuación, se detallan los resultados obtenidos en cada subapartado de los estudios incluidos en la tesis, comenzando por el análisis de los músculos papilares en pacientes con ventrículo izquierdo boderline o hipoplásico a nivel tridimensional, la mejora de la calidad de la imagen obtenida para la representación en tres dimensiones, continuando con la creación de modelos 3D para la planificación de intervenciones en cardiopatías complejas como las fístulas coronarias y la creación de una biblioteca para el aprendizaje de médicos residentes y personal sanitario a nivel europeo.

# 4.1 Análisis morfológico tridimensional de los músculos papilares en pacientes con ventrículo izquierdo borderline

#### Pacientes incluidos en el estudio:

Se incluyeron un total de 30 pacientes escaneados con RMC con ventrículo izquierdo de tamaño normal, 22 con ventrículo izquierdo borderline y 13 con VI hipoplásico. La edad media de los pacientes fue de 5,36 años (rango de 1 mes a 20 años), 26 fueron niñas y 39 varones.

#### Diagnóstico:

Entre los pacientes con ventrículos izquierdos de tamaño normal, en cinco de ellos el diagnóstico principal fue patología valvular leve o estenosis leve de la arteria pulmonar, 18 tenían una cardiopatía congénita reparada sin lesiones del lado izquierdo con tamaño biventricular normal, cinco fueron remitidos para screening familiar y la RMC fue informada como normal.

Los pacientes con ventrículo izquierdo borderline formaron un grupo heterogéneo constituido por casos con obstrucción del lado cardíaco izquierdo a diferentes niveles. Entre los pacientes con síndrome de corazón izquierdo hipoplásico, tres de ellos tenían atresia aórtica, uno de ellos con estenosis mitral asociada; cinco pacientes presentaron una comunicación interventricular como característica asociada.

Las características diagnósticas del grupo de pacientes con ventrículo izquierdo hipoplásico han sido resumidas en la Tabla 3.

Diagnóstico	Número de pacientes	Otras asociaciones
Hipoplasia del arco aórtico	5	2 VDDS (1 de ellos con
		atresia mitral + isomerismo
		auricular izquierdo + seno
		coronario sin techo)
Atresia aórtica	3	1 CIV
CIV	2	1 Válvula Aórtica Bicúspide
		+ hipoplasia del arco aórtico
SHVI	3	1 Válvula Aórtica Bicúspide
		+ hipoplasia del arco aórtico

Tabla 3. Rasgos frecuentes asociados al síndrome de hipoplasia del ventrículo izquierdo (SHVI).CIV= comunicación interventricular, SHVI= síndrome de hipoplasia del ventrículo izquierdo,VDDS= ventrículo derecho de doble salida.

# Músculos papilares principales: número y tendencia a dividirse

Encontramos una diferencia significativa en el número de grupos musculares principales entre los tres subgrupos (Figura 23) (prueba exacta de Fisher, p <0,001). Todos los pacientes incluidos en el grupo de tamaño normal presentaron dos grupos musculares principales independientes; sin embargo, cuatro (18%) con VI borderline y seis (46%) con ventrículo izquierdo hipoplásico presentaron un único músculo papilar (Tabla 4). Curiosamente, el soporte superolateral fue el músculo ausente en el 90% de pacientes con un solo músculo papilar.

La división de los músculos papilares en varios vientres fue también un hallazgo frecuente, encontrándose una tendencia a la división en 2-4 vientres en cada músculo principal. El número de vientres observado en cada soporte ha sido resumido en la Tabla 4. En pacientes con ventrículo izquierdo de tamaño normal, se describieron entre 1 - 3 vientres en el soporte inferomedial, siendo 2 la moda en este grupo. En pacientes con VI borderline, el número de vientres varió entre  $1 - 4 \pmod{1}$ , y en el SHCI el número de vientres observado en cada soporte en la Tabla 5. En pacientes con VI borderline, el número de vientres varió entre  $1 - 4 \pmod{1}$ , y en el SHCI el número de vientres observado en el soporte inferomedial fue de  $1 - 2 \pmod{1}$ . Hallamos una diferencia significativa en cuanto al número de vientres en los distintos grupos usando el test de Kruskal–Wallis, p=0.023).

Con respecto al soporte superolateral, este grupo muscular estuvo normalmente compuesto por 1-3 vientres en pacientes con VI de tamaño normal y borderline (moda= 1). En casos de VI hipoplásico, este soporte presentó en todos los casos un único vientre. No hubo diferencia significativa entre grupos (test de Kruskal–Wallis, p=0.211).

Por otro lado, se encontró una diferencia estadísticamente significativa entre el número de vientres existentes en el músculo papilar inferomedial (moda= 2) en relación al superolateral (moda= 1; p=0.013 – test de Wilcoxon).

	Nº pacientes con músculo papilar único		
Grupo	Posición	Posición	% pacientes (en cada
	superolateral	inferomedial	grupo)
Normal	0	0	0
Borderline	0	4	18
SHVI	1	5	46

Tabla 4. Número de pacientes con músculo papilar único y posición del mismo.



**Figura 23.** Distribución de los músculos papilares en función del tamaño ventricular. (a) Patrón más frecuente de organización de los músculos papilares en ventrículo izquierdo (VI) de tamaño normal: \*\* soporte inferomedial con dos vientres;  $\star$  soporte superolateral con sólo un vientre. (b) Ventrículo izquierdo de tamaño normal con varios vientres en ambos soportes musculares ( $\star$  soporte superolateral con dos vientres, \*\*\* soporte inferomedial con tres vientres). (c) Músculo papilar único en posición inferomedial en paciente con VI borderline (\*). (d) Músculos papilares formados por un único vientre en paciente con hipoplasia de cavidades izquierdas en posición inferomedial (\*) y superolateral ( $\star$ ).

# Inserción de los pedículos musculares

La inserción pedicular fue descrita como de base ancha o base estrecha para los dos músculos papilares. Todos los pacientes (30) con ventrículo izquierdo de tamaño normal presentaron una base de inserción estrecha con pedículos musculares fusionados. En VI borderline e hipoplásicos el soporte muscular inferomedial mostró una inserción de base ancha en un 17 y un 8% de los casos respectivamente. Se encontró diferencia significativa al comparar la inserción en el soporte inferomedial entre los tres grupos (test de Fisher, p=0.023).

El músculo superolateral presentó una base ancha en un 10% de los casos en los pacientes con VI borderline. Sin embargo, en todos los casos de VI de tamaño normal o hipoplásico, la inserción de este soporte fue estrecha. No hubo diferencia significativa utilizando el test de Fisher para comparar las características de la base de este soporte muscular entre los tres grupos (p=0.211).

#### Ratio longitud de los músculos papilares/longitud del VI

El ratio medio correspondiente al soporte muscular superolateral varió de forma significativa entre los distintos grupos de pacientes (borderline:  $0.39\pm0.07$ ; hipoplásico:  $0.36\pm0.1$ ; normal:  $0.46\pm0.08$ ; análisis de la varianza, p=0.009). La prueba de Bonferroni mostró diferencia significativa al comparar el grupo constituido por pacientes con VI hipoplásico versus VI normal (p=0.035) y borderline versus normal (p=0.044). Sin embargo, al comparar el ratio medio correspondiente al soporte inferomedial, no se encontró diferencia significativa entre grupos (radio medio  $0.42\pm0.09$  en pacientes con VI normal,  $0.38\pm0.07$  en borderline, y  $0.39\pm0.22$  en VI hipoplásico; análisis de la varianza, p=0.39).

# Ángulo entre músculos papilares

El ángulo entre ambos soportes musculares fue similar entre los distintos grupos de pacientes (ángulo medio 113°±17° en VI normal, 111°±51° en borderline y 114°±57° en VI hipoplásico; análisis de la varianza, p=0.99). A pesar de no haber significación estadística, resulta llamativa la diferencia en la varianza entre los distintos grupos, siendo mucho más elevada en pacientes con VI hipoplásico y borderline en relación a los pacientes con VI normal.

# Reparación quirúrgica univentricular vs biventricular en pacientes con VI borderline

Los pacientes con VI borderline fueron analizados en función del tipo de reparación realizada. Comparamos la edad, el ratio longitudinal entre músculos papilares y ventrículo izquierdo, el ángulo entre los soportes musculares, el tipo de inserción y los volúmenes telediastólico y telesístolicos para ambos subgrupos. No encontramos diferencia significativa para ninguna de las características analizadas.

# 4.2 Visualización de la anatomía cardíaca mediante el uso de iNav (image-based navigation)

En el estudio de navegación basada en imagen para la mejora de la visualización de la anatomía cardíaca, se reclutaron 40 pacientes (27 niños, 13 niñas; mediana de peso: 44 kg, rango: 4-80 kg; mediana de edad: 12'6 años, rango: 3 meses-17 años). El diagnóstico y las características demográficas están resumidas en la Tabla 5.



VID writicular uppel delect

Tabla 5. Diagnóstico y características demográficas de los pacientes incluidos en el estudio iNAV vs dNAV.

Veinticinco resonancias se hicieron en pacientes bajo anestesia general y quince en pacientes despiertos. Se utilizó contraste intravenoso en 22 casos. Todos los pacientes se encontraban en ritmo sinusal. La media de la frecuencia cardíaca fue  $75 \pm 14$  latidos por minuto (rango: 59 - 110). La figura 24 muestra imágenes representativas de 4 pacientes.



*Figura* 24. 3D bSSFP en 4 pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas, adquiridos usando iNAV (parte superior de la imagen) y dNAV (parte inferior). ALCAPA= Anomalous Left Coronary Artery from the Pulmonary Artery.

## Tiempo de escaneado:

El tiempo de escaneado fue significativamente menor usando iNAV [min:sec] (6:59 ± 1:23) en relación a dNAV (9:17 ± 2:34) entre los 40 pacientes (p<0.05). La evaluación de los subgrupos con y sin anestesia mostró una diferencia significativa en los pacientes escaneados sin anestesia general (n = 25) (iNAV 7:48 ± 1:26 vs dNAV 9:48 ± 3:11, p = 0.01). Sin embargo, no hubo diferencia significativa en los pacientes anestesiados (iNAV =  $6:55 \pm 1:50$  versus dNAV =  $6:32 \pm 2:16$ ; p>0.05).

El tiempo de escaneado para pacientes despiertos y bajo anestesia general se ha representado en la figura 25.



*Figura 25.* Tiempo de escaneado para pacientes bajo anestesia general (imagen derecha) y en pacientes despiertos (imagen izquierda), utilizando iNAV y dNAV.

# Calidad de la imagen

En 39 de 40 casos (98%), iNAV recibió un score cualitativo igual o mayor que dNAV. El análisis con el test de Wilcoxon demostró una diferencia significativa a favor de iNAV versus dNAV (p = 0.002). La figura 26 representa la valoración utilizada con el score y la puntuación de las imágenes.



**Figura 26**. Score visual para las imágenes adquiridas con iNAV y dNAV. El porcentaje de casos para cada score se ha representado en la parte superior de la imagen. Las figuras A – D representan scores del 2 al 5 respectivamente. Ninguna imagen recibió un score de 1.

#### Nitidez de los vasos:

La nitidez calculada de los vasos fue significativamente mayor utilizando iNAV para la ACD y la ADA (iNAV: 56.8% ±1.7% vs dNAV: 53.7% ± 1.7%, P <0.002; y iNAV: 55.8% ± 1.61% vs dNAV: 49% ± 1.8%, P = 0.001, respectivamente). Sin embargo, no se encontró diferencia en el análisis de la ACx (iNAV: 52.2% ± 1.8% vs dNAV: 52.8% ± 1.7%, *p*= no significativa).

# Identificación del origen y longitud de las arterias coronarias:

Los orígenes de las arterias coronarias se observaron en todos los pacientes independientemente del tipo de corrección de movimiento utilizado. Sin embargo, se recogió una diferencia significativa en cuanto a la longitud del vaso visualizada utilizando iNAV para la ACD (iNAV: 6.6mm  $\pm$  0.49mm vs dNAV: 6.0mm  $\pm$  0.4 mm, p < 0.05) y la ADA (iNAV: 7.3mm  $\pm$  0.6mm vs dNAV: 6.6mm  $\pm$  0.6mm, P = 0.001). No se halló diferencia significativa para la ACx (iNAV: 5.2mm  $\pm$  0.5mm vs dNAV: 4.9mm  $\pm$  0.4mm, p = no significativa).

De la misma forma, el análisis subjetivo realizado por los observadores clínicos mostró un mejor resultado usando iNAV. El curso medio de las arterias coronarias no se visualizó en un 4% usando dNAV (vs 0% con iNAV). En un 34% de los casos no se consiguió visualizar el curso medio de las arterias en una o dos ramas usando dNAV (vs 16% con iNAV), Figura 27. El análisis individual de cada arteria coronaria mostró una diferencia estadísticamente significativa para cada una de las arterias coronarias al comparar la visualización del curso medio de la arteria usando iNAV vs dNAV. El curso de la ACD se visualizó en un 95% de los casos usando iNAV y un 85% usando dNAV (p< 0.05). Para la ACx esta proporción fue de 89% (iNAV) vs 76% (dNAV) (p< 0.05) y 94% vs 70% para la ACx (p< 0.001).



**Figura 27.** Visualización del curso medio de las arterias coronarias. None = casos en los que sólo se visualizó el origen y el curso proximal de las arterias coronarias, sin visualización del curso medio (imágenes de dNAV en un paciente despierto). Partial = casos en los que la visualización de la porción media fue posible en 1-2 ramas coronarias (imágenes de iNAV en el paciente anterior, se muestran la ADA y ACx; la ACD sólo se visualiza en su porción proximal). Complete = las tres ramas coronarias son visibles en su curso medio (imágenes de un paciente bajo anestesia general).

#### 4.3 Creación de modelos en pacientes con fístulas coronarias

<u>Contribución de los modelos a la comprensión del origen y punto de drenaje de las</u> <u>fístulas coronarias</u>

En los cuatro casos, los expertos en imagen definieron correctamente el origen de la fístula coronaria utilizando las imágenes del TAC. En 3 de los 4 casos incluidos en el estudio, el drenaje de la fístula también fue correctamente descrito. Sin embargo, en el tercer caso, uno de los expertos no describió el drenaje en su totalidad hasta visualizar el modelo 3D.

En el primer caso (mujer de 41 años), ambos cardiólogos identificaron correctamente la fístula de la arteria coronaria derecha drenando en el ventrículo izquierdo utilizando para ello solamente las imágenes del TAC.

De manera similar, para el caso 2, un hombre de 59 años, ambos expertos en imagen describieron correctamente la afectación de ambas arterias coronarias en la fístula. La arteria coronaria izquierda se encontraba dilata de forma severa a lo largo de todo su curso; la coronaria izquierda presentaba dilatación entre leve y moderada.

El caso 3 fue el más complejo de los pacientes incluidos. La arteria coronaria izquierda tenía varios puntos de fistulización, con dos sacos aneurismáticos contiguos, cada uno de los cuales daba lugar a un nuevo trayecto con drenajes diferentes. A pesar de esta complejidad, ambos expertos informaron el origen sin errores. También observaron correctamente que esta estructura drenaba inicialmente en un gran aneurisma. En este punto de la interpretación de la imagen, los dos cardiólogos divergieron en su opinión. Uno dio una descripción completa, incluida la conexión a un segundo aneurisma más

pequeño, que a su vez mostró dos drenajes más, uno hacia la orejuela izquierda y otro al seno coronario. El otro observador describió que la fístula drenaba solo al seno coronario y no mencionó el segundo aneurisma. El segundo experto corrigió este error al analizar la segmentación preparada para la impresión 3D.

El caso 4, un paciente de 2 años remitido para la valoración de un soplo hallado de forma incidental mostró una anatomía fistulosa más sencilla. Un ecocardiograma transtorácico (ETT) mostró la fístula coronaria que se originaba en la coronaria izquierda y drenaba en la unión VCS-AD (vena cava superior a aurícula derecha) con un trayecto corto que rodeaba la raíz aórtica. Se solicitaron RMC (Philips Achieva 1.5 T, Holanda) y ecocardiograma transesofágico (ETE) para la evaluación anatómica de la fístula. Después de la angiografía con contraste (Dotarem®), se realizó la secuencia 3D bSSFP, siguiendo el protocolo institucional. La secuencia 3D SSFP se adquirió en sístole y diástole, con navegación respiratoria y ECG, utilizando los siguientes parámetros: orientación sagital; tiempo de repetición / tiempo de eco (ms): 3,4 / 1,7; ángulo flip, 90°; cortes contiguos; número cortes: 120; resolución isotrópica adquirida, 1,3 mm3; ventana de adquisición: 75 ms. En este paciente, la morfología de la fístula quedó bien definida por las imágenes iniciales. Ambos cardiólogos identificaron el origen de la fístula desde la arteria coronaria principal izquierda y su drenaje hacia la unión VCS-AD. Ni la presentación renderizada en volumen ni el modelo impreso en 3D agregaron más información sobre el origen fistuloso o su punto de drenaje.



**Figura 28.** Imágenes de TAC y RMC de los pacientes incluidos. A) & B) Paciente 1. A) Origen de la arteria coronaria derecha (\*). B) Imagen tridimensional de la fistula. C) & D) Paciente 2. Origen y curso de la arteria coronaria izquierda (\*) y derecha (flecha) en corte axial (C) y coronal (D). E) & F) Paciente 3. E) Saco aneurismático de gran tamaño (\*) y recorrido de la fístula, corte axial (nótese la calcificación). F) Imagen en 3D de la fistula mostrando el gran saco aneurismático principal (\*), un segundo aneurisma (flecha blanca) y su drenaje hacia la aurícula izquierda (flecha negra). G) & H) Paciente 4. G) Ecografía transtorácica mostrando el curso de la fistula coronaria alrededor de la raíz aórtica (\*). H) Origen de la fistula (flecha negra), curso (flecha blanca) y drenaje (\*) en un corte axial de la secuencia 3D bSSFP.

# Contribución incremental a la comprensión del curso fistuloso intermedio

Utilizando sólo el TAC, los dos expertos en imagen sólo pudieron comprender el curso de la fístula de la arteria coronaria en la mitad (2/4) de los casos. Utilizando la reconstrucción en 3D, uno de los cardiólogos consiguió interpretar el curso en los casos restantes. Ambos expertos en imagen coincidieron en que proporcionar una descripción verbal concisa para comunicar el curso fistuloso, independientemente de las herramientas de diagnóstico utilizadas, resulta difícil en casos complejos.

# Contribución a la toma de decisiones, planificación intervencionista y resultado clínico

Después de la revisión de las imágenes de eco y TAC (Figura 28), se presentaron los modelos impresos en 3D en la reunión multidisciplinar. Posteriormente, los cardiólogos intervencionistas inspeccionaron el modelo 3D y reconsideraron las decisiones tomadas inicialmente sólo con las imágenes. En los pacientes en los que se consideró llevar a cabo un cateterismo cardíaco, se realizó una simulación in vitro del procedimiento propuesto utilizando el modelo específico del paciente.

El paciente 1 fue intervenido con éxito en nuestro centro a pesar de la proximidad del drenaje de la fístula en la entrada del ventrículo izquierdo. La simulación in vitro del procedimiento dentro del modelo impreso en 3D fue crucial para planificar la intervención, permitiendo al cardiólogo intervencionista establecer el mejor punto para posicionar el dispositivo de oclusión. Durante el procedimiento, la angiografía coronaria confirmó una fístula de la arteria coronaria derecha, que drenaba en el ventrículo izquierdo, cerca de la entrada de la mitral. El dispositivo para su cierre fue colocado cerca del punto de drenaje de la fístula en el ventrículo izquierdo (Figura 29), dejando una distancia suficiente con el orificio de apertura al ventrículo para evitar dañar la válvula mitral y facilitando la vascularización del resto de las ramas conales y tributarias dependientes de la coronaria derecha.



*Figura 29.* Planificación del cateterismo en el paciente 1. A) Angiografía rotacional del modelo con el dispositivo colocado en el punto de drenaje de la fístula en el VI, cerca de la válvula mitral. B) Reconstrucción en 3D de las imágenes de TAC del mismo paciente. C) Cierre de la fístula con el dispositivo. D) Modelo 3D con el dispositivo cerca del punto de drenaje, en la misma ubicación en la que se realizó en el paciente durante l cateterismo.

En el caso 2, la inspección del modelo 3D cambió la decisión inicial. El caso se presentó en la sesión multidisciplinar, el equipo intervencionista concluyó que la mejor opción era el cierre mediante cateterismo cardíaco. Sin embargo, el grado de afectación de ambas arterias coronarias no resultaba especialmente llamativo en las imágenes proyectadas. El cardiólogo intervencionista principal solo se dio cuenta de esta peculiaridad tras de inspeccionar el modelo impreso en 3D. Después de evaluar los riesgos con el paciente, se tomó la decisión de no continuar con la intervención.

La complejidad de la fístula coronaria en el caso 3 hizo que los cardiólogos intervencionistas descartaran la posibilidad del cierre percutáneo. Tras revisar los datos de imagen en la reunión multidisciplinar y el modelo 3D con el equipo intervencionista, se concluyó que el cateterismo sería un procedimiento de alto riesgo. En este caso, la revisión del modelo confirmó la decisión tomada inicialmente utilizando las imágenes de eco, TAC y la reconstrucción tridimensional del TAC. Este caso se trataba de una segunda opinión solicitada por un centro europeo. Nuestra institución recomendó cirugía para el cierre de la fístula, evitando así el cateterismo. A pesar de ello y tras exponer las opciones al paciente, se planificó y realizó la intervención por cateterismo en el centro de referencia. Durante el procedimiento, el primer dispositivo utilizado embolizó en el gran saco del aneurisma coronario izquierdo. Este era un AVP II de 16 mm destinado a cerrar la conexión con la orejuela izquierda. Se logró un cierre exitoso con un dispositivo para cierre de CIV (comunicación interventricular) de 16 mm en esta localización. Posteriormente, se utilizó un AVP II de 14 mm en el drenaje de la fístula en el seno coronario. Se colocó un stent de 3 x 18 mm en la circunfleja izquierda para evitar su oclusión y la posible isquemia en relación con el dispositivo que cerraba el drenaje a la orejuela izquierda. Unos días después, el stent se trombosó y el paciente necesitó un nuevo cateterismo. Durante el procedimiento, se logró la recanalización del mismo y el paciente evolucionó favorablemente.

En el caso 4 final, la inspección del modelo impreso en 3D confirmó los hallazgos de la presentación tomográfica y volumétrica de los datos de la imagen. También ayudó a planificar el procedimiento, plantear el lugar del cierre y seleccionar el tipo de dispositivo. El cateterismo se realizó en el modelo utilizando un Amplatzer Vascular Plug para simular el procedimiento. El dispositivo se colocó en la unión VCS-AD, cerrando la porción final de la fístula y su drenaje hacia la aurícula. Durante la intervención del paciente, el cierre se logró utilizando un AVP II de 8 mm colocado en el punto medio del curso fístuloso. A pesar de que en el modelo se había simulado la colocación de un ADO-I en la unión fístula-aurícula derecha, esta opción no fue posible en el paciente debido a que no se consiguió la progresión del catéter utilizado hacia la aurícula derecha. Probablemente este hecho fue debido a la diferencia en la rigidez del modelo en comparación con el tejido humano, el efecto del flujo sanguíneo y el movimiento del corazón al latir. La angiografía posterior a la liberación del dispositivo mostró una buena posición sin flujo residual a través del mismo. El paciente fue dado de alta a las 48 horas, no se han descrito complicaciones en sus revisiones posteriores hasta la actualidad.

Los modelos se llevaron al laboratorio de cateterismo durante la intervención de los casos 1 y 4 y, a menudo, fueron manipulados por los cardiólogos intervencionistas que realizaron el procedimiento para interpretar la orientación espacial de la fístula en el interior del paciente.

# 4.4 Utilización de modelos 3D para el aprendizaje de personal médico. Perspectivas futuras.

Debido al reducido número de especímenes procedentes de cadáveres disponibles con fines didácticos, y la singularidad y naturaleza única de la morfología de cada paciente, la creación de una biblioteca virtual con modelos anatómicos de cardiopatías complejas de escasa frecuencia es esencial para facilitar el aprendizaje sobre este tipo de patología. Los hospitales regionales y comarcales carecen de los recursos necesarios y la capacidad para facilitar este tipo de docencia. Por estos motivos, se agruparon casos de pacientes en los que se imprimió un modelo para planificación quirúrgica o intervencionista. Debido al fin docente de la biblioteca y el carácter retrospectivo del uso de la imagen, el comité ético no consideró necesario consentimiento informado por parte de los pacientes cuyas imágenes fueron utilizadas para la creación de la plataforma virtual.

Se escogieron pacientes con Hipoplasia de Cavidades Izquierdas y sus estadíos quirúrgicos de paliación, pacientes con Tetralogía de Fallot, Ventrículo Derecho de Doble Salida y Truncus Arteriosus (72). A continuación, analizamos cada grupo de forma detallada.

### 4.4.1 Hipoplasia de cavidades izquierdas y sus distintos estadios

La hipoplasia de cavidades izquierdas es una cardiopatía compleja en la que la mitad izquierda del corazón no se desarrolla durante el periodo embrionario (Figura 30).



**Figura 30.** Imagen 3D de la morfología de un corazón con síndrome de hipoplasia del ventrículo izquierdo, obtenido a partir de un microTAC de alta resolución de un feto afecto. La imagen izquierda muestra la visión anterior del corazón y la derecha la visión posterior (72).

Existen varios estadíos quírurgicos para su paliación. Cuando el recién nacido es de bajo peso o si la anatomía es controvertida (por ejemplo en el caso de ventrículo izquierdo borderline o de tamaño normal con hipoplasia de la aorta ascendente o el arco aórtico), se realiza inicialmente un procedimiento híbrido en el que se coloca un stent a nivel del ductus y se realiza un banding en ambas ramas pulmonares, facilitando así el paso de sangre desde el ventrículo derecho a la aorta abdominal a través del stent del ductus y reduciendo la cantidad de flujo hacia las arterias pulmonares (Figura 31).



**Figura 31.** Modelo tridimensional del corazón de un paciente con hipoplasia ventricular izquierda tras <u>procedimiento híbrido</u> (colocación de stent en el ductus arterioso (flecha roja) y banding bilateral pulmonar). Imagen izquierda: vista anterior; imagen derecha: vista posterior (nótese el banding de la arteria pulmonar derecha – flecha blanca; stent en ductus arterioso – flecha roja) y la arteria aorta nativa (flecha azul) (72).

En la mayoría de los pacientes es posible realizar el estadío I de Norwood como primera intervención. Ésta consiste en la conversión de la arteria pulmonar en la arteria sistémica junto a la reconstrucción del arco aórtico, y la colocación de un shunt sistémico pulmonar, ya sea en forma de Blalock Taussig shunt (entre la arteria subclavia derecha y la rama pulmonar derecha) o como conexión tipo Sano (entre el ventrículo derecho y la rama pulmonar derecha) (Figura 32). En ciertas ocasiones, particularmente en casos de posible obstrucción del tracto de salida, en vez de reconstruir una nueva aorta con la arteria pulmonar, ambas arterias se anastomosan formando la conexión de Damus-Kaye (DKS) (Figura 32). En ocasiones también es necesaria la creación de una comunicación interauricular.



**Figura 32.** Modelo 3D representando la operación tipo Norwood + BT shunt (creación de neoaorta con la aorta nativa y la arteria pulmonar + creación de un shunt entre la arteria innominada o la subclavia y rama pulmonar del mismo lado anatómico, generalmente el derecho). Imagen izquierda: vista anterior (flecha roja: BT shunt, círculo naranja: neoaorta o conexión DKS); imagen derecha: vista posterior (flecha roja; BT shunt; flecha verde: arco aórtico).

El siguiente estado en la paliación es el Norwood II, Glenn o HemiFontan, que implica la anastomosis de la vena cava superior a la rama pulmonar derecha y la eliminación del shunt creado en la operación anterior (Figura 33). La última operación es la cirugía de Fontan en la que la vena cava inferior se conecta a la rama pulmonar derecha (Figura 34).



**Figura 33.** <u>Hemi-Fontan</u> (conexión de la vena cava superior a la rama pulmonar derecha): la conexión de la cava superior a las ramas pulmonares ha sido segmentada de forma independiente al resto de la anatomía cardíaca para realzar la independencia de ambas circulaciones. A) Visión anterior de la anatomía cardíaca, mostrando la AD, el VD y la conexión DKS; B) Visión posterior mostrando la AI, VD y la VCI; C) Imagen del circuito Glenn: vena cava superior conectada a las ramas pulmonares, vista posterior; D) Anatomía cardíaca y Glenn en su conjunto en el mismo paciente, vista posterior.



**Figura 34.** Reconstrucción tridimensional tras cirugía de <u>Fontan (conexión de la vena cava</u> <u>superior a la rama pulmonar derecha).</u> La circulación del circuito de Fontan se ha separado del resto de la anatomía cardíaca para facilitar su explicación. A) Visión anatómica en conjunto del corazón, vista anterior; B) Visión posterior de la misma (flecha azul: arco aórtico con troncos braquiocefálicos); C) Circuito de Fontan: anastomosis de la vena cava superior e inferior a las ramas pulmonares, visión posterior.

# 4.4.2 Tetralogia de Fallot y sus complicaciones

La tetralogía de Fallot ocurre embriológicamente cuando se produce la desviación anterior del septo interventricular, provocando estenosis pulmonar (infundibular, valvular y/o supravalvular según el caso), que a su vez conlleva la hipertrofia del ventrículo derecho, la aparición de una comunicación interventricular perimembranosa y cabalgamiento de la raíz aórtica sobre el septo (Figura 35).


**Figura 35.** Morfología de la Tetralogía de Fallot previa a la reparación: hipertrofia del ventrículo derecho, comunicación interventricular perimembranosa, cabalgamiento aórtico, estenosis pulmonar (infundibular, valvular y/o supravalvular según el caso). Imagen izquierda visión anterior; imagen derecha: visión posterior.

Esta patología precisa cirugía en los seis primeros meses de vida. En ciertos casos es necesaria una cirugía previa para garantizar el flujo a nivel pulmonar generalmente mediante la colocación de un BT shunt o vía cateterismo cardíaco.

La cirugía reparadora consiste en ampliar el tracto de salida derecho para disminuir o eliminar si es posible la obstrucción del mismo. Para ello, es necesario eliminar las bandas musculares del TSVD (tracto de salida del ventrículo derecho), ampliar el anillo valvular pulmonar si éste es excesivamente pequeño, así como aumentar el diámetro de la arteria pulmonar y sus ramas si es preciso. Existen complicaciones después de la cirugía, generalmente asociadas a estenosis residuales a distintos niveles, pero en ocasiones el uso de material para aumentar el tamaño de las estructuras puede conllevar la dilatación de las mismas (Figura 36).



**Figura 36.** Dilatación severa del tracto de salida derecho y la arteria pulmonar, provocando estenosis del origen de las ramas pulmonares en paciente post-cirugía reparadora de Tetralogía de Fallot con parche transanular. A) Visión anterior, B) visión lateral izquierda, C) Visión posterior.

Existe una variante de la Tetralogía de Fallot llamada Síndrome de la válvula pulmonar ausente, que consiste en la falta de desarrollo o formación rudimentaria de las valvas pulmonares. En esta patología es característica la dilatación del tronco y de las ramas pulmonares, junto a la estenosis de la válvula pulmonar y del tracto de salida derecho (Figura 37).

En ocasiones, la Tetralogía de Fallot puede también conllevar la aparición de MAPCAs (Major aortopulmonary collateral arteries) (Figura 38).



**Figura 37.** Variante "Válvula pulmonar ausente", visión anatómica posterior. Dilatación evidente de ambas ramas pulmonares. En este paciente también se realizó un BT shunt durante la cirugía dada la escasez de flujo anterógrado a través de la válvula pulmonar.



*Figura 38.* Tetralogía de Fallot con MAPCAs (major aorto-pulmonary collaterals, flechas de color naranja). Imagen izquierda: visión anterior; imagen derecha: visión posterior (72).

#### 4.4.3 Truncus arterioso

En el truncus arterioso los dos grandes vasos (arteria aorta y pulmonar) surgen de un mismo tronco común. Existen cuatro subtipos dependiendo de la existencia de arteria pulmonar principal y de la disposición del origen de las ramas pulmonares según la clasificación de Collet y Edwards (116). En el tipo I (Figura 39), existe una pequeña arteria pulmonar con origen cercano a la válvula truncal, generalmente esta arteria pulmonar se encuentra ubicada en lado izquierdo con respecto al tronco. En el tipo II, las ramas pulmonares tienen un origen independiente desde la parte posterior del tronco. En el tipo III, cada rama pulmonar sale de su lado correspondiente directamente del tronco. En el tipo IV ambas ramas surgen de la aorta descendente y se dirigen distalmente hacia el pulmón correspondiente.



*Figura 39.* Truncus arterioso tipo I. Origen de la arteria pulmonar principal desde el tronco, en su lado izquierdo, dividiéndose posteriormente en rama pulmonar derecha e izquierda.

#### 4.4.4 Ventrículo derecho de doble salida

En esta patología los dos grandes vasos tienen su origen mayoritariamente desde el ventrículo derecho. Ambos ventrículos se encuentran comunicados a través de un defecto interventricular. Existen varios subtipos en función de la ubicación de la comunicación interventricular y su relación con los grandes vasos (117-119):

- Comunicación interventricular subaórtica o perimembranosa: la CIV se encuentra en el septo perimembranoso en estrecha relación con la válvula aórtica (Figura 40).
- Comunicación interventricular remota: la CIV se ubica lejos del origen de ambos vasos (Figura 41).
- Comunicación interventricular subpulmonar (Taussig-Bing): la CIV se encuentra inferiormente a la válvula pulmonar, provocando una fisiopatología similar a la trasposición de grandes arterias.
- Comunicación interventricular doblemente relacionada: el defecto interventricular está relacionado con el origen de ambos vasos.

En ocasiones la CIV forma parte de una patología más compleja conocida como canal auriculoventricular, que consiste en un defecto de los cojinetes endocárdicos, afectando al tabique interauricular, el interventricular y las válvulas AV. En estos casos es posible que ambos vasos se originen en su mayor parte del VD, formando así un ventrículo derecho de doble salida (Figura 42).



*Figura 40.* Variante con comunicación interventricular perimembranosa y vasos normalmente relacionados con dextroposición aórtica. A) Visión frontal del modelo. B) Visión tras extracción de la porción anterior para la mejor observación de la salida de los vasos del VD.

	Fishe Cross Sector	Display Settings
	6-Aus • Y-Aus	2 Show Internections
	2.449	- Show Duting Plans
	Align to Falls	tyrum Salacted Parts Anti Section Case
	Align to 3 Points	Show Transport
		Duting Plane Operaty 1014
		Align Camero with Gutting Plane
Aller's and a	Position and Orientation	
AD VD	0%et	
	Te 1	
		(r)
		These Sector Asso
and the second s		Annual state of the later

**Figura 41.** Ejemplo de PDF interactivo preparado para la página web de la biblioteca en un paciente con ventrículo derecho de doble salida y CIV remota. El usuario puede hacer cortes o navegar en el interior del corazón en los tres ejes del espacio.



**Figura 42.** Variante con defecto septal tipo canal auriculoventricular. El modelo ha sido diseñado en tres fragmentos para mostrar la relación entre la CIV y la salida de los grandes vasos. A) Modelo con las tres porciones unidas; B) Retirada parcial del VD, mostrando la CIA y CIV de gran tamaño (flecha azul); C) Se han retirado ambos fragmentos laterales del modelo para observar la anatomía interior incluyendo la relación de la CIV (flecha azul) con ambos vasos (nótese la disposición de los grandes vasos, ambos con origen en el VD).

En algunos pacientes con VDDS, la corrección biventricular no es posible y es necesaria la realización de cirugía paliativa en varios estadíos hasta completar la operación de Fontan. Este hecho puede venir asociado al cruce de cuerdas tendinosas de las válvulas auriculoventriculares de un ventrículo a otro, la posición remota de la CIV o la ubicación del origen de los vasos con respecto a la CIV así como el tamaño de los mismos (Figura 43).



**Figura 43.** CIV subpulmonar en paciente con malposición de grandes vasos, estenosis subpulmonar y valvular pulmonar en el que se realizó Glenn bilateral. Este modelo fue preparado en distintas porciones para mostrar los distintos componentes de la anatomía. En azul marino se encuentran las ramas pulmonares y su conexión a la cava superior izquierda y derecha respectivamente. La aorta se muestra de color violeta. Ambos ventrículos y su conexión a través de la CIV son de color verde. Las aurículas (eliminadas en la imagen en orientación sagital), son de color rojo en este modelo. A) Visión anterior; B) Visión sagital derecha.

# Capítulo 5. Discusión y Conclusiones

Las técnicas de imagen se han convertido en la piedra angular del diagnóstico en pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas. En la actualidad, la resonancia cardíaca es considerada imprescindible como parte del estudio en la mayoría de patologías cardíacas para la toma de decisiones previas a la cirugía (43).

La visualización tridimensional de ciertas estructuras es fundamental para la descripción anatómica de las mismas de forma detallada. Éste es el caso del aparato subvalvular de la válvula mitral, cuyo análisis está tomando cada vez mayor importancia en pacientes con ventrículo izquierdo borderline y su distinción con el ventrículo izquierdo hipoplásico (91). En un número importante de pacientes, la realización de un procedimiento híbrido permite ganar tiempo para aumentar el peso del paciente, así como para observar el progreso de las cavidades izquierdas de forma natural cuando su tamaño es borderline, ofreciendo la posibilidad en un número reducido de casos de rehabilitar el ventrículo izquierdo (120) (121, 122). El uso de forma aislada del volumen ventricular telediástolico para la decisión sobre la posibilidad de corrección biventricular es controvertido, puesto que en ciertos pacientes existe potencial para que el ventrículo siga creciendo después de la cirugía (96, 123). Minich y sus colaboradores analizaron la ecografía 2D y Doppler de siete pacientes y establecieron el volumen telediástolico mínimo para reparación biventricular  $\geq 10 \text{ ml/m}^2(96)$ . Otras publicaciones establecen, sin embargo, que un valor de dicho volumen <20 ml/m<sup>2</sup> es un factor de riesgo de mortalidad en pacientes con VI borderline (123-125). En el estudio realizado para esta tesis, los pacientes fueron ml/m<sup>2</sup> cuantificado por resonancia cardíaca o  $\leq 20$  ml/m<sup>2</sup> junto a la existencia de otros factores que imposibilitan la reparación biventricular tales como atresia mitral o estenosis mitral severa y/o atresia aórtica con septo íntegro.

La presencia de un único músculo papilar fue un hallazgo frecuente en pacientes con VI borderline (18% de los casos) y VI hipoplásico (46%) en la muestra de pacientes analizada. En general, el soporte muscular ausente fue el superolateral. Cuando este soporte muscular se encuentra presente, resulta ser más corto en los VI de pequeño tamaño en relación a los pacientes con VI normales. En general, el músculo papilar inferomedial suele estar formado por varios vientres (moda = 2 en nuestra serie), mientras que el superolateral suele tener sólo uno (moda = 1, p=0.013, test de Wilcoxon). Es frecuente además encontrar una inserción ancha de la base del soporte muscular, especialmente al analizar el músculo papilar inferomedial. A pesar de no encontrar diferencia significativa en el ángulo formado por los músculos papilares entre los grupos analizados, la variabilidad del mismo fue marcadamente mayor en los pacientes con VI borderline e hipoplásico en comparación con el grupo normal (media  $\pm$  desviación estándar: hipoplásico: 114°±57°; borderline: 111°±51°; normal: 113°±17°).

Del Nido y sus colaboradores han descrito la rehabilitación del ventrículo izquierdo en algunos casos, aliviando la estenosis mitral y modificando quirúrgicamente los músculos papilares (120, 121). Durante la cirugía, ha sido descrita la separación de los músculos papilares y la re-configuración de zonas anormales de sujeción del músculo papilar al septo interventricular o la pared del ventrículo izquierdo, disminuyendo la posible obstrucción al tracto de entrada izquierdo. La morfología observada en la cohorte presentada ayuda a entender la necesidad de dicha reparación en algunos pacientes dado el patrón de organización de los músculos papilares – por ejemplo, la elongación de las cuerdas tendinosas del músculo papilar superolateral y la separación de los vientres del músculo inferomedial podría ayudar en algunos pacientes.

La secuencia tridimensional de resonancia magnética sincronizada con ECG (3D bSSFP) de todo el corazón es de gran utilidad para la valoración de los grandes vasos, las arterias coronarias y las cámaras cardíacas en paciente con cardiopatías complejas, incluyendo aquellos con hipoplasia de cavidades izquierdas (93) (94). En el estudio presentado para la tesis, utilizamos una combinación de cines en eje corto y 3D bSSFP para demostrar la anatomía de los músculos papilares, ambas secuencias se encuentran incluidas el protocolo básico para pacientes fon SHCI antes y/o después de la cirugía. El equipo de del Nido y sus colaboradores describen la resonancia cardíaca como esencial para la valoración del VI borderline que se consideran aptos para la cirugía rehabilitadora (121). La resonancia además permite el cálculo del volumen ventricular de forma precisa, así como la presencia de endofribroelastosis ayudando a la decisión sobre la posibilidad de reparación ventricular (95). Desafortunadamente, a pesar de que la resonancia es la modalidad ideal para evaluar el volumen ventricular, la resolución no suele ser tener la precisión suficiente como para definir las cuerdas tendinosas y su unión a los músculos papilares desde la válvula mitral. Algunas publicaciones recientes han descrito estas características utilizando la ecocardiografía en tres dimensiones (126). Por lo tanto, es necesario mejorar la resolución y las características ofrecidas por la resonancia magnética para describir de forma más detallada estructuras anatómicas de pequeño tamaño.

La mayor limitación de esta parte del estudio es la corta edad de los pacientes incluidos en relación a los controles. Esto es debido a que la mayor parte de las resonancias pediátricas se realizan bajo anestesia general por la escasa colaboración de esta población, por lo que los controles fueron pacientes de mayor edad. Para mitigar este problema, todos los cálculos cuantitativos se indexaron según la superficie corporal o se estimaron en base al ratio usando la longitud del VI. En nuestro análisis, no se observaron diferencias morfológicas en cuanto a los músculos papilares entre la serie de pacientes comparada con VI de tamaño borderline que se sometió a una reparación quirúrgica biventricular o aquellos que siguieron la cirugía paliativa univentricular. Sin embargo, es posible que esto se deba al tamaño muestral.

Dadas las dificultades para observar estructuras de pequeño tamaño en la población pediátrica con las características de las secuencias actuales, diseñamos un nuevo método para mejorar la secuencia 3D bSSFP, con el objetivo de disminuir el artefacto creado por la respiración del paciente. En nuestro estudio, utilizamos iNAV, que rastrea el movimiento del corazón dentro del tórax y lo comparamos frente a dNAV, que rastrea el diafragma, consiguiendo una mejor calidad de imagen en la visualización de las arterias coronarias. Escogimos esta estructura anatómica por ser de pequeño tamaño y porque su visualización por resonancia es de especial interés en la población pediátrica al evitar así la radiación que implica el TAC. La muestra en este caso fue un conjunto heterogéneo de pacientes en edad pediátrica, que refleja la población con indicación clínica de este tipo de estudio. Además de la mejora en la calidad de imagen, observamos una reducción en el tiempo de escaneado en los pacientes despiertos usando iNAV versus dNAV. Este hecho puede deberse a que la estrategia de programación con CRUISE asume una eficiencia del 50%, independientemente del patrón de respiración del paciente; mientras que dNAV utiliza una ventana de captura según la posición diafragmática de 3 a 7 mm en función del tamaño de paciente, resultando en una eficiencia variable según el patrón respiratorio en cada caso. Este hecho es de especial importancia en los pacientes despiertos puesto que la eficiencia puede cambiar durante la adquisición de la secuencia. La reducción del tiempo de adquisición fue del 25% usando iNAV frente dNAV. En el análisis subpoblacional de los pacientes bajo anestesia general no hubo diferencia significativa, esto se debe probablemente a la estabilidad del patrón respiratorio es esta parte de la muestra.

En cuanto a la nitidez de la imagen obtenida, iNAV mostró mejores resultados en comparación con dNAV. Esta diferencia fue aún más marcada en los pacientes despiertos, en los que encontramos diferencia estadísticamente significativa en la arteria coronaria derecha, descendente anterior y circunfleja. Sin embargo, al analizar toda la cohorte de pacientes en su conjunto, sólo se observó diferencia significativa en el estudio de la ACD y la ADA con el uso de iNAV frente a dNAV. Este hecho recalca la importancia del patrón respiratorio en los pacientes despiertos, en los que la respiración irregular hace impredecible la calidad de imagen y la duración de la adquisición de la secuencia.

El uso de iNAV en adultos con cardiopatías congénitas ha sido descrito anteriormente (127). Sin embargo, la adquisición de la imagen se basaba en la utilización de una señal respiratoria externa al corazón para mitigar el artefacto creado por la respiración del paciente. La nueva metodología para la adquisición de iNAV propuesta en esta tesis utiliza el movimiento cardíaco, simplificando la programación de la secuencia y mejorando eficiencia de la misma. En un estudio realizado por Monney y colaboradores (128), la programación de la adquisición del 3D bSSFP se hizo eliminando el artefacto que causa en la respiración directamente de la secuencia (los datos del movimiento respiratorio son extraídos del espacio K a nivel cardíaco y coronario) en 105 pacientes con cardiopatías congénitas (edad media 23 años), consiguiendo la visualización del origen y la parte proximal de la coronaria derecha, ADA y ACI en un 93, 87 and 98% de los casos respectivamente. En nuestro estudio, conseguimos visualizar el recorrido medio de las arterias coronarias en un 95, 89 y 94% de los casos para la ACD, ADA y ACI usando iNAV, con una diferencia significativa con respecto al uso de dNAV (85, 76 and 70% respectivamente).

La nitidez de los vasos también mejoró al usar iNAV. De la misma forma los resultados alcanzados con el score subjetivo fueron mejores o al menos similares al comparar iNAV

121

vs dNAV. El uso de iNAV facilita el ajuste de la región de interés a rastrear incluso mientras la secuencia se encuentra activa, sin necesidad de detener la adquisición; sin embargo, no fue necesario reajustar la región de interés en ninguno de los pacientes. A pesar de que iNAV ha mostrado mejoría en la visualización del curso medio de las arterias coronarias, la porción distal sigue siendo difícil de delinear en resonancia cardíaca. La TAC sigue siendo la técnica de elección para alcanzar dicho objetivo, pues permite obtener una mayor resolución espacial y ofrece la posibilidad de reconstruir de forma retrospectiva a lo largo del ciclo cardíaco (97) (129). La limitación principal del uso del TAC en la edad pedíatrica es la presencia de radiación así como la necesidad de administrar contraste ionizado (130). Por este motivo, es necesaria la mejora continua de la visualización de las arterias coronarias mediante resonancia.

Para la planificación del cierre de las fístulas coronarias utilizamos imágenes de TAC en 3 pacientes adultos, y resonancia cardíaca en el paciente pediátrico. En todos los pacientes se creó una representación tridimensional inicial y posteriormente se imprimió un modelo específico para cada paciente. En cada caso se analizó el valor de cada paso diagnóstico (imagen adquirida inicialmente, representación 3D y modelo) para la comprensión de la anatomía. En casos de fístulas coronarias simples, para los expertos en imagen la representación en 3D y el modelo contribuyen poco al diagnóstico. Sin embargo, en casos de complejidad anatómica, la representación tridimensional y el modelo ayudan a la interpretación de la imagen y facilitan la comunicación de la morfología al equipo de cardiólogos intervencionistas, demostrando la importancia del examen físico del modelo especialmente durante la planificación del procedimiento para el cierre de la fístula. La simulación del mismo permite al intervencionista anticipar que tipo de dispositivo y tamaño necesitará para el procedimiento, permitiendo así asegurar su disponibilidad el día de la intervención y posiblemente reduciendo el tiempo necesario para realizar la intervención, como ocurre con otras cardiopatías complejas (131).

### **Conclusiones**

A lo largo del desarrollo de esta tesis, analizamos la anatomía de los músculos papilares comparando su morfología en pacientes con ventrículo izquierdo hipoplásico, borderline y de tamaño normal, concluyendo que la ausencia de uno de los soportes musculares es frecuente en pacientes con VI de pequeño tamaño, particularmente el superolateral y éste suele ser más corto en este grupo cuando se encuentra presente. En general, el músculo inferomedial suele tener más de un vientre y una base de inserción ancha. Aunque no encontramos diferencias significativas entre los pacientes con VI borderline que siguieron una vía de reparación biventricular y aquellos a los que se les ofreció cirugía paliativa univentricular, este hecho puede deberse al pequeño tamaño muestral.

A pesar de ser la modalidad ideal para obtener imágenes transversales en la población pediátrica por la ausencia de radiación, la resonancia magnética no siempre consigue una definición detallada de la anatomía cuando se intentan visualizar estructuras de pequeño tamaño. Para mejorar esta limitación, se optimizó la secuencia 3D bSSFP, utilizando una metodología de rastreo basada en el movimiento cardíaco, y se comparó con la secuencia habitual que usa la posición diafragmática para programar la adquisición de las imágenes. La secuencia descrita mejoró la calidad de la imagen, medida con scores cuantitativos y cualitativos, así como la proporción de los pacientes en los que es posible observar el recorrido medio de las arterias coronarias. El tiempo de adquisición de la secuencia fue más corto en pacientes despiertos escaneados con esta metodología en relación al rastreo diafragmático utilizado habitualmente.

En pacientes con sospecha de patología coronaria tales como las fístulas, las imágenes de TAC o resonancia son fundamentales para describir el origen, el curso y el punto de drenaje de la misma. Cuando el curso fístuloso es complejo, la utilización de un modelo 3D ayuda no sólo a la comprensión del recorrido y las estructuras afectas, si no que también facilita la comunicación entre profesionales y la planificación del procedimiento. La creación de modelos tridimensionales es esencial para mejorar el entendimiento de la patología cardíaca y el aprendizaje del personal médico. Durante el desarrollo de esta tesis, elaboramos una biblioteca virtual con el objetivo de permitir a todos los hospitales europeos la posibilidad de acceder a casos complejos con modelos anatómicos reales, ofreciendo la imagen por ecografía, la resonancia magnética, el pdf interactivo y la posibilidad de imprimir el modelo 3D a través de un archivo STL. Este sigue siendo parte de nuestra investigación actual y su mejora nuestro reto diario.

### **Chapter 5. Discussion and Conclusions**

Imaging techniques have become the cornerstone in the diagnosis of patients with congenital heart disease. Currently, CMR is considered essential as part of the study in most cardiac pathologies for decision-making prior to surgery (43).

The three-dimensional visualization of certain structures is crucial for their anatomical description in detail. This is the case of the mitral valve apparatus, which is assuming great importance in patients with borderline size of the left ventricle, as this structure may impact on single ventricle versus biventricular repair (91). In a significant number of patients, performing a hybrid procedure allows time to increase the patient's weight, as well as to observe the progress of the size of the left cavities when their size is borderline, offering the possibility in a small number of cases of rehabilitating the left ventricle (120) (121, 122). The isolated use of end-diastolic ventricular volumes for the decision on the possibility of biventricular correction is controversial, since in certain patients there is potential for the ventricle to continue to grow after surgery (96, 123). Minich et all analyzed the 2D and Doppler ultrasound of seven patients and established the minimum end-diastolic volume for biventricular repair  $\geq 10 \text{ ml/m}^2$  (96). Other publications establish, however, that a value of this volume <20 ml/m<sup>2</sup> is a risk factor for mortality in patients with borderline LV (123-125). In the study carried out for this thesis, patients were included in the group with hypoplastic LV if the end-diastolic ventricular volume was  $\leq 13$  ml / m2 quantified by cardiac MRI or  $\leq 20$  ml/m<sup>2</sup> if definite features that precluded for biventricular repair such us mitral atresia or severe mitral hypoplasia and aortic atresia with intact ventricular septum were diagnosed.

The presence of a single papillary muscle was a frequent finding in patients with borderline LVs (18% of cases) and hypoplastic LV (46%) in the sample of patients analyzed. Overall, the absent muscle support was the superolateral. When this muscle

support is present, it turns out to be shorter in small LVs in relation to patients with normal size LVs. In most cases, the inferomedial papillary muscle is usually formed by several bellies (mode = 2 in our series), while the superolateral muscle usually has only one belly (mode = 1, p = 0.013, Wilcoxon test). It is also common to find a wide insertion of the base of the muscle support, especially when analyzing the inferomedial papillary muscle. Despite the fact that no significant difference was found when analysing the angle formed by the papillary muscles between the groups included, the variability of the value of this angle was markedly greater in patients with borderline and hypoplastic LV compared to the normal group (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation: hypoplastic:  $114^{\circ}\pm 57^{\circ}$ ; borderline:  $111^{\circ}\pm51^{\circ}$ ; normal:  $113^{\circ}\pm17^{\circ}$ ). Del Nido et all have described the rehabilitation of the left ventricle in some cases, relieving mitral stenosis and surgically modifying the papillary muscles (120, 121). During surgery, the separation of the papillary muscles and the reconfiguration of abnormal areas of attachment of the papillary muscle to the interventricular septum or the wall of the left ventricle has been described, decreasing the possible obstruction to the left inflow. The morphology observed in the cohort presented helps to understand the need for such repair in some patients given the pattern of organization of the papillary muscles – for example, the elongation of the tendon cords of the superolateral papillary muscle and the separation of the bellies from the inferomedial muscle could help in some patients.

Whole heart, ECG triggered 3D bSSFP is a useful MRI sequence for the assessment of great arteries, coronary arteries and cardiac chambers in patients with complex heart disease, including those with hypoplasia of the left heart (93) (94). In the study presented for the thesis, we used a combination of short axis cines and 3D bSSFP to demonstrate the anatomy of the papillary muscles, both sequences are included in the basic protocol for patients with HLHS before and / or after surgery. Del Nido's team describe CMR as

126

essential for the assessment of borderline LV particularly when considering suitability for surgical rehabilitation (121). In addition to this, CMR facilitates the calculation of ventricular volumes accurately, as well as assessing the presence of endocardial fribroelastosis, helping decision-making on the possibility of biventricular repair (95). Unfortunately, although cardiac MRI is the ideal modality for assessing ventricular volume, the resolution is usually not accurate enough to define the chordae and their attachments to the papillary muscles from the mitral valve. Recent publications have described these features using three-dimensional echocardiography (126). Therefore, it is necessary to improve the resolution and characteristics offered by CMR to describe in more detail small anatomical structures.

The biggest limitation of this part of the study is the young age of the patients included in relation to the controls. This is because most paediatric MRIs are performed under general anesthesia due to the limited cooperation of this population, so the controls were older patients. To mitigate this problem, all quantitative calculations were indexed according to body surface area or estimated based on the ratio using the length of the LV. In our analysis, no morphological differences in papillary muscles were observed between the series of patients with borderline LVs who underwent biventricular surgical repair in comparison to those who followed univentricular palliative surgery. However, it is possible that this is due to the sample size.

Given the difficulties to evaluate small cardiac structures in the paediatric population with the settings of the available sequences, we designed a new method to improve the threedimensional visualization by modifying the 3D bSSFP sequence, with the aim of reducing the artifact created by the patient's breathing. In our study, we used iNAV, which tracks the movement of the heart within the chest, and compared it to dNAV, which tracks the diaphragm, achieving better image quality when analysing coronary arteries. We chose the coronary arteries as our target because they are small in size and their visualization using CMR is of special interest in the pediatric population, as it avoids the radiation involved in CT. The sample in this case was a heterogeneous group of pediatric patients with congenital heart defects, which reflects the population that is referred for this type of study in a clinical setting. In addition to the improvement in image quality, we observed a reduction in scan time in awake patients using iNAV versus dNAV. This may be due to the fact that the programming strategy with CRUISE assumes an efficiency of 50%, regardless of the patient's breathing pattern; while dNAV uses a capture window depending on the diaphragmatic position from 3 to 7 mm depending on the patient's weight, resulting in a variable efficiency depending on the respiratory pattern in each case. This fact is of special importance in awake patients since the efficiency can change during the acquisition of the sequence. The acquisition time reduction was 25% using iNAV versus dNAV. When analysing the patients under general anesthesia as a separate group, there was no significant difference between iNAV and dNAV in terms of time of acquisition. This is probably due to the stability of the respiratory pattern in this part of the sample.

As revealed in the subgroup analysis of vessel sharpness scores, iNAV appears to perform particularly well relative to dNAV in awake patients where statistically significant improvements were found for the RCA, LAD and LCX. However, for the entire patient cohort, including awake patients and those under general anesthesia, statistically significant coronary sharpness improvements were only observed for the RCA and LAD using iNAV. This highlights the important role of adequate respiratory motion correction in awake patients, where irregular breathing, unpredictable image quality and scan times are often observed using the conventional technique. The use of iNAV in adults with congenital heart disease has been described previously (127). However, the previously proposed iNAV technique was limited to respiratory gating using an external respiratory bellows' measurement. In contrast, the proposed iNAV described in these thesis employs inline gating using the iNAV measurements, thereby simplifying scan setup and improving gating performance. In a study conducted by Monney et al. (128), respiratory self-gating was used in 105 CHD patients with successful visualisation of the origin and proximal course of RCA, LAD and LCX in 93, 87 and 98%, respectively. In this thesis, both iNAV and dNAV achieved 100% success rate for visualization of origin and proximal course for all coronary arteries. In our study, the mid-course was visualized in 95, 89 and 94% for the RCA, LAD and LCX respectively when using iNAV. These results showed a significant difference compared to dNAV, in which mid-course visualization was only achieved in 85, 76 and 70% of the visualizations among cases, respectively.

The coronary vessel sharpness was found to be improved using iNAV compared to dNAV. This is consistent with the results reached in subjective scoring, where most of the cases had better or equal image quality in the analysis of the images acquired with iNAV in relation to dNAV. Apart from the quantifiable improvements in image quality and scan time, iNAV also provided improvements in CMRA ease-of-use as no dedicated scan planning is required for the navigator. The tracked region of interest (ROI) is defined as the local shim geometry which is typically the same for all scans throughout the CMR examination and planned to encompass the heart and great arteries. Due to the real-time iNAV reconstruction and motion feedback, the scan can be stopped and ROI re-defined if the motion tracking is deemed inadequate. However, during the study re-planning of the iNAV ROI was not necessary in any of the patients.

Although iNAV has shown improvement in visualization of the midcourse of the coronary arteries, their distal portion remains difficult to delineate using cardiac MRI. CT continues to be the technique of choice to achieve this aim, as it provides higher spatial resolution and offers the possibility of retrospective reconstruction throughout the cardiac cycle (97) (129). The limitation of the use of CT in the pediatric age is associated with the radiation it involves as well as the need to administer ionized contrast (130). For this reason, continuous improvement of the visualization of the coronary arteries using CMR is essential, particularly in children with CHD, as they constitute a vulnerable population given the need for repeated diagnostic and interventional procedures, where the definition of the proximal coronary anatomy is vital.

For the planning of the closure of the coronary fistulae, we used CT images in 3 adult patients, and cardiac magnetic resonance in the pediatric patient. An initial threedimensional representation was created for all patients, and a patient-specific model was subsequently printed. In each case, the incremental value of each diagnostic step (initially acquired image, 3D representation, and model) to the understanding of the anatomy was analyzed. When the observer was an imaging expert, the rendered image and the 3D model contributed little to the diagnosis in patients with simple coronary fistulas. However, in cases of anatomical complexity, the three-dimensional representation and the model helped the interpretation of the image and facilitated the communication of the morphology to the team of interventional cardiologists, demonstrating the importance of the physical examination of the model, especially during the planning of the procedure, for the closure of the fistula. Its simulation allows the interventionist to anticipate what type and size of device will be needed for the procedure, thus ensuring its availability on the day of the intervention and possibly reducing the time needed to perform the intervention, as occurs with other complex heart diseases (131).

### **Conclusions**

Throughout the development of this thesis, we analyzed the anatomy of the papillary muscles, comparing their morphology in patients with hypoplastic, borderline, and normal-sized left ventricles, concluding that the absence of one of the muscular supports is frequent in patients with small LV size, particularly the superolateral, and this is usually shorter in this group when it is present. In general, the inferomedial muscle usually has more than one belly and a wider base of insertion. Although we found no significant differences between patients with borderline LV who underwent a biventricular repair pathway and those who were offered univentricular palliative surgery, this may be due to the small sample size.

Despite being the ideal modality for obtaining cross-sectional images in the pediatric population due to the absence of radiation, magnetic resonance does not always achieve a detailed definition of the anatomy when trying to visualize small structures. To overcome this limitation, the 3D bSSFP sequence was optimized using a cardiac motion-based tracking methodology and compared with the usual sequence that uses diaphragmatic motion to program image acquisition. iNAV offers better quality images for coronary visualization in children with congenital or suspected heart disease. The mid-course of the coronary arteries is

more often visualized with this method. The reduction in scan time is an advantage in awake patients, particularly in children, in whom the cooperation to remain still for long periods of time is limited. In patients with suspected coronary pathology such as fistulae, CT or MRI images are essential to describe its origin, course, and drainage point. When the fistulous course is complex, the use of a 3D model helps not only to understand the route and the affected structures, but also facilitates communication between professionals and the planning of the procedure.

The creation of three-dimensional models is essential to improve the understanding of cardiac pathology and the learning of medical personnel. During the development of this thesis, a virtual library was created to provide all European hospitals with the possibility of accessing complex cases with real anatomical models, offering access to ultrasound imaging, cardiac MRI, an interactive pdf and the possibility of printing the 3D model using an STL file. The use of 3D models for educative and communication purposes is still part of our current research and its continuous development our main goal.

# **Contribuciones a Congresos durante la Tesis Doctoral**

- Time-resolved Angiography and & 3D-printing in CHD: understanding a difficult case. <u>Velasco Forte, María Nieves</u>; Byrne, Nicholas ; Valverde, Israel; Greil, Gerald F; Hussain, Tarique. SCMR Congress, 2015.
- 3D printed models for surgical planning in complex congenital heart diseases. Valverde I., Gomez G., Suarez-Mejias C., Hosseinpour A.R., <u>Velasco</u> <u>M.N.</u>,Hazekamp M., Roest A., Vazquez-Jimenez J.F, El-Rassi I., Uribe S., Gomez-Cia T. AEPC Congress 2015.
- Surgical planning in patients with complex congenital heart disease with 3D models: European multicentre study. I. Valverde; G. Gomez; <u>M.N. Velasco;</u> C. Suarez-Mejias; T. Gomez-Cia; J.A. Rivas-González; A. Méndez; A. Gonzalez-Calle; M. Hazekamp; A. Roest; Adsuar A; I. El-Rassi; T.Hussain; I. Zabala5, Ruiz-Alonso E; M.A. Tejeiro; C. Merino, J.M. Caffarena; F. Prada; S. Durairaj; B. Manso; A. Moruno; AR. Hosseinpour. Oral presentation. Spanish National Congress of Paediatric Cardiology and Congenital Heart Disease (Valladolid, May 2016). Awarded best oral presentation.
- Hearts in 3D and 4D. 3D printing Workshop "Criss-crossing your mind". Leiden, Invited oral presentation. February 2016.
- **5. 3D printing: workflow to incorporate into normal practice.** M.N. Velasco Forte. Invited oral presentation. EuroEcho Imaging, December 2016.

- 6. Patient-specific 3D printing in a complex case of heterotaxy syndrome. Nick Byrne, <u>Mari Nieves Velasco Forte</u>, David Anderson, Yaso Emmanuel, Christoph Kiesewetter, Gareth Morgan, Tarique Hussain, Israel Valverde. Society of Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Congress, 2017.
- 7. Passive Tracking Sequence with Positive Contrast using Partial Saturationfor MR-guided Cardiac Catheterisation. <u>Mari Nieves Velasco</u> <u>Forte</u>, Kuberan Pushparajah, Tobias Schaeffter, Reza Razavi, Sébastien Roujol. International Society for Magnetic Resonance in Medicine. 2017.
- Utility of 3D printing techniques for Interventional Planning. <u>Velasco Forte</u> <u>M.N.</u>, Valverde I, Byrne N, Pusphparajah K, Gomez-Ciriza G, Rosenthal E, Qureshi S, Tandon A, Razavi R, Krasemann T, Hussain T. AEPC, 2017.
- Imaging and 3D printing in planning interventions. <u>Mari Nieves Velasco</u> <u>Forte</u>, Israel Valverde. Invited oral presentation. CSI 2017.
- 10. Papillary muscles in borderline LV's: morphological differences compared to normal. Velasco Forte, María N.; Grisps, Martin; Nassar, Mohamed S; Greil, Gerald F.; Hussain, Tarique. Poster. SCMR Congress, 2015.
- 11. Borderline Left Ventricles: morphological differences in papillary muscles compared to normal. Velasco Forte M., Nassar M., Simpson J., Miller O., Hussain T. Poster. AEPC Congress 2015.

- 12. 3D printed models for interventional planning Assessment in patients with Coronary Fistula. Velasco Forte MN, Byrne N, Valverde Perez I, Ruijsink B, Krasemann T, Gomez Ciria G, Mendes I, Morgan G, Qureshi S, Hussain T. Poster presentation. Poster. AEPC (Association for European Paediatric Cardiology), Rome, June 2016.
- 13. Use of semi-automated cardiac segmentation tool improves reproducibility and speed of segmentation of contaminated MRA datasets. Tandon A.(1,2), Dyer A.K.(1,2), Byrne N.(3), Velasco Forte M.D.L.N (3), Dillenbeck J.M.(1,2), Greil G.F.(1,2), Hussain T.(1,2). AEPC, June 2016.
- 14. Steps towards automated image segmentation as part of a 3D printing pipeline in congenital heart disease. Nick Byrne, Mari Nieves Velasco Forte, Srinivas Narayan, Gerald F Greil, Israel Valverde, Tarique Hussain. Poster. SCMR (Society for Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance), Los Angeles, February 2016
- 15. "Routine 3D SSFP cine imaging for improved analysis of myocardial volumetry and deformation". Bram Ruijsink, María N Velasco Forte, Miguel S Vieira, Rene M Botnar, Tarique Hussain. SCMR Los Angeles, February 2016.
- 16. "Interventional planning using 3D models: assessment in patients with coronary fistulae". M.N. Velasco Forte, I Valverde, N. Byrne 1,2, G. Gómez Ciriza, B. Ruijsink, A. Bell, I Mendes, S. Qureshi, T Krasemann, T. Hussain.

Spanish National Congress of Paediatric Cardiology and Congenital Heart Disease (Valladolid, May 2016).

- 17. "Future perspective of catheterization in congenital heart disease: from the hybrid procedure to the solely MRI guided catheterization". aneurismático Spanish National Congress of Paediatric Cardiology and Congenital Heart Disease (Valladolid, May 2016). <u>Awarded best poster presentation.</u>
- 18. "Papillary muscles in patients with borderline left ventricles. Differences compared to normal subjects". M.N. Velasco Forte, I Valverde, M. Nassar, B. Ruijsink, N. Byrne, M. Silva Vieira, S. Narayan, J. Simpson, T. Hussain. Spanish National Congress of Paediatric Cardiology and Congenital Heart Disease (Valladolid, May 2016).
- 19. "Visualization of coronary arteries in patients with congenital heart disease using whole-heart image navigated coronary MR angiography". *aneurismático* Society of Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Congress, 2017.
- 20. "Interventional planning through 3d printing techniques". Velasco Forte M.N., Byrne N., Valverde Perez I., Pushparajah K., Razavi, R.; Rosenthal, E.; Qureshi. S; Hussain T. Society of Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Congress, 2017.
- 21. "A Passive Tracking Sequence with Positive Contrast using Partial Saturation (pSAT) for MR-guided Cardiac Catheterisation". Mari Nieves

Velasco Forte, Kuberan Pushparajah, Tobias Schaeffter, Reza Razavi, Sébastien Roujol. Society of Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Congress, 2017.

- 22. "MRI-guided cardiac catheterisation using a partial saturation (pSAT) approach in patients with congenital heart disease". Mari Nieves Velasco Forte, Sébastien Roujol, Kuberan Pushparajah, Nick Byrne, Bram Ruijsink, Israel Valverde, Tobias Schaeffter, Reza Razavi. Society of Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Congress, 2017.
- 23. Visualization of coronary arteries in patients with congenital heart disease using whole-heart image navigated coronary MR angiography. Mari Nieves Velasco Forte, Kuberan Pushparajah, Srinavas Narayan, Sujeev Mathur, Israel Valverde, Aaron Bell, Hannah Bellsham-Revell, Reza Razavi, Markus Henningson. AEPC 2017.
- 24. MRI-guided catheterization in children and young adults with congenital heart disease using the partial saturation (pSAT) sequence: Initial findings in diagnostic procedures. Mari Nieves Velasco Forte, Sébastien Roujol, Bram Ruijsink, Israel Valverde, Phuoc Duong, Sascha Krueger, Tobias Schaeffter, Steffen Weiss, Tarique Hussain, Kuberan Pushparajah, Reza Razavi. Society of Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Congress, 2018.
- 25. Anything but Open-and-Shut: Patient-Specific 3D Printed Heart Valves Within Models of Congenital Heart Disease. N. Byrne, M. Velasco Forte, A.

Gomez, K. Pushparajah, I. Valverde. Society of Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Congress, 2018.

- **26. Can meteorological change impact the incidence of Kawasaki disease?** Mari Nieves Velasco Forte, Robert Tulloh. AEPC Conference, 2021
- 27. Transcatheter closure of SVASD State of the Art. Cardiovascular CT for case selection. Invited lecture. CardioEgypt Conference, 2022.
- **28. Right Heart Abnormalities.** Tricuspid atresia, tricuspid dysplasia and Ebstein's anomaly. Invited lecture. Fetal Cardiology Course, Bristol 2022.

### 29. MRI-guided Right and Left Heart catheterisation in CHD. SCMR online 2021

- 30. Ventricular ectopics in the context of Fetal Heart Block needing salbutamol treatment. Mari Nieves Velasco Forte, Alexandra Matthews, Angela Hobbs, Victoria Bills, Camilla Snook, Patricia Caldas. AEPC Conference 2022.
- 31. Timothy syndrome and anaesthesia: a case of an extremely long QT. Alexandre Matthews, Mari Nieves Velasco Forte, Cecilia Gonzalez Corcia, Graham Stuart. AEPC Conference 2022.
- 32. Clinical Fetal Cardiac MRI. Invited Lecture. ISMRM, London, 2022

# Becas obtenidas para el desarrollo de la tesis

Beca de la AEPC (Association For European Paediatric And Congenital Cardiology) concedida en 2017. Colaboración multicéntrica de la Universidad de Sevilla, Universidad de Leyden y King's College London para la investigación en el campo de la impresión tridimensional en cardiopatías congénitas complejas y la elaboración de una biblioteca de acceso internacional.

### Publicaciones para la tesis doctoral

- Three-dimensional analysis of papillary muscles' morphology in borderline left ventricles. <u>Velasco Forte, Mari Nieves</u>; Nassar, Mohamed; Byrne, Nick; Silva Vieira, Miguel; Ruijsink, Bram; Valverde Pérez, Israel; Simpson, John; Hussain, Tarique. Cardiology in the Young, 2017. Sep; 27(7):1369-1376. PMID: 28782496. (91)
- 2. Visualization of coronary arteries in paediatric patients using whole-heart coronary magnetic resonance angiography: comparison of image-navigation and the standard approach for respiratory motion compensation. <u>Mari Nieves Velasco Forte</u>, Israel Valverde; Nanda Prabhu, Srinivas Ananth Narayan, Aaron Bell, Sujeev Mathur, Reza Razavi, Tarique Hussain, Kuberan Pushparajah, Markus Henningsson. Journal of Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance. 2019 Feb 25;21(1):13. doi: 10.1186/s12968-019-0525-8. (92)
- 3. 3D printed models in patients with coronary artery fistulas: anatomical assessment and interventional planning. <u>Velasco Forte, Mari Nieves</u>; Byrne, Nick; Valverde Perez, Israel; Bell, Aaron; Gómez-Ciriza, Gorka; Krasemann, Thomas; Sievert, Horst; Simpson, John; Pushparajah, Kuberan; Razavi, Reza; Qureshi, Shakeel; Hussain, Tarique. Eurointervention, 2017 Oct 13;13(9):e1080-e1083. PMID: 28555593. (67)
- 4. Living the heart in three dimensions: applications of 3D printing in CHD. <u>Velasco Forte MN</u>, Hussain T, Roest A, Gomez G, Jongbloed M, Simpson J, Pushparajah K, Byrne N, Valverde I. Cardiol Young. 2019 Jun 14:1-11. doi:

# 10.1017/S1047951119000398. (72)

## **Otras publicaciones**

- The use of 3D-printed models in patient communication: a scoping review. Gemma Traynor, Andrew Shearn, Elena G Milano, Maria Victoria Ordonez, Mari Nieves Velasco Forte, Massimo Caputo, Silvia Schievano, Hannah Mustard, Jo Wray, Giovanni Biglino. Journal of 3D printing in medicine, 19 January 2022. 10.2217/3dp-2021-0021.
- 2. Criss-cross heart three-dimensional printed models in medical education: a multi-center study on their value as a supporting tool to conventional imaging. Valverde, Israel; Gomez, Gorka; Byrne, Nick; Anwar, Shafkat; Silva, Miguel Ángel; Martín Talavera, María; Pushparajah, Kuberan; Velasco Forte, María Nieves. Anat Sci Educ. 2021 May 18. doi: 10.1002/ase.2105
- 3. Affordable Three-Dimensional Printed Heart Models. Gorka Gómez-Ciriza, Tomás Gómez-Cía, José Antonio Rivas-González, Mari Nieves Velasco Forte and Israel Valverde. Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine, 2021. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcvm.2021.642011
- 4. MRI for Guided Right and Left Heart Cardiac Catheterization: A Prospective Study in Congenital Heart Disease. Mari Nieves Velasco Forte, Sébastien Roujol, PhD,1 Bram Ruijsink, Israel Valverde, Phuoc Duong, Nick Byrne, Sascha Krueger, Steffen Weiss, PhD,5 Yousef Arar, Surendranath R. Veeram Reddy, Tobias Schaeffter, Tarique Hussain, Reza Razavi, Kuberan Pushparajah. JMRI, 2020. DOI: 10.1002/jmri.27426

- 5. Synergy in the heart: RV systolic function plays a key role in optimizing LV performance during exercise. Ruijsink B, <u>Velasco Forte MN</u>, Duong P, Asner L, Pushparajah K, Frigiola A, Nordsletten D, Razavi R.Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2020 Sep 1;319(3):H642-H650. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00256.2020. Epub 2020 Aug 7.
- 6. Sinus Venosus Defects. Anatomic Variants and Transcatheter Closure Feasibility Using Virtual Reality Planning. Animesh Tandon, Barbara E.U. Burkhardt, Maria Batsis, Thomas M. Zellers, <u>Mari Nieves Velasco Forte</u>, Israel Valverde, Ryan P. McMahan, Kristine J. Guleserian, Gerald F. Greil and Tarique Hussain. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging. <u>Volume 12, Issue 5, May 2019</u>.
- 7. Creating three dimensional models of the right ventricular outflow tract: influence of contrast, sequence, operator, and threshold. Barbara E. U. Burkhardt, Nicholas K. Brown. Jaclyn E. Carberry. <u>Marí Nieves Velasco Forte</u>, Nicholas Byrne, Gerald Greil, Tarique Hussain. Animesh Tandon. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019 Nov;35(11):2067-2076. doi: 10.1007/s10554-019-01646-1. Epub 2019 Jun 15.
- 8. Early experience of transcatheter correction of superior sinus venosus atrial septal defect with partial anomalous pulmonary venous drainage. Riahi M, <u>Velasco Forte MN</u>, Byrne N, Hermuzi A, Jones M, Baruteau AE, Valverde I, Qureshi SA, Rosenthal E.EuroIntervention. 2018 Oct 20;14(8):868-876. doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-18-00304.PMID: 30012542

- 9. Evaluation of a modified Cheatham-Platinum stent for the treatment of aortic coarctation by finite element modelling. Burkhardt BE, Byrne N, <u>Velasco Forte MN</u>, Iannaccone F, De Beule M, Morgan GJ, Hussain T.JRSM Cardiovasc Dis. 2018 Apr 27;7:2048004018773958. doi: 10.1177/2048004018773958. eCollection 2018 Jan-Dec.PMID: 29760913
- 10. Cover image. <u>Mari Nieves Velasco Forte</u>; Nick Byrne; Israel Valverde; Gorka Gomez Ciriza; Antony Hermuzi; Pimpak Prachasilchai; Gur Mainzer; Kuberan Pushparajah; Markus Henningson; Tarique Hussain; Shakeel Qureshi; Eric Rosenthal. JACC Cardiovascular Imaging. February 2018.
- 11. Interventional correction of Sinus Venosus Atrial Septal Defect and Partial Anomalous Pulmonary Venous Drainage: Procedural planning using 3D printed models. <u>Mari Nieves Velasco Forte</u>; Nick Byrne; Israel Valverde; Gorka Gomez Ciriza; Antony Hermuzi; Pimpak Prachasilchai; Gur Mainzer; Kuberan Pushparajah; Markus Henningson; Tarique Hussain; Shakeel Qureshi; Eric Rosenthal. JACC Cardiovascular Imaging 2017. PMID: 28917677.
- 12. Improved Passive Catheter Tracking with Positive Contrast for MR-guided Cardiac Catheterization using Partial Saturation (pSAT). <u>Velasco Forte,</u> <u>María de las Nieves</u>; Pushparajah, Kuberan; Schaeffter, Tobias; Valverde Perez, Israel; Rhode, Kawal; Ruijsink, Bram; Alhrishy, Mazen; Chiribiri, Amadeo; Ismail, Tevfik; Hussain, Tarique; Razavi, Reza; Roujol, Sébastien. JCMR, 2017. 2017 Aug 15;19(1):60. doi: 10.1186/s12968-017-0368-0. PMID: 28806996.
- 13. A systematic review of image segmentation methodology, used in the additive manufacture of patient-specific 3D printed models of the cardiovascular system. <u>Byrne N, Velasco Forte M, Tandon A, Valverde I, Hussain T</u>. JRSM Cardiovascular Disease. 2016 Apr 29. PMID: 27170842.
- 14. Semi-automatic Cardiac and Respiratory Gated MRI for Cardiac Assessment During Exercise. Bram Ruijsink, Esther Puyol-Antón, Muhammad Usman, Joshua van Amerom, Phuoc Duong, <u>Mari Nieves Velasco Forte</u>, Kuberan Pushparajah, Alessandra Frigiola, David A. Nordsletten, Andrew P. King, Reza Razavi. <u>Molecular Imaging, Reconstruction and Analysis of Moving</u> <u>Body Organs, and Stroke Imaging and Treatment</u>, 2017. pp 86-95. Conference paper.
- 15. Use of A Semi-Automated Cardiac Segmentation Tool Improves Reproducibility And Speed Of Segmentation Of Contaminated Right Heart Magnetic Resonance Angiography. Tandon A, Byrne N, Nieves Velasco Forte <u>M de L</u>, Zhang S, Dyer AK, Dillenbeck JM, Greil GF, Hussain T. The international journal of cardiovascular imaging, 2016 Aug;32(8):1273-9. doi: 10.1007/s10554-016-0906-0.
- 16. Timely Pulmonary Valve Replacement May Allow Preservation Of Left Ventricular Circumferential Strain In Patients With Tetralogy of Fallot. Barbara Elisabeth Ursula Burkhardt, <u>Mari Nieves Velasco Forte</u>, Saravanan Durairaj, Isma Rafiq, Israel Valverde, Animesh Tandon, John

Simpson, Tarique Hussain. Frontiers in Pediatrics, 2017. 2017 Feb 28;5:39. doi: 10.3389/fped.2017.00039. PMID: 28293551.

- 17. Three-dimensional printed models for surgical planning of complex congenital heart defects: an international multicentre study. Valverde I, Gomez-Ciriza G, Hussain T, Suarez-Mejias C, <u>Velasco-Forte MN</u>, Byrne N, Ordoñez A, Gonzalez-Calle A, Anderson D, Hazekamp MG, Roest AAW, Rivas-Gonzalez J, Uribe S, El-Rassi I, Simpson J, Miller O, Ruiz E, Zabala I, Mendez A, Manso B, Gallego P, Prada F, Cantinotti M, Ait-Ali L, Merino C, Parry A, Poirier N, Greil G, Razavi R, Gomez-Cia T, Hosseinpour AR. European journal of cardiothoracic surgery, 2017 Dec 1;52(6):1139-1148. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezx208. PMID: 28977423.
- 18. NT-proBNP as Marker of Ventricular Dilatation and Pulmonary Regurgitation After Surgical Correction of Tetralogy of Fallot: A MRI Validation Study. Paolino A, Hussain T, Pavon A, Velasco MN, Uribe S, Ordoñez A, Valverde I. Pediatr Cardiol. 2016 Nov 21. Pediatr Cardiol. 2017 Feb;38(2):324-331. doi: 10.1007/s00246-016-1516-2. Epub 2016 Nov 21. PMID: 27872995.
- 19. 3D Printed Models for Planning Endovascular Stenting in Transverse Aortic Arch Hypoplasia. Israel Valverde, Gorka Gomez, Jose Felix Coserria, Cristina Suarez-Mejias, Sergio Uribe, Julio Sotelo, <u>Maria Nieves Velasco</u>, Jose Santos De Soto, Amir-Reza Hosseinpour and Tomas Gomez-Cia. Catheterization and

Cardiovascular Interventions. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2015 May;85(6):1006-

12. doi: 10.1002/ccd.25810. Epub 2015 Feb 12. PMID: 25557983

## **Apéndice I**

Protocolo para la evaluación de la utilidad de modelos 3D en cardiopatías congénitas

entregado para la valoración por el comité ético.

### PROTOCOL TITLE:

## 3D MODELS FOR INTERVENTIONAL AND SURGICAL PLANNING IN CONGENITAL HEART DISEASE

### Sponsor

Name: Jennifer Boston Address: Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust R&D Department 16<sup>th</sup> Floor, Tower Wing Great Maze pond London SE1 9RT Telephone: Ext Tel: 0207188981; 1Int tel: 89811 Fax: 02071881295 Email: Jennifer.Boston@gstt.nhs.uk

### **Chief Investigator**

Name: Kuberan Pushparajah Address: F06 Evelina London Children's Hospital, Westminster Bridge Road, London SE1 7EH Telephone: 020 71884563 Fax: 020 7188 4556 Email: kuberan.pushparajah@kcl.ac.uk

### Name and address of Co-Investigator(s), Statistician, Laboratories etc

Name: Mari Nieves Velasco Forte Address: F4 North Wing, Saint Thomas' Hospital, Westminster Bridge Road, SE1 7EH Telephone: 07593 608069 Email: <u>mnieves.velasco@kcl.ac.uk</u>

Name: Israel Valverde Address: The Rayne Institute, F04 Lambeth Wing St Thomas' Hospital. Westminster Bridge Road, London SE1 7EH Telephone: 07849912341 / +34 658823820 Email: isra.valverde@kcl.ac.uk

Name: Nicholas Byrne Address: F03 Lambeth Wing St Thomas' Hospital. Westminster Bridge Road, London SE1 7EH Telephone: 07717603891 Email: <u>nicholas.byrne@kcl.ac.uk</u>

### **Study Synopsis**

Title of clinical trial	3d Models For Interventional And Surgical Planning In Congenital Heart Disease
Protocol Short Title/Acronym	3D Models In Congenital Heart Disease
Study Phase if not mentioned in title	N/A
Sponsor name	GSTT
Chief Investigator	Dr Kuberan Pushparajah
REC number	N/A
Medical condition or disease under investigation	N/A
Purpose of clinical trial	Assessment of the utility of 3D models for interventional and surgical planning in Congenital Heart Disease
Primary objective	To analyse the utility of the use of 3D models for interventional and surgical in congenital heart disease
Secondary objective (s)	N/A
Trial Design	Observational study
Endpoints	<ul> <li>Primary endopoints:</li> <li>3D models are useful for interventional and surgical planning in patients with complex congenital heart disease.</li> <li>Secondary endpoints:</li> </ul>

	<ul> <li>To create patient specific processed data in a computer file format required for 3D pri nting. These are known as STL files (STereoLithography).</li> <li>To create dedicated questionnaires to evaluate the benefit of the 3D models</li> <li>To study reliability of 3D printed models. This will involve a correlation study of measurements obtained from conventional 2D raw data as compared to those obtained from 3D imaging files, and to compare these against the 3D printed hearts</li> </ul>
Sample Size	An initial pilot sample size of 50 will be used. This data will be used to determine the final sample size of a future study
Summary of eligibility criteria	Patients with congenital heart disease from the paediatric cardiology unit or Adult congenital heart disease unit referred for a cardiac MRI, MDCT or 3D echocardiogram
Version and date of final protocol	Version 1.0 Date: 12.04.2016
Version and date of protocol amendments	N/A

### 1. Background & Rationale

This should comprise a brief description of the proposed study, a description of the population to be studied, the investigational product(s), device(s) or radiation exposure, a summary of findings from non-clinical studies that potentially have clinical significance, and from previous clinical trials that are relevant to the trial. A summary of the known and potential risks and benefits to human subjects should be presented, together with a justification for the choice of route of administration, dosage, dosage regimen, and treatment period(s). This should be supported by appropriate references to the published literature on the disease or condition, its treatment and the use of the study drug for the indication. Data from previous studies as well as any other information that provides background for the trial should be cited. A statement that the trial will be conducted in compliance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki (specifying which amendment), the principles of GCP and all (if any) applicable regulatory requirements is essential. It should also be stated that the protocol is to be submitted for approval by an NHS Research Ethics Committee (REC). The name of the Ethics Committee must be stated if the protocol has already been submitted to the Committee.

Complex congenital heart disease (CHD) can represent a challenge for surgical and interventional planning. Moreover, their anatomical details can be difficult to understand for trainees. In these cases, cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) and multi-detector computed tomography (MDCT) are common diagnostic tools and are usually requested for further assessment when the need for a new therapeutic step is approaching. Both imaging techniques are commonly used for 3D printing by segmenting the region of

interest depending on the patient's disease and medical history (68). Recent publications have shown their usefulness in surgical and interventional cardiac procedures (132-137).

Their benefit has also been tested when explaining pathology and mechanisms of disease to patients and to their relatives (134).

Although there is an increasing amount of reports in literature about their usefulness as medical tools, little is known about the accuracy of the segmentation-to-print process, the influence of the several available printer technologies or on the educational value of 3D printed models.

In this project, we will assess their utility for surgical and interventional planning. 3D models would be created from patient's imaging data acquired for clinical purposes (MRI, MDCT and 3D echocardiography).

Their usefulness will be evaluated by questionnaires that will be completed by surgeons and paediatric cardiologists from GSTT.

This study will be conducted in compliance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki (1996), and in accordance with all applicable regulatory requirements including but not limited to the Research Governance Framework, Trust and Research Office policies and procedures and any subsequent amendments.

## 2 Trial Objectives, Design and Statistics

### 2.1. Trial Objectives

This should comprise specific statements of the purpose (ie aims and objectives) of the study, together with a definition of the primary (and secondary) endpoints of the study.

(See also 4.1.1 and 4.1.2 of this protocol)

The hypothesis of the study is the capability of 3D printed models to improve planning for surgical and interventional procedures.

### Research questions:

- 1. Are 3D models useful for surgical and interventional planning?
- 2. How reliable are our 3D print models?

Primary endpoint:

• 3D models are useful for interventional and surgical in complex congenital heart disease.

### Secondary endpoint:

To create patient specific processed data in a computer file format required for 3D printing. These are known as STL files (STereoLithography).

• To create dedicated questionnaires to evaluate the benefit of the 3D models

• To study reliability of 3D printed models. This will involve a correlation study of measurements obtained from conventional 2D raw data as compared to those obtained from 3D imaging files, and to compare these against the 3D printed hearts

### 2.2 Trial Design & Flowchart

A description of the design of trial to be conducted (eg double-blind, single-blind, open label, placebo-controlled, parallel-group, double-dummy, cross-over, etc.) should be given. Please also include a schematic diagram (flow chart) of trial procedures and stages is desirable as it is particularly useful for determining activities involved during each clinic visit (eg blood tests or scans, treatment, diary completion, adverse event monitoring, physical examination etc).

### Methods:

### 1. Congenital Heart Disease and Patient population:

Retrospective study including patients with complex congenital heart disease within any age range. Only patients in whom a 3D model has been requested by their referring cardiac surgeon or cardiology consultant in order to plan the surgery or catheterization will be included.

### 2. Image data

Retrospective imaging data will be collected either from high resolution MRI, MDCT and 3D echocardiography where available. 3D echocardiograms are ideal for the assessment of valvar structures and septal defects for surgical planning (138) (139) (140). Early experience has shown it is possible to utilise 3D echocardiogram datasets for 3D printing but this is yet to be improved (141).

### 3. 3D model creation

### a. Segmentation

Segmentation is the process by which a 3D virtual model is generated with the structures and areas of interest. It is based on the isolation of the cardiac structures of interest such as the aorta and the ventricles and exclusion of other non-relevant such as bones or pulmonary arteries from the source medical images . For this task there are several commercial software packages such as AYRA (142) or Mimics (143). Usually commercial software have a pre-processing phase in which the image is standardized and filtered to eliminate noise. Then an enhancement of the contrast is applied to increase the intensity difference between the blood pool (white) and the myocardium and vessel wall (grey). After this pre-processing, the image is segmented using thresholding and region growing methodologies. There is normally a 2D DICOM viewer with multiplanar reformatting where the user can see the selected anatomical structures of interest. Then the software creates a 3D polygonal mesh that can be visualized from different distances and perspectives.

### b. Computer Aided Design

The segmented geometry (virtual model) is exported in a standard fabrication format as stereolithography file (.stl), widely used for rapid prototyping, computer-aided design (CAD) and manufacturing. It is necessary to manipulate the mesh created to transform it into a valid file for the rapid prototyping machine. Holes, roughness, incorrect mesh density, and other problems of the mesh are corrected, and then the wall thickness of the model is defined to simulate, in as realistic way as possible, the vessel walls. Supports and reinforcements to assure the correct fabrication of the model are also included in the 3D geometry.

### 4.3D printing

We aim to use 3D polyjet printing and Fused Deposition Modelling to print the models. Fused deposition technology uses a process whereby a filament is melted and deposited over a bed where it solidifies forming a solid layer of material. There are different polymers that can be used in this kind of machines, some of them are rigid (PLA, ABS, HIPS, Nylon, etc) and others are flexible (MakerBot Flexible Filament, NinjaFlex Filament, Recreus Filaflex). Printing temperature varies from 195C to 240C and elongation at break from 160% to > 300%. Both kinds of polymers are processed melted in an extrusion nozzle that is moved under the machine code commands creating a 0.1-0.25 mm Z-layer. Each layer deposited over the previous solidifies, building a 3D solid structure. Heart model walls can have different thickness; this range means that the models have different distensibility and behaviour when they are simulated as a real heart in the catheterization room. The process needs about 600 layers to build a 15 cm height model.

3D polyjet printing consists on a photopolymer technology that simulates rubber, polypropylene and standard manufacturing plastics. It utilizes sing 16-micron layer resolution. The 3D printer jets and instantly UV-cures tiny droplets of liquid photopolymer. Fine layers accumulate on the build tray to create a 3D model. Where overhangs or complex shapes require support, the 3D printer adds a removable gel-like support material, which can be washed away later on.

### 5. Studying reliability of the 3D printed models

Several anatomical landmarks will be defined, and dimensions measured in 2D imaging files and 3D STL files. Results will be compared between two techniques and between the printed models.

# 6. Studying benefit of the 3D printed models for interventional and surgical planning.

Dedicated questionnaires for testing the usefulness of 3D printed models will be performed to the professionals involved (please see Questionnaire for assessment in cardiac interventions). A consent form has been designed for doctors and other members of the team to participate in the study (please see Consent form for participants).

### 2.3 Trial Flowchart

Please include a time/event matrix (flow chart) of trial procedures and stages. This desirable as it is particularly useful for determining activities involved during each clinic visit (eg blood tests or scans, treatment, diary completion, adverse event monitoring, physical examination etc).

### **FLOWCHART:**

STEP 1: <u>Imaging acquisition:</u> MRI/ echocardiogram/ MDCT

> STEP 2: <u>3D model creation:</u> - Segmentation - Printing - Accuracy assessment with standard imaging techniques

> > STEP 3: <u>Assessment of model by</u> <u>cardiac team</u> (MDT meeting)

> > > STEP 4: - <u>Questionnaire</u> to be filled in by professionals involved - <u>Consent form</u> for used of the data

> > > > STEP 5: - Analysis of the <u>results</u> of the questionnaire

### **2.4 Trial Statistics**

A description of the measures taken to avoid, or at least minimize, bias should be given. Specifically, this normally means describing the procedure(s) for randomisation and blinding. A description of the statistical methods to be employed, including timing of any planned interim analyses should also be provided. The number of subjects to be enrolled (in multicentre trials, the numbers of subjects for each site) should be stated, together with the rationale for the sample size (the "power calculation"). The level of significance that is to be used in each trial analysis must be stipulated, together with the procedure(s) for accounting for any missing, unused, and spurious data. Procedures for reporting any deviation from the original statistical plan should be described and justified. The data set for any analysis must be clearly stipulated (eg "all subjects", "randomised subjects", "intent to treat") and the population(s) should be clearly defined.

Statistical analysis will be aimed to:

- Assess the utility of 3D models for trainees regarding CHD. For this purpose, dedicated questionnaires to evaluate the benefit of the digital and hands-on 3D print models will be created.

- Study reliability of 3D printed models by performing a correlation study of measurements obtained from conventional 2D raw data as compared to those obtained from 3D imaging files.

### 2.4.1 Sample Size

An initial pilot sample size of 50 will be used. This data will be used to determine the final sample size.

### 2.4.2 Randomisation

N/A. Only patients in whom a 3D model is required for clinical purposes will be included.

### 2.4.3 Analysis

Statistical analysis will be performed for assessment of the utility of the 3D models in terms of teaching strategies and their accuracy and reliability when compared to imaging modalities (echocardiography/MRI/CT).

This will be performed by the members of the working team.

### 3. Selection and Withdrawal of Subjects 3.1 Inclusion Criteria

This section should contain details of age, sex, disease, prior treatment constraints etc., under which a subject is deemed to be suitable (eligible) to participate in the trial. This also includes healthy volunteers and any "control" groups etc. Each such "group" should be defined separately. Informed consent to participate (preferably written and witnessed) must be stated as an inclusion criterion. A simple list format is the preferred style.

- Congenital heart disease (CHD): patients with any kind of congenital heart defect in which a 3D model is clinically indicated and has been requested by their referring cardiac surgeon or paediatric cardiologist or for teaching purposes.
- Age: any patient with CHD will be included from newborns to adulthood.
- Patients will be included retrospectively (those in whom a 3D model has been requested by their referring consultant or for teaching purposes)

## 3.2 Exclusion Criteria

This section should contain details of age, sex, disease, prior treatment constraints etc., under which a subject is considered to be unsuitable for inclusion into the study population. (Examples frequently include exposure to prior radiotherapy in cancer trials, and participation in a trial with an investigational product within the previous three months in pharmacokinetics trials). A simple list format is the preferred style.

N/A. All patients in whom a 3D model has been requested will be included.

### 3.3 Withdrawal of Subjects

Please provide details of when and how to withdraw subjects from the trial or investigational product treatment. It is essential that you specify the type and timing of the data to be collected for withdrawn subjects and indicate whether (and if so, how) withdrawn subjects are to be replaced, as well as arrangements for safety assessment follow-up of any subjects withdrawn from the trial as a result of (Serious) Adverse Events.

N/A

### 4 Assessment of Efficacy 4.1 Efficacy Parameters

Describe the measures that will be used to determine the efficacy of treatment (eg glucose, blood pressure, tumour reduction etc). Primary efficacy parameters should be stated first, then any secondary parameters and "surrogate markers" listed in 4.1.2.

### 4.1.1 Primary Efficacy Parameters

- The usefulness of the 3D printed models will be performed using questionnaires (please see "Questionnaire: 3D models for interventional and surgical planning in congenital heart disease. Version 1, date 12.04.2016")

- The reliability of 3D printed models will be assessed by performing a correlation study of measurements obtained from conventional 2D raw data as compared to those obtained from 3D imaging files.

# 5 Assessment of Safety5.1 Specification, Timing and Recording of Safety Parameters.

Describe the measures that will be used to determine subject safety during the study. These will include physical examination, blood tests and adverse event reporting. Obviously, there will be close correlation with efficacy testing intervals and efficacy blood tests etc. In this section the tests that to be performed for assessing the safety of the subject should be appropriate to the treatment (eg WBC and platelets in chemotherapy, LFTs if there is a known or suspected risk of hepatotoxicity, U&Es if there is a risk of renal problems etc), although "general" assessments from FBC or SMAC would be acceptable. As with efficacy measures, please stipulate (ie repeat even if given above) the times at which safety evaluations will be conducted (Please do <u>not</u> write "see above" in this section; please copy & paste from 4.2 as and where appropriate).

This is a retrospective observational study with no intrusion into normal clinical approach to the patient.

### 5.2 Procedures for Recording and Reporting Adverse Events

No adverse events are expected given that this is an observational study that would be using retrospective imaging data.

### 6. Trial Steering Committee

Define function of committee and list names etc

No steering committee will be created.

### 7. Direct Access to Source Data and Documents

The sponsor should ensure that it is specified in the protocol (or reference is made to another written agreement) that the investigator(s) and the institution(s) will permit trial-related monitoring, audits, REC review, and regulatory inspections (where appropriate) by providing direct access to source data and other documents (ie patients' case sheets, blood test reports, X-ray reports, histology reports etc).

- MRI or MDCT data will be anonymized and analysed in the workstations provided in the Evelina London Children's Hospital by the members of the direct care team of the patient.
- Mimics® software will be used for segmentation (only anonymised data would be used with this purpose)

### 8. Quality Assurance, Data Handling, Publication Policy and Finance

Give details as to how QC will be maintained, data handling procedures, publication policy and finance.

Imaging data will be taken retrospectively. Only patients in whom a 3D model has been requested for clinical reasons will be part of the study. We expect the data to be published in a medical journal. Therefore, no additional costs are expected.







### PARTICIPANTS CONSENT FORM

### Study Title: <u>3D MODELS FOR INTERVENTIONAL AND SURGICAL PLANNING IN</u> <u>CONGENITAL HEART DISEASE</u>

I agree with the answers given in the questionnaire that I have filled in to be published for research purposes

I confirm that I have read and understood the Staff Information Sheet Version 1.0 dated 12/04/2016 for the above study

I agree to take part in the study

Name: Date: Signature:

Name of person requesting consent: Date: Role: Signature:

### Apéndice II – Artículos incluidos en la tesis

*Cardiology in the Young* 2017; Page 1 of 8 doi:10.1017/S1047951117000439

© Cambridge University Press, 2017

**Original** Article

### Morphological three-dimensional analysis of papillary muscles in borderline left ventricles

Mari N. Velasco Forte,<sup>1,2</sup> Mohamed Nassar,<sup>1,3</sup> Nick Byrne,<sup>1</sup> Miguel Silva Vieira,<sup>1</sup> Israel V. Pérez,<sup>1,2,4</sup> Bram Ruijsink,<sup>1</sup> John Simpson,<sup>1,2</sup> Tarique Hussain<sup>1,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Division of Imaging Science, King's College London BHF Centre, Biomedical Research Centre; <sup>2</sup>Department of Congenital Heart Disease, Evelina London Children's Hospital, Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom; <sup>3</sup>Cardiothoracic Surgery Department, Alexandria University, Alexandria, Egypt; <sup>4</sup>Cardiovascular Pathology Unit, Institute of Biomedicine of Seville (IBIS), Virgen del Rocio University Hospital/CSIC/University of Seville, Seville, Spain; <sup>5</sup>Department of Pediatrics, UT Southwestern Medical Centre, Dallas, Texas, United States of America

Abstract Objective: Mitral valve anatomy has a significant impact on potential surgical options for patients with hypoplastic or borderline left ventricle. Papillary muscle morphology is a major component regarding this aspect. The purpose of this study was to use cardiac magnetic resonance to describe the differences in papillary muscle anatomy between normal, borderline, and hypoplastic left ventricles. Methods: We carried out a retrospective, observational cardiac magnetic resonance study of children (median age 5.36 years) with normal (n = 30), borderline (n = 22), or hypoplastic (n = 13) left ventricles. Borderline and hypoplastic cases had undergone an initial hybrid procedure. Morphological features of the papillary muscles, location, and arrangement were analysed and compared across groups. Results: All normal ventricles had two papillary muscles with narrow pedicles; however, 18% of borderline and 46% of hypoplastic cases had a single papillary muscle, usually the inferomedial type. In addition, in borderline or hypoplastic ventricles, the supporting pedicle occasionally displayed a wide insertion along the ventricular wall. The length ratio of the superolateral support was significantly different between groups (normal:  $0.46 \pm 0.08$ ; borderline:  $0.39 \pm 0.07$ ; hypoplastic:  $0.36 \pm 0.1$ ; p=0.009). No significant difference, however, was found when analysing the inferomedial type ( $0.42\pm0.09$ ;  $0.38\pm0.07$ ;  $0.39 \pm 0.22$ , p = 0.39). The angle subtended between supports was also similar among groups ( $113^{\circ} \pm 17^{\circ}$ ;  $111^{\circ} \pm 51^{\circ}$  and  $114^{\circ} \pm 57^{\circ}$ ; p=0.99). A total of eight children with borderline left ventricle underwent biventricular repair. There were no significant differentiating features for papillary muscle morphology in this subgroup. Conclusions: The superolateral support can be shorter or absent in borderline or hypoplastic left ventricle cases. The papillary muscle pedicles in these patients often show a broad insertion. These changes have important implications on surgical options and should be described routinely.

Keywords: Hypoplastic left heart syndrome; borderline left ventricle; cardiac magnetic resonance; papillary muscles

Received: 9 September 2016; Accepted: 16 February 2017

URING FETAL DEVELOPMENT, BOTH THE ATRIOventricular valve leaflets and the chordae tendinae are derived from the endocardial

Correspondence to: T. Hussain, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas Children's Medical Center, D2.433 1935 Medical District Drive, Dallas, TX 75390, United States of America. Tel: (001) 214-456-0647; Fax: (001) 214-456-6154; E-mail: tarique@doctors.org.uk cushions. From the trabecular muscle of the left ventricle arise compacting columns that form a muscular ridge. The anterior and posterior part of this ridge will become the papillary muscles by a process called delamination, which consists of a gradual loosening of muscle. Therefore, in normal patients, papillary muscles are organised as two discrete groups of papillary muscles, which arise

Downloaded from https://www.cambridge.org/core. King's College London, on 17 Apr 2017 at 17:19:25, subject to the Cambridge Core terms of use, available at https://www.cambridge.org/core/terms. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1047951117000439

from the apocal two-thirds of the left ventricular wall. The rendinous confa extend from their tips. In pormatal life, papillary muscles hold a superolateral and infernmential position.<sup>1</sup> We have chosen in use this consistent and anatomically correct termenology, rather than the traditional misleading terms annerolaural and posteromedial.

In necropsy studies, considerable anatomical varia bility of the papillary muscles has been observed. Each pupillary muscle may be viewed as a major munk from which a variable number of heads or fingers project. According to Roberts and Cohen,3 the superviseral papillary mascle usually consists of a single major muscle group (75% of cases), whereas the inferomedial papillary muscle often consists of two or three major muscle groups (65%). The base-to-apex lengths of the papillary muscles also vary considerably.

In normal left ventricles, papillary muscles arise at the junction of the middle and lower thirds of the left ventricle. If malpositioned, they may arise from the upper third of the ventricular wall, causing inflow steresit.7 The most frequent congenital papillary muscle malformation is the occurrence of only a single muscle, which may be the most common cause of congenital mittal statesis. In addition to this, asymmetric papillary muscles can develop when one of the two do not cornextly delaminate from the ventricular wall.1 An accessory pepillary muscle is also a common variant but is esually of no functional significance.\* A true parachater minal value is a relatively narr abnormality, resulting from abnormal compaction of the left ventricular myocardium. In this article, we describe the use of cardiac magnetic assenance to assess popullary muscle morphology and demonstrate how this varies between normal, bordetline, and hypoplastic left vemricles.

#### Materials and methods

This was a single-institution, retrospective, observational study. Institutional Review Board approval was obtained before commencing the study.

Carchae magnetic resumance is otilised in a wide range of patients to assess the anatomy and function of the heart and the great vesaels. All canliac magnotic resonance scans were performed on a 1.5-T Achieva clinical magnetic resonance scanner (Philips Healthcare, Best, The Netherlands). General anaes thesia was administered when required according to patient age and cooperation.

Parients with borderline left ventricles have a cardiac magnetic resonance as part of their diagnostic study before undergoing surgery and during their follow-upaccording to the institutional protocol. A selection of tranchard short-axis cines and three-dimensional, whole-hoart, mudy-state, free-procession sequences<sup>4,5</sup> were saed to assess the position of the papillary muscles, their

length ratio - that is, length of papillary muscles/length of the left ventricle - the angle between both popillary. muscles, the number of major muscle groups, and the characteristics of their insertion.

A whole-heart, three-dimensional, steady-state, free-precession sequence was acquired in a segittal orientation (rejecticion time molecho time ma, 5.4/1.7; flip angle, 70°; number of slices, 60-120; isotropic resolution, 1-1,5 mm<sup>3</sup>; acquisition window, 60-75 ma). Short-axis cines were acquired using a standard, tetrospective, two-dimensional, steady-state free-precession sequence. Imaging parameters were as follows: repetition time/echo time: 3.0 ms/1.5 ms, flipangle 60%, 30 cordiac phases per average heart hear, field of view 280-400 mm, matrix size 172-196, slice thickness 6-10 mm, no intersection gap, sensitivity encoding for spatial under-sampling (factor 2), 12-16 slices to cover the sensicles from the apex to the base - that is, six to eight breach holds.

The length ratio of the pupillary muscles was analysed in each parietic using three-dimensional, steady-state, free-precession. A four-chamber view on multiplanar re-format allowed the measurement of the length of the left ventricle from the mittal annulus to the apex. The length of the papillary muscles was estimated parallel to the axis of the left ventricle scruling from the view previously described (Fig. 1).

Patients were divided as having a discrete or a broad insertion depending on the attachment to the emericle of the bellies defining them. When attaching immediately adjacent to each other to the venericular wall or when defined by a single belly, pupillary muscles where considered to have a narrow insertion; when inserting as separated bellies far from each other, they were considered to have a broad insertion (Fig 2, Supplementary videos 1 and 2).

When having a discrete insertion, the angle between major muscle groups was measured. In order to perform the measurement, the centre point of the muscles group was taken as a reference, and a line was drawn through the angle subtended at the centre of the left ventricle between the centre points of the popillary muscle group insertion points (Fig. 3).

Parients were divided into there groups ~ normal, borderline, and hypoplassic - according to left ventricle volume indexed by body surface area. Patients were included in the hypoplastic group if the enddiamlic volume was ≪I J ml/m<sup>2</sup> or ≪20 ml/m<sup>2</sup> with definite features that precluded for biventricular repair, such as mitral attesia, severe mitral hypoplasia, and aortic arroits with intact ventricular septam.

In burderline cases, biventricular tepair was nor nded out at initial sargery. A hybrid procedure, consisting of pulmonary artery banding and pateot amerial duct stenting, was performed in all parients with either hypoplastic or bonderline left ventricles.

entitabled from the owner owners are not one damps bolege London an 17 Apr 1811 of 1111525, solited to the Cambridge Construment of use available of sources construction or protections. Representing to Construct the Entities of the Cambridge Construction of use

Volum Form et al. Morphological three-dimensional analysis of popullary muscles



Figure 1.

The length of the pupillery results was attenued periodid to the acts of the left centrick, weating from a fair-dramber view on a multiplance or fromat



#### Figure 2.

(a) Numeric inserving of the hollow in the superclustered support (\*) in a normal-stand left systemic (I.V.). (In Broad countries of the bollow in the superclustered support (★) in a bonderline U.V.

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS software (version 19, 2010; SPSS, Chicago, Illinois, United States of America). Analysis of variance test was used to compare the mean length ratio for papillary mulcles, age, and angle between papillary muscles. The Bottirman connection was applied for post hoc rooting. The oumber of papillary muscles and the characteristics of their insertion were analysed using Fobor's exact cost. The splitting of papillary muscles between groups was analysed using a Kruskal–Wallis rest.

#### Results

#### Patients

A total of 50 consecutive patients with normal-sized left venericles, 22 with borderline, and 13 with hypoplastic left venericles were included in the present study. Their median age was 5.36 years (with a range from 1 month to 20 years). There were 26 female and 39 male patients.

#### Diagante

Among patients with normal-sized left ventrocles, five had mild valvar CHD or mild pulmonary antery stemosis, 18 had a repaired biventricular CHD without left-sided lesions, and five were referred for screening and had a normal heart.

Boolerline left ventricles comprised a literenpencous group of paneros with obstruction of the left bears at different levels.

Among patients with hypoplastic left heart syndrome, three of them had aortic arresia, one of them with associated mittal stenosis; five patients had wentricular septal defect as an associated feature.

Dissection (Francisco, Levin Age, englished, Reight Callenge Carlors), on 17 Rev 2001 at 17 Maple, adapted to the Callenting Carlor of Line, and Allential (Figure-section in margin in proceedings), from other and a callential (Station 2000). Associated diagnostic features for borderline and hypoplastic left ventricles are nummarised in Tables 1 and 2.

#### Major much groups: nondor and tendency to split

The number of major muscle groups was found to be algorificantly different between groups (Fig 4) (Foher exact test, p < 0.001). All patients included in the normal-sized group had two discurst major muscle groups, however, four (18%) borderline and six hypoplastic (46%) left ventricle cases had a single papellary muscle (Table 3). Interestingly, the superolateral upport was the absent muscle in 90% of patients with a single papillary muscle.



#### Figure 3.

41

The source point of the sourch group new solve as a reference, and a line user drawn through the weight submodul at the contro of the left sourcask betasion the correspondence of the papillary muscle interview. Splitting of papillary muscles was a bequire finding. In each group and for each papillary muscle, splitting of the massile into two to four bellies was observed. (Fig 2). The number of bellies for each major muscle group (Table 4) was compared between normal-sized, boderline, and hypeplastic ventricles applying a Kaskal–Wallis test. In the inferomedial support, the number of bellies ranged from 1 to 3 in normal-sized ventricles and showed a mode of 2. In borderline ventricles, it moged from 1 to 4 (mode=1), and in hypoplastic ones the inferomedial support was defined by one or two bellies when present (mode=1). A significant difference among groups was found sugarding this support (Kruskal–Wallis test, p = 0.023).

The supernlateral support showed one to three bellies in normal-sized and bonkerline wentricles when present (mode = 1). In hypoplastic cases, the number of bellies was always 1 if present. No difference was detected when comparing the number of bellies of the superolateral papillary muscle between groups (Kruskal–Wallis res. p = 0.211).

Overall, the inferomedial papillary muscle often split into more bellies (mode = 2) than the superolateral muscle (mode = 1; p=0.013 by Wilcoxon's agned-rank test).

#### Intertion of pedicles

Insertion of papillary muscles was described as either narrow or wide for both the superstateral and the informedial muscles (Fig. 2).

A narrow insertion with fused pedicles was observed in all 30 normal-sized left ventricles for both papillary muscles, whereas in borderline and hypoplastic cases the inferomedial muscle had a broad

Table 1. Associated features in patients with borderline left ventricles.

Diagrossis	Number of parients	Other associations
AAH	×	5 IAA, VSD, auto: untoin 2 uAVSD 1 ASD, bicapid AoV
		1 currentino, ASID, robul accuracy 2 VSD 1 minut strengts
Antic conciscion	(inter-	1 critical average series and a series average of the series of the seri
Aceta on tools	\$P4	2 bioapid antic volo minute 6 crimal arriv monute (5 sinh EPE, 1 molecus minut agargination, 1 AAH*) 2 minute automic
Asetic orosis	2	3 VSD

AAH = senis unit hypeplasis, ASD = senis sepral africt, ArV = senis valve; EH = codocardial fibrodazonis, IAA = insurreprid series web; PDA = paron ductas antrinaus; uAVSD = arbaiancol arrowmentular agrad defect, VSD = www.scular.sepral defect "Serie patient

\*\*) parami in included in Joth prospi

Boardoursel from 1 Documents of the approximation and CApt 2017 at 11 Years subject to the Cambridge Concerners of sea available at Information partners and an available at 11 Years and 11 House and 11 House

Velace Fore et al: Morphological three-dimensional analysis of papillary muscles

Table 2: Associated features in patients with Rypoplantic left baset and none OEERS1.

Disgravia	Number of pairces-	Other associations
Aortic arch hypoplasia	5	2 DORV ione of them involving minul acesia + LA assumms + partial unusoled CO
Aortic atesia	3	1 VSD
VSD	2	1 Incaspid antic valve + AAPI
HERS	5.0	1 bicaspid auttic valve + AABI

AAH – sories arch topoplass, CS= convery usua, DORV = shullo online right versionly, LA = left atriany, VSD = monitodar agrad datar



Figure 4.

(a) Must common papillary match arrangement in normal-cited life controls (LV). \*\*informatial support defined by two belles; ★ superstational support defined by one. (b) Normal-stand LV showing second belless defining and group (★★ superstational support choicing trave belles; \*\*\*informatial group showing close). (c) Single papillary match in herderline LV. (d) Papillary matchs defined by one helly in the superstational (★) and superstational support to (specificate life laser synchrone (\*).

insertion in 17 and 8% of the patients, respectively. A significant difference was found when comparing this width of inferomedial insertion among groups (Fisher's exact test: p = 0.023). The superolateral papillary massle showed a wide pedicle in 10% of cases with bonderline left centricles. This insertion was narrow in all cases with a hypoplastic or normal left neutricle (Foher's exact test comparing across groups: p = 0.213).

#### Leigh natio of papillary mandes

The essent length ratio of the superslateral muncle was significantly different across groups (borderlate:  $0.39 \pm 0.07$ , hypoplastic:  $0.36 \pm 0.1$ ; normal:  $0.46 \pm 0.08$ ; analysis of variance; p = 0.009). First hoc retring with Bordertoni's correction showed significant differences in comparison with hypoplastic versus normal (p = 0.035) and borderline versus normal(p = 0.040).

Envertised of their interconversion managers operates interpretised and the second of the 2012 of 12 to 22.5 and entry the Conversion Conversion of the environment o

Table 3. Number of persons with a single pupillary result for such group and position of the retraining match.

Gorep	N <sup>a</sup> paramu w papillary min		
	SL position	Df position	G of patients five each group
Normal	0	0	- 0
Borderline	0	14	18
Hypoplanic	1 · · · · ·		46

SL= operatoreal: 3M = interspectial.

Table 4. Manufer of hellies in the superclateral and inferencedial support aroung groups.

	Inf	erond				
նութ	Number of bellies					n Name na secondario
	0	.1	£	11	14	of parients)
Normal	0	10	1.6	. 2	.0	30
Borderline	48	10	. 6	15	1	22
Hypoplastic:	1		. 8	0	- 0	15
Total	1	- 29	29	5	1	-63
		Segue	ofaiara	a sape	zioi	
Normal	.0	19	-6			30
Binderline	-41	12	. 5	St	-0-	22
Hypoplassic:	5	8	6	.0	0	1.8
Total	191	3.9	4.8	14	0	- 65

In contrast, when analysing the mean length ratio of the inferomedial support, no significant difference was detected among parience from different groups (mean length ratio  $0.42\pm0.09$  in normal,  $0.38\pm0.07$  in boolerline, and  $0.39\pm0.22$  in hypoplastic left ventricles; analysis of variance p=0.39.

### Angle between major metcle groups

This angle was found to be similar in the three groups analysed (mean angle  $113^{\circ} \pm 17^{\circ}$  in normal,  $111^{\circ} \pm 51^{\circ}$  in borderline and  $114^{\circ} \pm 57^{\circ}$  in hypophasic ones, analysis of variance p = 0.99). Of note, the variance of the angle was much higher in borderline and hypoplastic ventricles compared with normal.

Breatricular varias aniventricular repair in patients with borderline left wateride

Patients with boolerline left semiricles server separately analysed according to the type of surgical repair they had undergoes. Ago, length ratio of papillary muscles, angle between major muscle groups, insertion of pedicles, and end-systolic and and diastolic volumes were compared. No significant differences were found for any of the features analysed.

#### Discussion

The minul valve appartures is assuming great importance in patients with backerline size of the left ventricle, as this structure may impact on singlesostricle versus becommendar repair. Furthermore, the introduction of the hybrid procedure as the first step in surgery for patients with borderline left committee provides the opportunity to decide whether single or biventricular repair is the best option for a cortain patient at a latter stage. This allows for more comprihensive surgery for left ventricle rehabilitation at a latter age and at significantly larger size.<sup>8-10</sup>

In our study, a consecutive group of patients with hypoplastic left beart syndrome and borderline cases was included. All the patients were initially managed with a hybrid procedure. The car-off dimension for end-diastolic volume has always been commoversial. The potential of the left ventricle to grow after surgery is well established.<sup>7,13</sup> Minich et al performed two-dimensional and Doppler echocardiography to assess the possibility of left ventricular growth after birth in patients with hypoplistic left ventricles. They selected seven newborns from a cohort of 68 and described the minimum end-diastolic volume for biventricular repair as ≥10 ml/m<sup>2</sup> using echocardiographic measurements. Different publications have reported a left ventricular end-diamlic volume of <20 ml/m2 as a risk factor for death in parients with borderline laft ventricle.<sup>11,12,1+</sup> In this study, patients were included in the hypoplastic group if the end-diastolic volume was \$13 ml/m<sup>®</sup> by cardiac magnetic resonance or \$20 ml/m2 if definite features that precluded for hiventricular repair such us mittal attesta or severe mittal hypoplasia and aortic attesia with intact ventricular septum were diagnosed.

It was observed that a single papillary muscle was a common anomaly in patients with small left ventricle (18% in bonderline left ventricle and 46% in hypoplastic cases in our series). The missing support is assaily the superolateral type. When present, however, the superolateral support was significantly aborar in amaller left ventricles compared with normal. No difference in length ratio was found when comparing the inferomedial support.

Overall, the inferometial pupillary muscle often split into more bellies (mode = 2) than the superlateral muscle (mode = 1, p=0.013 by Wilcown's signed-tank test). Furthermore, a wide insertion of either one or both supports is a common finding in small bett centricles and it is more often seen with the inferometial papillary muscle.

Downloaded Yann Hits views and the sprangement longs catego cardina, on 12 Apr 2011 of 11 Hits suggest to the Cardinalgo Contentio of cat available at

2017

The approach of pupillary muscles during mirral menosis mlief and primary laft ventricle rehabilitation has been described by del Nido et al.89 Daring surgery, patients with borderline left sentricles may undergo separation, splitting, of papillary muncles and abnormal attachingons of papillary musicles to the septum of the left ventricle free wall as part of the relief of the left inflow tract obstruction. The description given by our cohort helps in understanding the morphological approach required - for example, given the patterns observed, lengthening of the superslateral papillary muscle churchie and splitting of the inferimedial muscle may be appropriate. At the very least, the described appeach to defining morphology enables the experienced surgeon to plan his procedure in advance.

Electrocantiogram-gated three dimensional of the whole heart is a useful MRI sequence to aness the great vessels, the cotonary atteries, and the cardiac chambers in patients with complex CHD including hypoplastic left heart syndrome 45,19 In this study, a combination of short-axis cine and three-dimensional whole heart demonstrated the anatomy of papillary muscles in all parients. These sequences are already a part of the MRI protocol in our centre in the assessment of patients with hypoplastic left heart yndrome before undergoing surgery and durin follow-up. In their article, del Nido et al define MRI a essential in the imaging of parlents with borderline left-heart structures who are considered candidates for left ventricle rehabilitation.<sup>9</sup> Cardiac magnetic resonance also allows for the accurate evaluation of left sontricular volumes in this cohore to further. empower decision making regarding mitability for bisentricular repair.<sup>6</sup> The versarility of cardiac magnutic resonance imaging also allows for the detection of clinically important endomyocandial fibrosis.

Even if cardiac magnetic reasonance is the ideal technique to assess ventricular volumes, carrent resolution does not allow an accurate definition of the attachments of the mitral leaflets to the papillary muscles through the chordae. In recent publications, these characteristics have been described by using three-dimensional echocardiography. Rice et al, assent the utility of three-dimensional echo when assessing the chordal apparatos and its relationship to the papillary muscles. Their publication show the importance of three-dimensional imaging to demonstrate the extent of the popillary muscle and to describe the subvalvar apparatus in situations such as the absence of chordae and loss of interchordal spaces that cannot be projected on two-dimensional reho-cardingraphic images.<sup>56</sup> Another recent study by Rim et al on parachute mitral valve demonstrated a strong correlation between the reduction of mittal orifice size and the degree of asymmetry of the

papillary muscle location. Moreover, there was a considerable reduction in leaflet comptation and absointial leaflet deformation corresponding to the anomalous location of the papillary muscle raps,<sup>17</sup> there-dimensional echocardiography threefore has a complementary tole in the assessment of pottents with londarine or hypoplastic left wintricks, and this is the patients of organing clinical research.

As a limitation to this study, the age of patients included in the different groups was found to be significantly different. The reason for this fact is that, owing to the young age of children undergoing cardiac magnetic resonance when suffering from hypoplastic left heart syndrome and its variants, it was difficult to achieve age match with normal controls. Therefore, children included in the normal group were older than those with borderline or hypoplaitic left ventricles. In order to neutralise this limitation, all relevant quantitative values were indexed to beart size or body surface area. Although healthy parients would have been optimal for this project, paediatric scans rely on the use of general amaesthesia for the acquisition of images. Therefore, only clinical studies have been used with no vulunteer inclusion; however, our findings for our control group in terms of papillary moscle morphology are similar to autopsy publications of normal hearts.<sup>3</sup>

No morphological differences of the pupillary matches were found within this using when compating children with borderline left verstricle undergoing waccessful bisentricular repair against those undergoing single-ventricle surgical pullation. Given the unall number of cases with bisentricular repair included in the present souly, significance may be reached with a bigger sample.

This study describes papillary muscle receptology by using cardiac magnetic resonance in hypoplastic and borderline left warricles. It emphasises the importance of taking into account the anatomy of the popillary muscles when suscessing the mirral valve, solubultar apparatus, and the size of the left warricles.

There is a tendency for the supercharral papillary muscle to be shorner or absent in small left venericles, and the inforomodial support is often uplic into several belies and sometimes show a broad insertion. Although no differences were found between patients with bonderline left venericles undergoing borentricular repair and those following a single-ventricle route, this might be refaired to the small population use included in the present study.

Acknowledgements

None.

Sumstable free transmission of the second statement of

#### Cardiology in the Young

#### Financial Support

Ŕ

This study was supported by the Department of Health var the Narional Institute for Health Research (NIHR) comprehensive Biomedical Research Centre award to Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust in partnership with King's College London and King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. The Division of Biomedical Engineering & Cardiovasrular Imaging is part of the Cantre of Eacoflance in Medical Ingioeeting and is funded by the Welcome. Trust and EPNRC (grant number WT 0886/41/Z/09/Z). King's College London is a British Heart Foundation centre of excellence funded by the British Heart Foundation award RE/08/005.

#### Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

#### **Ethical Standards**

All procedures performed in studies involving human patients were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional committee and with the 1964 Helsinki decharation and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. This tody includes anonymiased netwopective data only. For this study, specific formal consert was nor required (Rawardt & Development registration number: RJ115(N249).

#### Supplementary material

To view supplementary morenal for this article, please visit https://doi.org/10.1017/S10479511 17000439

#### References

- Siguelo PEI III, Acar F. Gaugerini multicroscients of the minul volve, Arch Gaugesus: Dis 2011, 194 405–479.
- androas RH, Bassi E, Taylor AM, Canlin anony revulat.
- J Anar 2004; 205: 159-177.

- Bohern WC, Gohen LS. Left metricular papellary ensuring. Description of the normal and a survey of conditions-causing them to the abaomul. Genetatrico 1972; 40: 139–134.
- Hanain T. Lunasture D. Belsham-Resell H. et al. Threedimensional deal-plane whole-hane MR renging: clinical implications for unspected built (Junae, Radiology 2012) 283-287-254.
- Hordricki E, Hassain T, Quandi S, et al. Conferenceder traginetic reasonance tragging in comparing four disease as an adversaries in diagnostic sensitie caddae cathemisation: a single sensor experiment. Compriss Huar Dis 2013;8: 322–317.
- 6 Grose Wormson L, Yan TJ, Al-Sadi O, et al. Bonkerlose hyperplana of the left vocatick in prototore imagine for decision-indicate from functional assumement with magnetic manufactor imaging. J Thunke Candionan Sug 2008; 134: 14629–1450.
- Minich IL, Tawi LY, Hawkim JA, Shakhy BJ, Hundslay of permanal left convicular graphs is selected infants with reaspec-frening left terrarches. An Hunt J 1997, 115: 570–374.
- Quantum LG, Del Nisla PJ, Veler invanimentari for comprehensioned whyse classes. Multimed Mars Cardinations Surg. 2015. https://side. arg/10.1095/commit/mem/0007. PathMod PMRD: 2010.2019.
   Emans SM, Bacha EA, McEllinianey DB, et al. Primary Joil von-
- Emain SM, Bacha EA, McEllinney EB, et al. Primary left vearricular rehabilization is officiare in maintaining two-restricle physiology in the borderine left learn. J These Cardiovasc Surg. 2009, 138–1226–1282.
- Nasaar ML, Nasoyan SA, Nyiwar A, et al. Second stage after initial hybrid pullation for hypoplastic laft haat spuilnense attential or menum dataset J. Thomas Gautiensis: Sarg. 2015; 110–550–557.
   Canno ME Banderline laft reservicits. Ear J Gautischums Sarg. 2005.
- 271 67-75. 12. Harmon JW Jr., Lapineto FM, Maple MD, et al. Periktum of
- uprative mentality in critical valuate across sensiting to inflancy. Anti Thora: Surg. 1968; 45: 557-546.
- Partore MK, MatsurGA, Graham TP Jr., Jakes JA, Boanek RJ Jr. Echanolographic entrumine of criteral laft sectoral are inform worth initiated across volve meanss. J Am Coll Confed 1991, 18: 1000–1055.
- Uvite 5, Haman T, Yalvaviti J, et al. Congentral heart disease relificance converses MR ange-agraphy during synwise and discode with dust conflue: phase whole-heart imaging. Radiology 2011, 2002 253–260.
- Twerenky W., del Noito PJ, Frwetti AJ, Maeskall AC, Lock JE, Geen T, Chefultanas of magnatus resonance imaging of left werrescalar endocardial fibradization in relation after forta intervolving for service value monosis. Am J Carnilal 2005) 56: 1508–1570.
- Bas K, Simpan J. Thus-determinal charactingraphy of originatal absorbatistic of the left environmentation who. Ecko Rev. Proc. 2015; 21:313–324.
- Ron Y, McPensor DD, Kim H. Effect of congenital manufactor the populity mandles on rotated valve function. J Mol. Biol. Eng. 2017; 55: 194–132.

Developed from the Annual Annual State and the Annual A

Velasco Forte et al. Journal of Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance (2019) 21:13 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12968-019-0525-8

### RESEARCH





**Open Access** 

Visualization of coronary arteries in paediatric patients using whole-heart coronary magnetic resonance angiography: comparison of image-navigation and the standard approach for respiratory motion compensation

Mari Nieves Velasco Forte<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Israel Valverde<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Nanda Prabhu<sup>2</sup>, Teresa Correia<sup>1</sup>, Srinivas Ananth Narayan<sup>1,2</sup>, Aaron Bell<sup>2</sup>, Sujeev Mathur<sup>2</sup>, Reza Razavi<sup>1,2</sup>, Tarique Hussain<sup>1,4</sup>, Kuberan Pushparajah<sup>1,2</sup> and Markus Henningsson<sup>1,5\*</sup>

### Abstract

Aims: To investigate the use of respiratory motion compensation using image-based navigation (iNAV) with constant respiratory efficiency using single end-expiratory thresholding (CRUISE) for coronary magnetic resonance angiography (CMRA), and compare it to the conventional diaphragmatic navigator (dNAV) in paediatric patients with congenital or suspected heart disease.

Methods: iNAV allowed direct tracking of the respiratory heart motion and was generated using balanced steady state free precession startup echoes. Respiratory gating was achieved using CRUISE with a fixed 50% efficiency. Whole-heart CMRA was acquired with 1.3 mm isotropic resolution. For comparison, CMRA with identical imaging parameters were acquired using dNAV. Scan time, visualization of coronary artery origins and mid-course, imaging quality and sharpness was compared between the two sequences.

Results: Forty patients (13 females; median weight: 44 kg; median age: 12.6, range: 3 months-17 years) were enrolled. 25 scans were performed in awake patients. A contrast agent was used in 22 patients. The scan time was significantly reduced using iNAV for awake patients (iNAV 7:48  $\pm$  1:26 vs dNAV 9:48  $\pm$  3:11, P = 0.01) but not for patients under general anaesthesia (iNAV =  $6:55 \pm 1:50$  versus dNAV =  $6:32 \pm 2:16$ ; P = 0.32). In 98% of the cases, iNAV image quality had an equal or higher score than dNAV. The visual score analysis showed a clear difference, favouring iNAV (P = 0.002). The right coronary artery and the left anterior descending vessel sharpness was significantly improved (iNAV: 56.8% ± 10.1% vs dNAV: 53.7% ± 9.9%, P < 0.002 and iNAV: 55.8% ± 8.6% vs dNAV:  $53\% \pm 9.2\%$ , P = 0.001, respectively).

(Continued on next page)

London, London, UK <sup>5</sup>Division of Cardiovascular Medicine. Department of Medical and Health Sciences, Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s). 2019 Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 The Analogy, 2019 open Access instances is biabouted under the terms of the Clearke Collimbits Analogue 14.3 International Licens (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/40/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons.license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

<sup>\*</sup> Correspondence: mark <sup>1</sup>Division of Biomedical Engineering and Imaging Sciences, King's College

120190-21118

#### (Continued from previous pages)

Conclusion: NAV allows for a higher success rate and cleaser depiction of the mid-course of coronary arteries in paediatric patients. Its acquisition time is shorter in awake patients and image quality score is equal or superior to the conversional method in most cases.

Keywords: Coronary magnetic resonance angiography, Respiratory motion compensation, Coronary artery clasese, Image-based navigation

#### Background

Whole-heart corosary magnetic resonance angiography (CMRA) is commonly used in paediatric patients, especially in those with congenital heart disease (CHD) to arsess cardiac morphology and structural disease [1]. This technique allows for volumetric data acquisition with adequate signal-to-noise cutto and spatial resolution that provules eracial diagnostic information for cfinical assesament in these patients [2]. However, the extensive scan time of CMRA requires requisition during free-breathing and respiratory motion compensation techniques to mitigate motion artifacts [3, 4]. The most common approach involves the use of an interleaved one-dimensional respiratory 'navigator' acquisition positioned on the right beni-diaphragm. The diaphragmatic navigator (dNAV) can be used to gate the CMRA scan by discarding and re-acquiring CMRA data, which falls outside a pre-defined end-expiratory gating window [5]. The dNAV can also be used to correct for the respiratory motion by employing a linear tracking factor between the respiratory motion of the diaphragm and that of the heart, often assamed to be 0.6 [0].

Recently, advanced CMRA motion compensation strategies have been proposed to improve image quality [7], reduce scan time [8], or both [9]. These primarily involve measuring the respiratory motion directly on the heart, rather than the diaphragm. Direct motion mesiamements have been achieved using self-mavigation [10] where the suvigator is extracted from the CMRA data or image-based navigation (INAV) where two-dimensional or three-dimensional real-time images are interleaved with the CMRA scan [11-14]. Similar to dNAV, gating, can be combined with iNAV to mitigate respiratory motion attifacts and improve image quality of the expense of scan time. Image-based navigation was demonstrated to be superior to dNAV in adult patients with enorgenital heart disease, in a meent study [9]. However, the INAV technique relied on an external bellows signal for respicatory gating. More recently, respiratory gating has been implemented for the iNAV utilizing Constant Respiratory Using Single End-expiratory Thresholding (CRUISE), allowing gating with a fixed efficiency without relying on external signal [15]. The main advantages of CRUISE compared to external respiratory bellows gating. are the simplified and fully inline scan setup, predictable scan time, and avoidance of potential hysteresis and poor correlation hotiwern bellows and heart motion. The aim of this work was to investigate the use of INAV CRUISE for CMRA motion compensation and compare it to the conventional dNAV in paediatric patients with CHD or suspected heart disease.

#### Materials and methods

#### Patient selection

The study was approved by the National Research Ethics Service (IRB 10/H0802/65) and all participants provided written informed consent. Between March 2016 and October 2016 consocutive pollatric patients with congenital heart disease referred to Evelina Children's Hospital, London, UK for cardiovascular magnetic resonance (CMR) were considered for inclusion. Patients with haemodynamic instability or referred from intensive core unit were not included in the study in order to avoid any increase in general assesshetic (GA) time.

#### CMR protocol

All experiments were performed on a 1.5 T dinkal scannor (Achieva, Philips Healthcure, Best, The Netherlands) using a 5-channel cardiar coil. The CMR protocol was modified based on the specific clinical indications, but typically included multi-slice cine, phase contrast flow, black blood vessel wall imaging, and dynamic contrast enhanced CMRA. Dotarem' (Gadoterate meglumine: concentration: 0.5 mmol/ml of gadolinium; dose; 0.2 mmol/lg) or Gadovist" (gadobatrol, concentration: 1.0. mminl/ml; dese: 0.1 minul/kg) contrast agents were used as required depending on the indication for CMR scan. If dynamic control unhanced CMRA was performed, it was followed immediately by the CMRA scans using INAV and dNAV in a randomised order. General imagethesis was utilized when clinically indicated as per our institutional protocol.

The CMRA used balanced steady-state free precession (DSSEP) madout with the following imaging parameters: field of view = 250-300 × 250-300 × 60-300 mm<sup>2</sup>, acquired resolution = 1.3 × 1.3 × 1.3 × 0.0<sup>4</sup>, repetition time/ocho time = 3.9/1.95 ew, flip argle = 70°, and panilel imaging acceleration factur = 2 (in-plane phase encoding direction).

#### Velaco Tana et al. Journal of Cardiovandular Mognetic Researces (2019

120103121:13

Vector cardiography (VCG) triggering was used to minimize cardiac motion, with subject-specific trigger delays and acquisition windows using the longest next period at a single phase of the cardiac cycle. To improve CMRA contrast, T2 prop (actor time = 35 ms) and fat suppression pre-pulses were used. Using these imaging parameters, and assuming a heart rate of 80 bpts and 100 ms acquisition window, the nominal scan time was 3 min and 20 s. The CMRA scan with dNAV motion competisation used a tracking factor of 0.6 and gating window according to patients weight (3 min if less than 20 kg, 5 min if between 20 kg and 40 kg, and 7 min if more than 40 kg) for all patients. The CMRA scan with fNAV motion compensation is deserbed in the following section.

#### Image-navigated CMRA motion compensation

The acquisition of iNAV was performed by adding phase encoding gradients to the 10 startup echoes of the hSSFP sequence [11]. A region-of-interest encomposing the whole heart was tracked in foot-head (FFI) and left-right (ER) direction, and selected using the local shins geometry. The iNAV reference was defined as the first acquared navigator to which all subsequent iNAVs were registered using normalised cross-correlation. The 2D translational correction was applied to the CMRA k-space naw data by modulating its phase. Respiratory goting was implemented using CRUISE [11]. In brief, this approach acquires twice as much data as needed to fill CMRA k-space (resulting in exactly 50% gating efficiency) and only the half acquired at the most end-expiratory was used to reconstruct the gated image. Both INAV correction and gating was performed in real-time on the scanner, and no post-processing was required.

#### Image analysis

All CMRA images were reformated using dedicated software [16] to visualize the right coronary artery (RCA), left main, left interior descending artery (LAD), and left circumflex artery (LCC). Images were objectively and subjectively analysed in terms of [1] image quality [2], sharpness of the wased [3] identification of the coromary artery origins [4], length of coronary arteries (quantitative and qualitative assessment).

A visual acore was used, based on a previous CMEA patient study [17], to qualitatively assess overall CMEA image quality using the following scale: 1 – corunary artery poorly visualized, 2 – coronary artery visible but with marked blurring, 3 – coronary artery visible with moderate blurring, 4 – coronary artery visible with mild blurring, and 5 – commary artery visible with sharp edges. Analysis of the visual score and course of the coromary arteries was performed using INAV and dNAV 3D datasets for all patients by three independent, blinded observers (MNV, IV and TH). All observers had 5 years or more of experience in CMR imaging analysis. Intraand inter-observor agreement was calculated. Absolute agreement for image quality was noted when both observers gave exactly the same score and relative agreement was defined by scores differing by no more than one point. Inter-observer agreement was reported as mean comparisons across all 3 observer combinations (at MNV vs IV, IV vs TH and MNV vs TH).

The vessel sharpness was calculated on the first 4 cm of all commary arteries, as a percentage where 0% equals no edge and 100% a step edge, using dedicated software [16] by an expert with 9 years of experience in CMIRA (MH). Vessel sharpness was performed by a second expert (TC) for both techniques on 10 random patients, resulting in a total of 60 analysed vessels. The readers were blinded to the motion correction method used when performing the vessel sharpness analysis. A subgroup analysis was performed on the coronary vessel sharpness massurements, where patients accurated during general amenthesia were analysed separately from awake patients. Furthermore, another subgroup analysis was performed, separating scans performed using contrast agents from scans without.

For each patient, we assessed whether the origin, proximal and mid-course of the coronary arteries were visible, on a multiplease reformat. Proximal visualization was considered satisfactory when the origin of both mronary attentes were observed. Mid-course depiction was described for each coronary ordery as represented in Eq. 1 for the RCA and LCX, visualization was considered successful when their course was visualised up to the mid-point of the atriaventricitalir (AV) groove using the AV value as a reference point; for the LAD, its course was followed along the ventricular septum up to same point as the LCX. Also the length of each coronary artery was quantitatively measured using dedicated software [1].

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using MATLAB (The Mathworky Inc., Natick, Massachusetts, USA) statistics toolbox and SPSS (v 20.0, International Business Machines, Armouk, New York, USA). For the continuaus variables vessel sturpteess and scan time, a two-tailed t-test was performed to evaluate statistical significance. Continuous variables are presented as mean z standard deviation unless specified otherwise-Printimal and distal visualization was compared between iNAV and dNAV datasets as a proportion of success rate mong all visualizations performed by the 2 observers. For the categorical variable (visual score) a Wilconnin signed rank test was performed to evaluate statistical significance. Categorical variables are presented as modian, 75th percentile, 25th percentile. A P value less than 0.05 year considered statistically significant. A



Fig. 1 Analysis of origin and mid-course visualization of right constany active AEA: superior image and left infection constants arteries, a Drige of the IEA (proved and provided course) is Mid course visualization of the IEA (proved in the carrie patient, it Origin lawswo and provided course of the IEA of Mid-course of the left annulate developing IEAC) and left courseling IEAC) and left accounties IEC0 (preved in the same patient).

Holm-Bonferroni correction was performed where multiple comparisons were used.

#### Results

A total of 40 potients (27 males, median weight: 44 kg; range: 4--80 median age; 12.6 years, range: 3 months-17 years) were enrolled. There was an significant difference in age according to the sex of the potients (females) mean 11.4 years, range: 2.8 months – 15.6 years, males: 10.3 years, range: 3.8 months – 17 years, P > 0.51. Diagnosis and demographic features are summarised in Table 1. An extended explanation of diagnostic characteristics is provided in Additional file 1. Teenty-five scars were performed in avake patients and 15 under general anesthesis. A contrast agent was used in 22 cases, 6 using Gadavist and 16 using Dotarem. All patients were in since rhythm and median heart rate durling scan acquisition was 75 beats per mutue (range 19– 110). Representative images from 4 patients are shown in Fig. 2.

Gatilig window kthWV	Weight Bigli	Ryted	HEADONI	Age (plast)	Sec	Disposi.	*
2 mm	12+52	353+318	89 a 15	31 a 34	(Tercal-s	<ul> <li>1 Stars, Tick, Coli.</li> <li>6 OFD with CA' involvement limiteding TOP, DOW &amp;PGA</li> <li>1 destination (Tick, PL;</li> <li>1 MAY, NO;);</li> <li>1 MAY, NO;);</li> <li>1 MAY, NO;);</li> </ul>	10
S prim	29.417	1.03. 8 (1.13	10 x (D	1411	2 ternikes	- 1 109 - 1 0090 - 1 GV thanse	3
7.00	500 ± 113	18.1.623	W F U	14 2 23	V formalize	A twinyhmeur cardiomyoparty     S G4D with G4 involvement + W4 valve disease linckaling TOF)     2.282 valve     2.3424     2.4244     2.4244     2.4244	4

ALOYA Averadous Life Economy Artury from the Rubinomy Amury, Gol Concession of the series, AP advantational and Michael series when OHE congenital franct devoids. OHE double table the website, SDRY double outline gets when the Grant weeks. APHE typeparties the transing explorement, the best equal to the generation of the generation of the generation. The transing of field, VA weeks among the exact DV between the Table typeparties of the generations, of Net congenitally served of congenitation of the generation. The transing of field, VA weeks among the SQL weeks are republished.



#### Scan time

The scan time was significantly shorter using INAV [minsec] (659 ± 1:23) compared to conventional dNAV (9:17 ± 2:54, P < 0.05). Subgroup evaluation between avoke and potients under GA demonstrated that shorter acquaition time was significantly reduced only for avoke potients (n = 25) 0NAV 7:08 ± 1:26 vs dNAV 9:08 ± 3:11, P = 0.01). However, there were no significant differences is can time for potients under general aristhesis (NAV = 6:55 ± 1:50, versus dNAV = 6:32 ± 2:16; P = 0.32). The scan time for avoke and general anothesis patients are shown in Fig. 3.

#### Image quality

In 39 out of 40 rates (98%), INAV image quality had a similar or higher score than images acquired with dNAV. Initia and infer-observer image quality absolute agreement (where both observed scores are exactly the same) was excellent at 92.5% (95% confidence interval 86.7, 98.3) and 81.7% (95% confidence interval 76.8, 86.6) respectively. Infative agreement (where observed icones differed by ao more than one point) was 100% for intra-observer measurements and 100% for inter-observer measurements. The analysis of the visual acore with Wilconon test showed a statistically significant difference in farmar of (NAV versus dNAV ( $P \sim 0.002$ ). The results of the visual score for all patients are summarized in Fig. 4.

#### Vessel sharpness

In the combined analysis of all 40 patients, the sharpness of the vessels was significantly higher with iNAV for the BCA and the LAD (iNAV:  $56.8 \pm 10.15$  vs dNAV:  $53.7 \pm 9.9%$ , P < 0.002, and iNAV:  $55.8 \pm 8.6\%$  vs

dNAV) 53±9.2%, P=0.001, respectively). However, there was no significant difference for the LCX (INAV: 52.2% 2 9.8% vs dNAV: 49.1% 2 10.1%, P=0.180. The subgroup analysis of patients scanned with contrast apents (# = 22) and those without (# = 18) yielded a statistically significant difference for the LAD in patients without contrast agents, where the INAV performed better than the dNAV GNAV: 56.95 ± 9.3% vs dNAV: 53.6% ± 10.5%, P = 0.011. The subgroup analysis of patients scanned under general anaesthesia (st = 15) and those awake (n = 25) teanked in a statistically significant difference for the RCA (INAV) 38%±8.4% vs dNAV) 54.3%±8.5%, P=0,005), LAD (INAV: 57%± 9.1% vs dNAV: 54% ± 10.1%, P+0.01) and LCX (iNAV: 56.3% ± 7.4% vs dNAV: 52% ± 9%, P = 0.01) in awake patients. The subgroup analysis of the vessel sharpness measurements is shown in Fig. 5. The inter-observer agreement for the coronary vessel sharpness measure ments was good, and similar for both iNAV and dNAV. with a small bias of 0.3% for iNAV and 0.5% for dNAV. The 95% confidence interval was 6.9% to -6.4% for iNAV and 7.4% to -6.5% for dNAV.

#### Identification of coronary artery origins and visualized coronary artery length

Although the coronary artery origins were depicted in all patients independently of the type of motion correction strategy that was utilized, quantitative analysis of the length of the coronary attents using iNAV demonstrated a significant improvement in the length of the coronary arteries visualized for the RCA (INAV: 6.6 mm ± 0.49 mm vs dNAV: 6.0 mm ± 0.4 mm,  $P \in 0.05$ ) and the LAD (INAV: 7.3 mm ± 0.6 mm vs dNAV: 6.6 mm ± 0.6



mm, P < 0.01) with on significant difference in the case of the LCX (INAV: 5.2 mm ± 0.5 mm vs dNAV: 4.9 mm ± 0.4 mm, P = 0.77).

In agreement with numerical analysis, mid-course assessment from CMR clinicians showed improved results when using iNAV. The mid-course of the cosmacy attents was not visualized in any of the cosmacy attents in 4% using dNAV (we0% using iNAV) and was visualized in only one or two herarches in 34% (we bits using iNAV). Subsequently, a complete visualization in all 3 coronary attents was possible using iNAV in 84% of cases, and 62% using dNAV. An individual analysis for each coronary attents when comparing mid-course visualization with 184AV and dNAV. The mid-course of the BCA was visualized in 95% of the cases using INAV and 82% with dNAV (P < 0.05). This proportion was 89% 0NAV) vs 76% (dNAV) for the LAD (P < 0.05) and 94% vs 70% for LCx (P < 0.001).

#### Discussion

In this study, we have evaluated a new method for respiratory motion compensation in a heterogeneous population of paediatric patients demonstrating improvements in image quality compared to the conventional motion compensation technique. Furthermore, we observed a significant reduction in CMEA scan time in avake patients using the proposed motion compensation technique. The reduced scan time using iNAV compared to dNAV is due to the CIEUISE gating strategy which assumes a constant 30% efficiency, regarilless of patient breathing pattern. Conversely, dNAV uses a predefined constant gating window (based on the patient weight), resulting in a variable efficiency depending on the broathing pattern. This is particularly pertinent in non-amesthetised patients where the gating efficiency may change during the scan, potentially leading to excessive scan times. In this cohort of patients there was a





significant reduction in scan time using INAV with CRUISE gating, compared to gated dNAV, of approximotely 25%. Importantly, for the non-anaesthetised patients the standard deviation of the scan time up INAV CIUISE was less than half of the gated dNAV scans, suggesting the scan time is much more predictable with this approach. A typical total examination time in these patients is approximately an bour, with an estimated 5-10 min allocated for whole-heart CMRA, Althrough the average dNAV scan time in avalor patients is within the upper bound of this runge, there is a high variability with a standard deviation of over 3 min. With the dNAV technique we recorded scan times of 18 min which would increase the total examination time by approximately 15%. For general anesthesia patients there was no significant difference in scan time between the two techniques. This can be explained by the stable breathing patteen of patients under general mesthesia leading to a constant gating efficiency even using a narrow gating window, which is the case for dNAV. Similarly, the scan time standard deviation was approximately the same using INAV CRUISE and gated dNAV in this cohort.

As revealed in the subgroup analysis of vessel sharpness scores. INAV appears to perform particularly well relative to dNAV in awake patients where statistically significant improvements were found for the RCA, LAD and LCX. However, for the entire potient cohort, including awake potients and those under general anesthesia, statistically significant coronary sharpness improvements were only observed for the #CA and LAD using iNAV. This highlights the important role of adequate respiratory motion connection in uwake patients, where imegular heathing, unpredictable image quality and scan times are often observed using the curiventional technique.

The use of iNAV in adult patients with CHD has been previously reported [9]. However, the previously proposed iNAV technique was limited to respiratory gating using an external respiratory bellows' measurement. In contrast, the proposed INAV employs taline gating using the iNAV measurements, thereby amplifying acun setup and improving gating performance. In a recent study by Monney et al. [18] respiratory self-gating was used in 105 CHD patients with successful visualisation of the origin and percimal course of RCA, LAD and LCX in 93, 87 and 98%, respectively. In this study, both INAV and dNAV achieved 100% success rate for visualization of origin and proximal course for all coronary arteries. In our study, the mid-course was visualized in 95, 89 and 94% for the RCA, LAD and LCX respectively when using iNAV. These results showed a significant difference compared to dNAV, in which mid-course visualization was only achieved in 85, 76 and 70% of the visualizations among cases, respectively,

The coronary vessel sharpness was found to be improved using (NAV compared to dNAV. This is consistent with the results reached in subjective scoring, where most of the cases had better or equal image quality in the analysis of the images acquired with iNAV in relation to dNAV.

Apart from the quantifable improvements in image quality and scan time, iNAV dso provided improvements in CMRA suse-of-use as no dedicated scan planning is required for the navigator. The tracked region of interest (ROR) is defined as the local shim geometry which is typically the same for all scans throughout the CMB examination and planned to encompass the heart and great arteries. Due to the real-time iNAV reconstruction and motion feedback, the scan can be stopped and BOI ra-defined if the motion tracking is doemed inadequate.

However, during the study re-planning of the iNAV ROI was not necessary in any of the patients.

Although the proposed (NAV technique improves the quality of the images for visualization of consumy arteries and extends in depiction to their mid-course, the distal coronary anatomy is still difficult to defineate in CMR. Multi Detector Computer Tomography (MDCT) remains a better tool for this purpose especially in children, owing to the higher spatial resolution, variability in the heart rate and the possibility of reconstruction over multiple cardiac cycles when retrospective acquisition is applied [1, 19]. However, despite offering high quality images, coronary MDCT anglography involves radiation and requires indistanted contrast in all patients [20]. liftorts are therefore being made in order to improve coronary anatomy and wall motion characterization with CMR, particularly in children with CHD [2], as they constitute a subserable population given the need for reneated diagonatic and interventional procedures, where the definition of the proximal coronary anatomy is vital [21, 22]. In this regard, we have previously shown the accuracy of the 3d whole-heart technique in imaging the proximal course of the commary arteries in these cases [23-25]. We have also previously shown the applicability in the morphological diagnosis of these patients [26, 27] Given the known high accuracy of the technique, in this study, we chose to demonstrate an improvement in image quality as a surrogate for improving accuracy further, indeed, to show an improvement in accuracy would require a much larger study for adequate statistical power-

There is currently a trend within the research commanity towards continuously acquired multi-phase CMRA, which allows retrospective selection of the optimal phase to visualize the corenary arteries. Typically, continuous CMRA acquisitions rely on a 1D self-navigation signal for best-to-best motion correction [38-30]. A limitation of iNAV in this context is that the temporal lootprint (approximately 40 mid encroaches on the time available to acquire CMRA data, which may lead to a lower tempond resolution or prolonged scan time. However, there are drawbacks associated with continuous CMRA acquiutions compared to single-phase CMRA. Primarily, signal-to-noise ratio and contrast-to-noise ratio are lower in continuous CMRA due to the repeatedly performed RF-pulses throughout the cardiac cycle (31). In companison, single phase CMRA has intrinsically high signal-to-make ratio due to the T1 recovery between acquisition windows. Although exogenous contrast agents may be used to improve the signal-to-noise ratio in continuous CMRA, there is increased vigilance regarding the use of gadolinium-based agents due to potential risks of long-term retention, while aron-oxide based agents are also essociated with potential for adverse events.

Our study has other Imitations. Firstly, the potient cohort was limited us a relatively small number and from a single centre. Due to the small sample size no sub-group analysis was performed to assess the influence of factors such as general assessments, contrast agent, age, hody-mass index or heart rate on image quality. A larger othert of patients, from multiple centres would be valuable to confirm our current findings, establish the diagnostic performance and clinical utility of this technique. Second, the size of the gating window used for respiratory motion convection in conventional dNAV 3D b5SEP acquisition varied between patients as was established according to the weight of the child following our proto col in chrical acans. These empirically determined gating windows were used to ensure a reasonably constant gat ing efficiency of approximately 50%, and subsequently a predictable scan time.

#### Conclusion

INAV utiliers better quality images for curronary visualization in children with congenital or suspected heart disease. The mid course of the connary atteries is more often visualized with this method. The enduction in scan time is an advantage in avoide patients, particularly in children, in when the cooperation to remain still for long periods of time is limited.

#### Additional file

Additional file 1: Table SI, Chipmath: Seature and CAR indicators for all 40 patients, IDCCI 22 Mp

#### Abtanyiations

No. Minkowystatulus, IXXXIII Rataroved caloby table two precisions, OHD, Cangenha have at strakes, CMM, CastRommular magnetic internantial DMRs. Commery magnetic measures angegraphy, CRAME, Constant supported with terms and programmer angegraphy, CRAME, Constant down Clastrogenatic manipator, PLR Techniqued by With Ange-based intergenties. CARD of a writer decouvery occurry press tomography. RCA hight commany article 12, https://dx.HCA.Region.of.internat.VCC.Vectormanifectury.

#### Acknowledgements

NO AND OC

#### Funding

This seak our supported by the fastional tradues to teach leaves (shield Exclosionization teaching) is the fastional tradues (final event) there exist in the search of the search of the search of the search of the search is partnership with denominality there at the fastion for the logarithment of marking and fastion (or the search expressed are factor of the authority with denominality there at the fastion to the fastion of the authority with denominality there at the fastion of the Department of Healthy and Total Con-The search and attempts (apportion) by the Welcanew/FMUC Contex for Medical Trageneering at Kings College Longer NVC 3000-577/2002/1 as well as the first Contex of Excellence Statistic West Foundation age and REMONDANC

#### Availability of dots and materials

The time that support the brid-top' of this study are available on terparts from the corresponding autom (WV). The data we was publicly available show

Page 9 of 9

to them containing information that could complomite research participant.

Authors' commissions WW, V, W and biocodected and analysistime decisits. WM and Mr duriest the manuscript NY 5404, 42, 500, 96, 501 commission to the conception and

design of the block and recept in writing the manuscript. This MV, M, MH and TC: constrained to the statistical analysis and the constraints of the next AV autors lead and approved the Twa manuscript.

Bries approval and consent to participate The dark visuageneous for the flattened tenanch Lifest Server 2016 32/10002/011 #Epancipans provided written informed contents

**Consent** for publication

Competing Interests

The authors sectore that they have no concerning interiests.

#### **Publisher's Note**

or neutral with reparts to jumplicitumal stame in publiched maps and metabolicitical officiations.

#### Autor details

Charlins of Bioverland Engineering and magning Sciences Fingh College London, London, UK. "Department of Congenital Heart Disease, Evelve-London Children's Hospital, Guyli and St Thumas Hi-6 Foundation That London, UK. "Cardiovescular Particulary Unit, Institute of Wormslates of Service de Lange de Securitives de Vergena (Conservange d'Securities) Index de Lange de Securitives de Vergena (Conservange d'Securities) Index Genera, 1983 Medical Denice Drive Dalas, USA "Deson of Conference de Medical Denice Drive Dalas, USA "Deson of Conference de Medical Denice Denice Delas and Health Sciences, Unidades University, Landprig, Sweder

#### Received: 9 October 3EH: Accepted: 5 February 2019 Published unline: 25 February 2019

#### References

- Gel G, Tauto AA, Sila Welo A, Husan T. XI solub team maging he compared a feater disease. Front Pecker, 2017/200 Planate T, Lane Rate T2, Belletan (Rovel H, Velversle I, Barrianer P, Rasen R.
- 2 14. Det: Brenovink (halphan whot from WI reging devic replation for compute her device, halbday, 20(20):2547-34. 2014 RO Strength J. New OK Molece is contenential WI respira fieldings, 2019;20(20):11-51.
- 4 repertantico file
- Immingous M, Botos TM, Alterney Lepitory maturi am controls VR anglogischy. Servict Baell. 2015;13(2):082-39
- 5 Wary T. Rossnars PJ, Gamme NC, Reviews SJ, Ehman HL, Navigotor exhite used salation angles are gaining and integrating for websition of separation effects in these dama carriers fold any logicity
- 4
- Capital A, Charles M, Hann MD, Bargerski A, Grunes M, Margerski AM, Hall SA, Andrew MJ, Marken MJ, Marken MJ, Marken MJ, Marring WJ, Propartie metapola consolin of mayar pointer for converse VA analysis for help by Chromosomer Status (Science) (2014) 1011 (1995) 1010 (2014) (2014) (2014) (2014) (2014) 1011 (1995) 1010 (2014) ( 10.
- Petern D, Minney F, Senis C, Cappo S, Kounno E, van Herswell HL et al-fendmetric will wangared postcontract which hear scrossry MT .
- Interfacts with water specifies a patient is following with impropulation water specifies a patient is following attraction. The Interruption Al, Nazien T, Weis ML, Geld JT, Streik L, Strakeger Geld at Work-heart control with improposity using imagebased avergence for the distribution of coorney and manifest using imagebased avergence for the distribution of coorney and manifest using integration for the distribution of coorney and manifest using the specific of the s 18
- drawe, I Mapi Nesi-I Maging 2016/03/2017 55 Sarhang C. Banari P. Sahari K. Sggar, n'i Sudar M. Para-Dealthin hest churnar Mile with 30 radol 304 and 55 margined mage 12
- Hot Andrew M. & Karr Med. 2005;5(5):415–40. Internegator M. Koler P. Sahong C. Shaari B. Theory, Jona M. White-inst customs Bill engagedpa with 20 with weighted image monitoration. *Nagl Resol*. Veh. 2012;11:211–21. 11

- Keegon J, Grobhouer RD, Yong GJ, Frynin DN, Nan model-based combining of regulatory motion using bacterialised 20 gml Ministrative models. J Midgo-Bechnithologing, XML 2018;10:1–4.
   Midgo-Bechnithologing, XML 2018;20:1–4.
   Midgo-Bechnithologing, XML 2018;20:1–
- We release PT, He BS, Notenaux CS, McConvell W/ Trees testing multiplicar whole free converse MN angligsame using image based (angusts and three-dimensional cores imaging. Mage Reson Nets. 201). 14. mide the slote.
- TK. remangace M, Solice J, we Ensbergen G. Sonar R. Caloriary MI
- improperty care may been appeared in proton comparison with view construction and fixed party efformicy Magnificsion Need (2016)(2016)(4-2) Dentron A, Brunn (FR, Van Australier AM, Brookgier P, Marchang RD, Sobate N, Soba Subble' visualization and quantitative analysis of 30 concerny. 뇬
- Hugenitz minimum angegrami. Magn Resol Anal 2005/RENDER AN. Kim AM, Davies PG, Stater M Frankri KG Pren S, Nagn K, et al. Castrany magnetic resonance angeography for the electronical science y termine. N 17.
- 16
- Expl Fined, 2007;345(26) (162-9) Moreney P, Huster D, Kos T, Woover, G, Coppe S, Naester SC, et al. Bright Centre Experience of the application of self navigated 32 where their authorauthie managed resonance for the appropriate of carries and only
- in congenital teart absent 3 Cardiovas: Hilgin Resen. 2015/817-555 Milenogeni S, Malesoni-Merogenia G, Kolovek G, Cardination of 14
- Cardioversido magnetic resonance in the evaluation of roomany arteries. Well / Cardiol. 2014;40(3):001-0. Inin 7, Choo Ger Mg MA, Cardio C. Biopogophy Careet: statu and contening Caleborges, 6: 1 Radiol. 2012;80(3):1440–118. 14
- An Hi L, Andreas Mi, Foth I, Spotoni I, Vann E, Picam E, Camalative patient effective dole and acute advator-induced chromosomie UNA demage multicline with compress hear disease them; 2013;68:42:06-34
- Hydrein HM, Duggle D, HYsilkant J, Stell E, Seenington HA Gestake A, Pester MJ, Sackware adjubbel concer has writestatere to infanctin agenere from cardia: orthometatem, in cristiken; hears 2017(15)(2):341-6, theretaunt T, Sankashi S, Laori H, Geol L, Bacher W, Krzyski H. τŤ
- 北
- Coursey anamalies approad by of the heart tempter (C) magnets reasoning magnets to oddal molphology to congertial heart disease. I
- Magn Wear Heights, 2005.20 (2009). 7 Targe Novan T, Bell A, Heglin S, Hanalin T, Bentgarn TJ, Schaeffer T, Kazal P, Bonne MA, Keel J J, Denkonin d' company anexy anexy anexide in industria and young children with congenital faunt cliance by using full integras. 24 Nationage 301127W11246-7 Hanari T, Mathar S, Peyl GA, Valueste I, Binna K, Henningpuin M, Battor
- 3 MJ, Brigson J, Guel GE. Coorney artery searched angle (Haging to Orders-a comparative incide of MRI and many branck extracodingraphy. BMC Web (Hoging, 2015):1548.
- Minor DA, Ykasain T, Botras IIM, Tankon A, Grell GF, Dav AK, Hermingson 34 Dask of same selection frequency sampling margin marginess and general frequencies. BMC Almoi Invaging: 2010;16(1):00.
   Samersen, D., Stangersch, H., Grant GP, Stathmann, E., Karther, P., Wayer, H., Panlamann,
- 28 EM, Sevenaum P. Operator independent lateratic three-dimen magnetic reconstruction magnetic for recording to congestial level disease a solidation maty. Cenalation 200(118)(2)183-0.
- Coppo J, Rocett D, Broweno JC, Danthel J, Winami EJ, Nelazani PJ, eev Heeroolgi RE, Echaitrer J, Itolan M, Eree saming 4D ehode-heart all yau golden angle 6M ehiar enablis. Migra Recen Neur. 2013; PE2:1330–11 JR: Pang J, Chen F, Tan Z, Ngayen C, Nang CJ, Nei Y, Li CJ, Ngi efficienza antranay. Wit anglegaphy. 40(1) remetal and an metal-more device. A Remet Neur. 2010;RC(1):166–15.
- Harri, Kimi, Z. Min, K. Lan, Y. Ngane, KJ, Fina JP, Yu, H. Self, Saled & D. multipliane standy state imaging with contrast arthrepriner (MLEC) using instantial concernities and states (FOC) evolution in challeness with competitie front channes. Warp Restar Med. 2013;10(2):171–13.
   Harron M, Hanan & Katzi MS, Conc L. Fred C, Free benchmig while Heart ID CPAT MB with well great Cachesian togething. Warp Restar Imaging. Institution, 16, 201
- 101730125-31

### 3D printed models in patients with coronary artery fistulae: anatomical assessment and interventional planning



KEYWORDS

magnetic
 magnetic maging

matsilice

corrected

totraigraphy.

- must investive

antaging:

- constary fixtalee

the surveying 2017 | A g 1010 - g 1007 - g 405 bits and and an

100

No.

2017 · published

Color C

- ALLEY

Dittant

Ħ

Mart Nieves Velasco Fortio<sup>123</sup>, MD; Nick Byrne<sup>16</sup>, MSc. Junel Valverde Penez<sup>123</sup>, MD; Aaron Bell<sup>1</sup>, MD; Gorka Gómez-Ciriza<sup>1</sup>, BEng; Thomas Kamemann<sup>13</sup>, MD; Horst Sievert<sup>1</sup>, MD; John Simpson<sup>13</sup>, MD; Kubenan Pushpurujah<sup>13</sup>, MD; Reza Batawi<sup>12</sup>, MD; Shakeel Quindn<sup>1</sup>, MD; Turigue Huwain<sup>410</sup>, PhD

J. Division of Deciging Sciences and Biomedical Engineering, King's College London, London, United Kingdon, '2: Department of Congenital Neurr Division: Evolute London Children's Hospital, Gay's and St Diomes 'MHS Foundation Decit London, United Kingdon, J. Cardiovancian Pedrology Unit, Institute of Biomedicion of Scieble, IRB, Vogen del Roma University Harpitol CSRC Chronicuty of Scieble, South, Scieble, Spain, A. Department of Netherl Physics, Gay's and St Diomes 'DBS Foundation Drust, London, United Kingdon, 'J. Department of Confedence (Karlier Physics, Gay's and St Diomes' DBS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdon, 'J. Department of Confedence (Karlier Version Harpital), Cardiomacular Conter Frankfort, Caronary, 6, Department of Pollatures, UT Jandrovstorn Madical Contex, Dollar, 2X, USA

SCN. Witteen Form and N. Syrne contributed opaths to the paper.

This paper also includes applementary data published indice at: http://ions.provides.com/nantereconor/1346\_huwe/144

#### Abstract

Aims: Country artery fistules represent one of the most challenging automical defects to define accurately. We aimed to investigate the additional benefit confirmed by voltanc readering of tunographic magan and 3D printing for diagnosis and interventional planning.

Methods and results: Four cases of commany fitnike were considered for trapscatheter closure. Multidensities compared wanography (three cases) or cardiac magnetic resentance (one case) images were acquired and regenerated using Minnics software. Each case was reverwed after incremental consideration of diagnostic resonance: two candiclogum apported course and voltance-mailtred images; derive closure was discussed by the unrerventional cardiology term. All diagnoses and placest images; derive closure was discussed by the unrerventional cardiology term. All diagnoses and placest images; derive closure was discussed by the unrerventional cardiology term. All diagnoses and placest images; derive closure and drainings in reo out of four cases. Adde by voltance undering, this improved to three out of four cases. Impection of the 3D printed model promptial the planned interventional approach and device sizing to be altered in two out of four cases. In ease out of four cases, the intervention was doublened after impection of the 3D printed model.

Conclusions: Diagnosis and management of petients with constant activity fordine roly on the intervention in molyses. 3D models add value when determining the feasibility of, and the approach to intervention in these cases.

\*Companylog andrew: University of Tenar, South-onlinen Michael Control at Dollar Children's Medical Control D2 413 1935 Moderal Distance Devis, Dathin, 72, 73300. USA: 2-onal-merganillaborates arg sit.

CREARING DURING PAIRING 2017 AF Apple InterNAL

#### Abbreviations

30	three-dimensional
W	ateios entricular
CHD	songenited heart discover
CMR	conflac magnetic resonance
LAA	left airial appendage
LV	left ventricle
NDCT	multidetector computed tomography
RA	right strives
RCA	sight coccurry entery
STL	stereolithography
SVC.	superior tona catva
TOE	transosophageal ochocardiography
TTE	transforacic ecloscatiography

VR robuse-seatered

#### Introduction

Additive membersory offses advantages for diagnosis, decision induing and treatment planning in summarially complex congenital heart discose (CHD)

The prepose of fair study was to evaluate the meconomial contributions of conventional reporting of coeffic comparis, resonance (CMR) and compared temography (CT) images, three-damensimal (3D) volume resolating, and 3D printed models, to the degnoiss and interventional planning of corecary artery finities

#### Materials and methods

Three adults and one shall with seronary strary families were referred to sum centre for a second opinion or intervention. Relations maximity (Figure 1) was segmented from multidetector interpret temography (MDCT) or 3D befarced strady-state free precession (MSSFP) images using Minics multical software and Manuality 3-matte (varians 10.0 & 10.0, mapscrittely; Maturalian NV, Learen, Beigenen). Intensity thresholding, coopping and region growing tools were used for segmentation and reliand using mannel editing (approximate noom segmentation more three bound). A thickness of 2 mm was introduced outside the serflice to yield a holdow model maintaining the image-derived blood pool wall. Generated varies/life.paper (Dijet 500 Centers); Stratoya, Erd, Elini Prairie, MN, USA), printing in flexible Tangoffus FullCuar<sup>®</sup> 930 (Strawqu) for interventional manifolds) (Figure 2).

For the parelistric case, due to teering of the TangoPlus model during simulation, a second model was fabricated in a flexfible thermoplastic polyarethane by fused deposition modelling (Withou primer: BQ, Les Rome de Madrid, Spein).

#### REVIEW OF DIAGNOSTIC INFORMATION

The three sources of diagnesis information draw images, volumemodesed [VR] images and 3D model) were reviewed incrementally to means their value.



Figure 1. References of MDCT and CMR. 43 & R Perform 3. At RCL arright (\*). B) Behave condensed arrays of the fields (2) & D) Fortant 2. Origin and course of the loft (\*) and right internet constanty fittable in modified atdal (C) and constant wave (D). (2) & D) Perform 3. Extends another on (\*) and matches of the fittable, must over control fittable in modified atdal (C) and constant wave (D). (2) & D) Perform 3. Extends another on (\*) and matches of the fittable, must over control fittable, (\*) PE image of the fittable observing large anterprint and (\*), meaned abservance on the active and drainage because the La (black arrays). O) & Ho Perford 4. (b): TTE choices over the fittable another the mether cont (\*). B) Origin of the fittable (fittable draws), course in the active arrays) and drainage (\*) on a weathird must from the fittable (D). B) Origin of the fittable (fittable draws), course in the active) and drainage (\*) on a weathird must from fittable fittable (D).



Figure 2. Printed specific surfaces tendened source and 3D model for patient 1 (d & B). 2 (C & D), 3 (E & F), 4 (G & H).

Two cardiologists (each having >10 years' experience of CHD imaging) reviewed the data unlequalizativy reporting origin, course and decrease of fivulae structures and indicating whether they could represent the findings sterbally.

Source and VR images were need to determine the best way is present reporting anterventional decision making of a multidisciplicarly meeting. The 3D model was sufficiently shown to re-evolutive the plan.

We assessed the incremental value of each resonance by comparing the reporting at each stage and variations in the advice gives.

#### Results

**Case 1.** (41-year-old female). Both observers convertly identified a ginit right commany artery (RCA) to laft varificle (DV) finitia. (Figure 14, Figure 18) from second MDCT data.

**Case 2.** (5%-generall mole). From source CT data, both consoly reported a floride introducing both coronary arturns with dilation along their entitie, respective lengths and their descripter to the coronary same (CS) (Figure 1C, Figure 1D). However, the complexity of the courses precluded varial communication without the aid of VR rescontention.

**Case 3.** (67-span-old mile). The partiest exhibited a listicous orthood of the laft coronary neutry (LCA), with two conservations in series durining to the left axial appendicus (LAA) and the CS (**Figure 16**, **Figure 17**). Both observative reported the origin and CS durings from source MDCT data. One observat field to martien the durings of the second interveyou to the LAA. This error was corrected when analysing reportation prepared for 3D pointing (**Figure 27**).

Case 4. (2-year-old boy). The formls originated from the left main mere and distant into the reporter year cava-tight attain (SVC-RA) intetion surrounding the active root. CMR, transverplaged echouselography (TOE) and transitionaric echouselography (TTE) were performed (Figure 16, Figure 18, Moving Image 1), Both observers surroutly reported from some images, with no incremented baseful from volume readering or 3D printed models.

#### CONTRIBUTION TO DECISION MAKING AND PLANNING

Interventional cardiologists inspected the 3D model and recursidand during a initially mode with source and VR images. For those referred for cardiac carboner intervention, simulation of the proposed procedure was performed using the 3D model in the orthible

Cate 1. In view simulation (Figure 24 darived from randomizinguamentation Figure 28) allowed planning of the best heading point for the rectinion device (Moving image 21 During the percenture, subartive corresponding anguagity confirmed nationary As planned, closure was achieved with a 16 mm AMPLATZER<sup>TW</sup> Vacable Phys II (AVP II, 8). Jode Medical, St. Parl, NN, USA) provisional user the distance of the fields to the UV.

**Case 2.** After multidisciplinary discussion, the term endorsed estimate intervention. However, interventional confidencies only realised the context of the involvement of both conversely seturise after inspecting the model (Figure 25 derived from rendered segmentation Figure 20), figures, its review sharinged for doministic leading to conservative management.

Ease 3. After reviewing the imaging data, the termi decided that the complexity of the anatomy would result in a high-tick procedoor. Review of the 3D model (Figure 2E derived from readered responsition Figure 2F) data or change the decision in advice runpary over momentative intervention. Despite this, after discussion with the potent, percentaneous intervention was planned and performed at the referring centre.

-1037

During the procedure, the first device (a 16 mm AVP II), inmining to close the connection to the LAA, embolised into the large mannyom siz. Cleanne was ackneved with a 16 mm VSD Occludar (St. Jude Medical). A 14 mm AVP II was released at the drainage to the CS. A 3×18 mm Enderston® drug-eloting strent (Meditonic, Minneapolis, MN, USA) was placed in the left circumflex to avoid its occlusion and subsequent schemins in julation to the device closing drainage to the LAA.

**Case 4.** The 3D model aided the selection of the approach and device (Figure 2G derived from random segmentation Figure 2N). During simulation, the plug was placed at the SVC-RA junction, closing the final partice of the fiscale and its derivage into the arriver. During the intervention, closure was achieved using an 8 mm AVP II plug placed at the mid-point of the fiscalous course (Moving image 3). Distal placement of the plug, as planned, failed in the patient due to the dalivery shouth displacement back to the RA.

Active reference to models during the intervention in cases 1 and 4 aided spatial orientation throughout the procedure

#### Discussion

Mathods for 3D virtualization of the coeffice materup (such as MDCT and CMR) are vital for patients with complex CHD. We have previously published our experience on the utility of dualphase whole-beart imaging for coronary virtualisation in CHD<sup>12</sup>. For the imaging expert, our findings suggest that VR and 3D printing contribute little to disgnssis in cases of simple coronary artery fistule. However, where the materup is complicated, VR and 3D models aid the interpretation of these images and facilitate communication of the suspinology to the interventional team.

Our study demonstrates the importance of a physical 3D representation of the austomy in complex cases, particularly when planning the approach and the device for closure. Simulation may mores that the correct appipulate is evolvable and hence reduce procedure times. This is in line with previous reports of interventional planning in CHD<sup>2</sup>.

In keeping with a previous systematic review<sup>4</sup>, we relied on manual editing and semi-intronated methods of image segmentation. This routled is a long processing function, inconsistent with routing clinical practice.

#### Limitations

In addition to the image segmentation time, there are also limitations of the model simulation. As highlighted by case 4, the 3D printed model could not reliably ruplicate the mechanical properties of the heart's tissues and dail not simulate blood flow.

#### Conclusions

Volume rendering of MDCT and CMR images is essential for accurate diagnosis in complex coronary array fixtulas. 3D printed models are helpful for simulation and preprocedural planning. They represent a valuable communication tool, analying the imaging specialist to convey their understanding of patientspecific anatomy to the interventional cardiologist.

#### Impact on daily practice

Structural disease demands a fieldy 3D appreciation of anatomy. In this regard, patient-specific 3D printed models can provide a methol adjunct in the care of patients with complex CHD.

#### Funding

This work was supported by the National Insultute for Health Research Cardiovascular Health Technology Cooperative and Biomedical Research Centre awarded to Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust in partnership with King's College London.

#### Conflict of interest statement

The outfoors have up conflicts of interest to declare:

#### References

 Hussain T. Marline S. Pael SA, Valvende L. Bildea K. Hussingsson M, Borner RM, Simpson J, Greil GE. Coronary artery size and origin imaging in children: a comparative study of MRI and humo-thoracic ecloscardiography. *BMC Most Insuging*, 2015, 15:48.

 Uribe S, Hussain T, Valvarde I, Tajos C, Interazzval P, Fava M, Beerbaran P, Botnar RM, Razavi R, Schaeffor T, Greil GF. Companital heart disease in children: contenuty MR magiography during systelic and disately with shall confuse phase whole-heart imaging. *Rodrology*, 2011;260:232-40.

 Valverde I, Gomez G, Cosenia JF, Suarez-Mejas C, Unite S, Sotulo J, Valsson MN. Santos De Soto J, Hosseinpour AR, Gomme-Cia T. 3D printed models for planning endorascular steating in transverse antic arch hypoplasis. *Collocar Conference Journa* 2015;85:1006-12.

 Byrne N, Velasco Forte M, Tandon A, Valverde L, Hussnin T, A systematic review of image segmentation methodology, used in the additive manufacture of patient-specific 3D printel models of the cardiovescular system. *JRSM Conductor Dis*, 2016;5 204800-0016645467.

#### Supplementary data

Moving image 1, 3D echo showing the course of the fistula in case 4.

Moving image 2. Rotational angiography of the 3D model after closure device positioning.

Moving image 3. Post-relater angiography absoring AVP II to use wife no residual flow (case 4).

The supplementary data are published service in http://www.periodow.com/ wereover-resultion/2006\_zeniar/064


# Eordiology in the Young

cambridge-orgicty

# Beview Article

Cite this articles Vélasco Falte 103, Hussola T. Roset A. Gentez D. Jörgbland M. Smaxon J. Publication K. Byrne H. and Volverde I (2009) Living the heart in three dimensions: applications of 30 printing in Ord . Cardulary in die Found, page 1 of 11. doi: 10.001/515/001000

Received: 20 Secondar 2018 Revised: 7 February 2018 Accepted: 13 February 2018

Rev words: CHD; 30 priving cardiac magnetic reconance

Author for correspondences Mart Mevus Watson-Forle, Scheel of Biamedical Engineering and imaging Sciences, Birg's College London, P84 Lambeth Wing, St Thomas' Hospital, Westminater Bridge Rd, Lambeth, London S21 704, UK Tel: +44 Then (LIZ)(4) if most contraints between out at all

# Living the heart in three dimensions: applications of 3D printing in CHD

Mari Nieves Velasco Forte<sup>128</sup>, Tarique Hussain<sup>4</sup>, Arno Roest<sup>1</sup>, Gorka Gomez<sup>2</sup>,

Monique Jongbloed<sup>6</sup>, John Simpson<sup>1,3</sup>, Kuberan Pushparajah<sup>1,1</sup>, Nick Byrne<sup>1</sup> and Brael Valverde1-55

<sup>1</sup>Division of Imaging Sciences and Bastwelical Engineering, King's College, London, UK, <sup>2</sup>Cardiovascular Pathology Space: Department of Composite Heart Disease, Evolves Leeden CMDinor's Hospital, Gay's and S Theorem NHS Foundation Frank, London, UK, "Department of Production, UT Seathwestern Healed Center, 1995 Healed Direct Drive, Julian, 77, USA and "Department of Feducity Candidagy, Luiders University Hedical Canter, Lotders. The Northestands

#### **Abebract**

Advances in biomedical engineering have led to three-dimensional (3D)-primied models being. used for a broad range of different applications. Teaching medical personnel, communicating with patients and relatives, planning complex heart surgery, or designing new techniques for repair of CHD via cardiac catheterisation are new options available using patient-specific 3D-printed models. The management of CHD can be challenging owing to the wide spectrum of morphological conditions and the differences between patients. Direct visualisation and manpulation of the patients' individual anatomy has opened new formora in persondiced treatment, providing the possibility of performing the whole procedure in vitro beforehand, this articipating complications and possible outcomes. In this review, we discuss the workflow to implement 3D printing in disical practice, the imaging modulities used for anatomical segmentation, the applications of this emerging technique in patients with structural heart disease. and its limitations and future direction

Since 2014, the Association for European Parellatric and Congenital Cardiology has supported scientific projects in the field of paediatric and congenital cardiology in Europe led by junior members. The aim is to support justice members to develop an international and collaborative. research study involving European centres.

In 2015, the Association for European Paediatric and Congenital Cardiology junior research grant was awarded for the evaluation of 3D-printed models in different semarios of CHD, such as surgical planning, interventional planning, education of trainees, and communication with patients and pavents. In this editorial, we will present the research output supported with this grant and introduce the readers to 3D printing technology, providing an overview of the imaging requirements for generating a 3D model. We will review current scientific evidence on the ase fulness of 3D cardiovascular models in orogenital and structural heart disease.

The increasing anatomical complexity of the patients undergoing congenital cardiac surgery over time has created the need for new techniques to assess cardiac morphology and structural defects, with multi-detector CT and conduc MRI being currently part of their routine evaluation. Subsequently, 3D images have become available, with the limitation that although a 3D representation of the anatimy is provided, it is configured within the confines of a two-dimensional acreen. The complexity of severe types of CHD proclades the understanding of the datesse without the manipulation and direct visualization of the patient's heart features

The first medical 3D printing techniques were aimed to plan crantal,1-4 metillofactal,1-6 and orthopaedic surgery.78 Since then, a wide variety of different materials and printing techniques have developed, offering now the possibility of using them in different scenarios, including cardiovascular disease. In this review, we will discuss how to create a patient specific 3D model and their applications for patients with CHD.

#### Heat to create a 2D printed model

Dennis monthliner

C Cambridge University Presi 2015.



Most 3D models are created from CT or MRI whole-heart datasets. Some minimum requirements are necessary. Each dice must be contiguous to the preceding one, the image should be isotropic, and any data element acquired must relate to every other image data point with a fixed relationship.

entialed from type, were be an easy of yours. Know beings border, on taged don't a statistic subjects the casha loge to exertise of use, well-deb all type, were us to the organization of the transmission of the

#### N.N. Velanco Forte et al.



Figure 1. Adapted from Galacco Forta et al. 30 balance mandy date pressure acquired with image based sovigation for a patient with partial anomalian patientesy service connection. Since reveaus defect in axial solored connect 30 offerents, Pathway of anomalies patientery with interval to the LA before prime (in contrast new V). As a artic, LA and a strain (LA a reflect atom) and the patientery atom; SA - reflection of the strain (LA before prime) and the strain (LA article). As a strain (LA article) atom (LA article), SFA - reals patientery atom; SA - right atom; SFA - right patientery atom; SAC - supprint candidet.

The preference between one imaging technique and another is based on the experience of the centre, the main structure of interest, and the age of the patient, with a tendency to use MRI in younger population to avoid radiation.<sup>349</sup> Although being of significant relnance, the details for sequences acquisition are not always explained in clinical atodies.<sup>34143</sup> ECG gated 3D balance steady-state precession and contrast enhanced MRI argosgraphy are the most common reported techniques when MRI is the selected imaging method.<sup>36114-1730</sup> Honge-based marigation for motion correction in 3D balance steady-state procession acquisition has been used for creation of models in complex interventional planning.<sup>37</sup> The sharpons of the borders of the cardiac contrast and wasels and the struck yound size ackieved with this technique halp the operative to perform a detailed segmentation of the patient's anatomy (Fig 1).

In other studies, CT is the imaging technique of choice, and it has been described as being one of the easiest modalities with which to create a model for 1D printing in a recent review.<sup>19</sup> 1D echocardiography has also been utilised when cardioc values are the sarget of the segmentation. Promising results have been achieved both in combining 3D echo with CT or as isolated datawits.<sup>30-12</sup> However, a recent study states that CT may be better than echocardiography when the left atrial appendage is the region of interest, to plan device closure in patients with atrial fibrillation.<sup>21</sup>

As this field is still developing, new imaging modalities are emerging as possible options for 3D printing. This is the case of rotational angiography, which allows tomographic sloces to be mutinely reconstructed with high spatial resolution. A short case series has been recently published, suggesting that this option may spread the opportunity to create 3D module to a larger number of centres.<sup>19</sup>

#### Denks reliancements

Once the image is acquired, the data are imported into a segmentation software, where the anatomy of interest is delimited and separated from the sumounding tassies. Several software packages have been reported for this purpose. It is, however, quite common that the name of the software or program used is not mentioned in the study. Our group performed a systematic review on the image segmentation methodology," showing that only 34% of journal publications provided sufficient detail for their methodology to be reproduced. A further 18% mentioned the methods that they had used but did not septain how these had been applied, and the remaining 29% of publications did not previde any description of their method waturever.

There are several software packages available either commercially or as open anone access platforms.<sup>16,15,19</sup> The segmentation process in carried out by the use of manual and semi-automatic methods. Brightness thresholding, region growing, and manual editing are the three most frequently used methods. <sup>10,15,41</sup>

Once the segmentation is finished, the storeolithography file (. 82) created is sent to computer-sided design software, where refinement of the anatomy is performed. This process allows the creation of hollow models with smooth surfaces, as well as trianming the end of the vessels or cutting the model to above its inside. The segmentation process using a free access segmentation tool and computer-sided design methodology are represented in Figure 2.

#### 30 printing technologies and material

Expld prototyping technology can be subtractive or additive depending on the printing method used. Regarding addractive techniques, only milling is applied in the medical field. Fused deposition modelling, polyjet printing, stereolithography, and selective laser sintering are the most common additive techniques officed in medicine.<sup>90,11,21</sup>

In fased deposition modelling, a thermoplastic filament is forced through a heated extrusion neezle. The filament is melted while morting in vertical and horizontal directions. The layer of material hardens immediately after extrusion, the process is repeated kyer by layer until the model is finished. A support insternal that is later dissolved is printed within the actual model.

Polyjet readelling works in a similar way to an inti-jet printer. During the process layers of liquid photopolymers are jetted in the predefined shape using computer-aided files. Each layer hardens quickly under ultraviolet light. Multiple layers are incorporated until the model is complete.

Steteolithography builds the models through the polymerication of a photopolymeric resit. A digitally controlled altraviolet hearn hardens the surface of the resis layer by layer.

Selective laser sintering uses a high-power laser to fase metal or cerumic powder. It offers highly accurate 3D models, used for functional prototypes or medical implants, but it is also generally higher in cost when compared to other additive manufacturing techniques.

Several materials with different properties have been used to print cardiovascular structures. Initially, hard materials were attlased to show cardiac anotomy and great vessels.<sup>100</sup> Ploweren, milder-like models protected in a hollow fashiose have become more common for the routine planning of interventions as they provide a more realistic representation of the pattern's cardiac anatomy, which is essential to plan any surgical or interventional procedure.<sup>24</sup> Other interventing features of new materials are the spectrum of opacity and transparency and softness.

Base Analysis (Law Source Control on Contro



Piper 3. Step of the segmentation process using an online operators segmentation and, (a) image coupling (b) Territology, (c) Manual editing of the automy, (c) 33 representation of the segmentation.

# Applications in CHD

#### Caning printing

Recent reviews have extensively described the use of 3D printing for procedural planning in a wide range of patients with congenital and structural beart disease.<sup>9425,56,65</sup>

#### Surgical planning

3D models have proven to be useful when complex anatomy precludes anatomical understanding using 2D images provided by conventional imaging such as echocardiography. CT. and MRI. We recently published a multicentre study involving 10 international centres showing high accuracy of the models, with no significant difference between the model stuff and the CT or MRI images used to perform the segmentation, the design methedology is flustrated in Figure 3.<sup>16</sup> In the same study, in 19 of 40 cases, the 3D model changes the management or negleal approach initially concluded by multidisciplinary discussion before having access to the model.

Patients with double-outlet right ventricle, intradingy of Fallot, palmonary attentia, and hypoplastic left heart syndrome seem to be the groups that have benefit the most from this energing technique.<sup>17,17,18,19</sup> In a single-centre study including five patients with double-outlet right ventricle and non-committed ventricular septial defect, the 31D model showed better scoring than convertioned imaging, and in three cases, a biventricular repeir was successfully carried out.<sup>18</sup> A case report also fluctured the importance of 3D printing in a patient with double-outlet right ventricle, destrocardia, and supra-tricupid ring.<sup>19</sup> Other studies how also determinized the relevance of this

Other studies have also deremitrated the relevance of this technique in patients with other cardiac disusse, such as complex atrioventricular septal defect, congenitally corrected transposition of the great arteries, complex total anomalous palmonary venous connection, multiple ventricular septal defects, crisscross heart, or isomerium.<sup>19,11</sup>

In addition to CHD, rapid prototyping has been utilized for patients, with different types of structural heart disease. Simulation of careliac mysmectomy has been performed in patients with severe forms of hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopatity, <sup>5410</sup> Careliac turnours have also been benefitted from this technique and have been utilised to identify structures at risk and to determine appropriate throughout option and surgical approaches. <sup>5645-40</sup>

A new procedure has enserged for the treatment of aortic root meanysm in patients with Martan syndrome, using 3D printed models of the cortic root. These are made in thermoplastic by ragid prototyping, manufacturing a personalised support of a macroporoos polymer mesh. The support is positioned around the aorta, closely applied from the anchovenitricular junction to the proximal aortic arch, allowing preservation of the aortic valve and the patient's coronary arteries.<sup>6–6</sup>

#### Cardiac catheterisation: interventional planning

Visualisation of patients' anatomy in three dimensions and the opportunity to manipalate it is our swn hands have allowed un to understand better the relationships between cardiac structures and have opened new bottoors in treatment for patients with GHD. This is the case of patients with a orth: orch atomaties? GHD. This is the case of patients with a orth: orch atomaties? or mitral valve disease. Figh-risk patients in whom open-beart suggery is not a thempeutic option can now benefit from paliative procedures. This is the case of patients receiving a Mitracilip via cardiac catheterisation. Although minicking the properties of the tase of patients challenging, wine groups there developed nucleis leaflets approve challenging insulations, patient-specific models helped to plan the best landing

Distributed Fast Transformers for the improvement of the process o



If are regression of first marcharold ---- It make prode an

Figure 1. International study involving ten participating centers. Decographic, clinical and imaging data (CT and MR) were collected by participating centers, de-identified and opticulating centers. Data was developed by a ningle center. NMH for concentration, 35 printing and technologies and 31 painting measurement according. So printing and technologies and the center of the



Figure 4. 10 approximation of the beam of a perform with portial commission pulmorary remove connection. Thereaded was primod 11 and/s, and 2 mm this here was added using compute with design to think you. (a) untrod was a first heart showing sight apper patronary wave (NUP), black arread via signification used with SPC. (b) Explicitly in theseing or Record the datasets of the ROPS into the SPC black arread, by Josef reference theoring pathway of the ROP black arread, draining into the SPC and pathway the left, stream (A).

Description of the structure of the stru



Figure 5. The RecEle, inertialized makes were experient to confirm the expected relationship of the anomalous pulmonary were (PA) (another to be performed with (SVC) and left at new (A), Athen the model, a balance managed does not be the SVC to upbe an an (A) partials. Does ushous not be a performed with (SVC) and left at new (A), Athen the model, a balance managed does not be approximately to be a performed with (SVC) (B) model and the constant of the transfer of the providing transfer to the second out of the length of the second out of the balance and notice the there developed and advantaged the constant out of the second of the providing transfer of the second out of the length of the table to be the balance and notice the test of the second out of the second out of the length of the second out of the length of the second out of the test of the second out of the length of the test of test

point and provided direct visualisation of the morphological result.<sup>26,66</sup>

3D printing has also fadilitated the implementation of transcatheter approach in the treatment of the astric valve.<sup>40</sup> Astric root 3D models have proven to accurately reproduce the anatomy of patients and aid prediction of paravabular astric regargitation in transactheter astric valve replacement.<sup>40</sup>

Our group recently described a novel procedure to treat partial anomalous pubmentary termina connection and initial versions defect based on patient specific models. 3D models helped to demcentrate that stenting the superior caval vein towards the right atrium, occluding the strust sensous defect, and redirecting the pubmonary versions flow into the left atrium to correct this common defect diagnosed in adulthood are feasible (Figs 4 and 5). This new technique avoids cardiac bypass and allows the patient to be discharged home within 24 hours?<sup>10</sup> Corronary fistulae have a tendency to show tortisous course and

Coronary fistulae have a tendency to show tortuous course and arryrodiotable places of drainage. We doministrated that in patients with this condition, 1D resoluls have an impact in decision reading within professionals in the minkual field and on how to proceed with patients' management, they assist to plan the procedure and to explain gatients and relatives file anatomy of their heart (Fig. 6).<sup>8</sup> Patients with tetralogy of Fullot and other forms of right ven-

rituants with tenangy of rision and other torms in right ventricular outflow tract abnormalities tend to need repeated surgical procedures in life to treat pulmonary stemistics at different lovels or valuer regargitation. The use of transcatheter pulmonary value replacement has slowly gained popularity in this context. However, the density of traheculations and irregularities, combined with dilatation of the right ventricle of these patients, often make it difficult to perform the percutaneous implantation of the value, leading to prolonged procedure and realistion times. Several studies have samed to plan the value implantation using patientspecific models,<sup>11</sup> hand on segmentations from MRI<sup>12</sup> and CL<sup>13</sup> in these studies, 3D models helped the whole multilisticin any team to visualise the intervention, try out different strategies, and design individualised solutions for a population with widely differing cardiac automies<sup>11</sup> and more accurate selection of patients for percuraneous pulmonary value implantation than using MRI images along.<sup>21</sup> as well as better planning of the precedure in the context of complications like right ventricular outflow tract anterpress.<sup>24</sup>

### fillenmen auf training

3D printing models have the potential to serve as unique educational tools for healthcare professionals. They have been used across a different range of medical personnel for training purposes.

Downleaded If the Transformer on the engine is a single balance unders of tapactories, that its sales to the carefulge balance of the second device of the s



Figure 6. Adapted from telesco et al. Patiente specific surface rendered stange Lopper true, and respective 30 recolds (Science read, for the Scar patients, trainded in the stange

Biglins et al discussed the utility of using 5D models to teach nurses through a wide spectrum of CHD.<sup>16</sup> In their study, 100 psediartic and adult cardiac nurses were offered the possibility of handling 3D models of a healthy heart, repaired transposition of the great arteries (arterial switch operation), artic coarctation, tetralogy of Fallot, pulmonary atresia with intert vestricular septum, and the three stages of palliated hypoplastic left heart syndrome. They concluded that 3D models belped in the appreciation of aratemy; however, implementation of interest may hulp optimizing the 3D models for traching and training purposes.

Other studies have offered expert input with a more orientated pattern of teaching on topics such as tetralogy of Pallot.<sup>46</sup> Surgical mances have also benefitted from 3D printing on rubberlike materials. In a study by Yoo et al.<sup>47</sup> Bi surgeons or trainers performed simulated surgical proceedares during different hands-on courses. In a studier way, simulations are encouraged for interventional procedures.<sup>46,46</sup> Hands-on seminars have also been proposed as an educational tool using 3D models for psedimetric registrars learning on ventricular septal defects.<sup>46</sup> Another study has shown the benefits of its use for vascular rings in this population of trainees.<sup>46</sup>

As illustrated by the above examples, the methodology of the teaching varies among studies. The lack of consistency makes the possibility of comparisons between outcomes between studies challenging. Although results on improvements in knowledge acquisition when comparing 3D models against images alone remain controversial, <sup>because</sup> there is a generally positive and enthosiastic feedback from participants with a higher score in satlafaction when 3D printing is involved.<sup>16</sup>

The limited amount of original pathological specimens available for traching purposes and the increasing number of claical applications of these models as well the current facility to share digital files make 3D models a desirable alternative to offer direct visualisation of the anatomy to students and medical personnel in training. The creation of a library has previously been suggested in this context. As part of the future Association for European Paeliatric and Congenital Cardiology grant, an open-source library to share stereolithography files ready to print across all the Association for European Paediatric and Congenital Cardbology members has been created. Making 3D images available through online collections can provide hospitals and research centres with free access to a broad spectrum of heart conditions. A wide range of anatomical variants for different spectrums of CHD has been gathered with this purpose, including hypoplastic left heart syndrome and its surgical stages, double-outlist eight ventricle, tetralogy of Fallot, and trancas arterioaus (Figs 7–40.<sup>44</sup>)

#### Communication with potients and relations

Although the main areas of research in rapid prosttyping have been focused on pre-surgical planning and cardiac carbeterisation, there is an increasing awareness of their importance in communication with patients. Biglino et al.<sup>15</sup> demonstrated that parents find the model useful to understand their child's disease. It was described in their feedback as more user friendly than medical images. Their employment did not significantly uccross the dustion of the consultation. Interestingly, the blind assessment performed to assess parent's knowledge on the CHD did not improve significantly after the consultation regardless the use of the 3D model; however, their perceived understanding of the disease was rated as higher. A study aiming to assess their impact on patients with hypertrophic obstractive cardiomyopathy also showed high satiafaction rates.<sup>14</sup>

Evaluation of their impact in transition clinic has also been carried out.<sup>10</sup> This study involved 20 adolescents aged 14–18 years with tetralogy of Fallot, transposition of the great arteries, aortic coarctation, pulmonary atrena, aortic valve stenosis, double-outlet right ventricle, and Ebstein's anomaly. Teenagers reported to be impressed by seeing their own beart and the level of detail the models were constructed with. They described the models as interesting, useful, and helpful in understanding their disease, and 30% of the patients referred that the models made them more ancious. An increase in their awareness of the impact of the disease in their life style was also disclosed after the consultation.

Develoated from https://www.canteringe.org/college.com/ins.antinger20% at 50 Strik subjects for Cantering Constant and an addets at top //www.canteringer.org/constant and an addets at top //www.canteringer.org/constant and addet



Pigers 7: improvidents (eR) local syndrome (HLHS), spectrum of post-optimize anatomics, (s), (L), () HUHS (r) hybrid procedure view, and environ, posterior, and lateral view, respectively, hote Blatoch-Taxing (RT) share the parties ductus anteriors and post-optimize anatomics (s), (L), () HUHS (r) hybrid procedure view, and environ, posterior, and lateral view, respectively. Note Blatoch-Taxing (RT) share to make an a concentrate of a posterior with a start by an optimized on anterior and posterior. If (L) HUHS (r) hybrid procedure view, and environment of (RT) share to make a concentrate of a posterior view of posterior view of posterior view of posterior view, respectively. Note Blatoch-Taxing (RT) share to make concentrate on an accenter of the posterior view of posterior

# Limitations and future directions.

Patient-specific 3D-printed models have extensively proven to have a significant effect in clinical decision making and procedure planning in open-brait surgery or cardiac catheterisation, allowing for development of new techniques and approaches in patients with CHD.<sup>31,41,22</sup> (how extension<sup>2-12</sup>) Special efforts are carrently being made in order to improve the materials that the models are built with in order to minute the behaviour of the rayocardiam, the valve leaders, and the great vessels' wall as much as possible. Differences in beaking and pathologic cardiac tissue are also to be taken into account. The segmentation process in rapid prototyping is based on their trial characteristics; therefore, advances in imaging methods such as 3D orbes are necessary before a more detailed characteristics is achievable. This fact also brings on

Disertionabed Parts National Association of the provide state of the provide state of the Content of the Conten



Pigere 8. Tennings of Fallet (169): to anally compared ToP. America and posterior view, respectively, how severe MICPD high ventricate coaffice tract alum action, parple announce is and of 167 – alward public drawing (11) intent (parby annubaciance) is and of 167 – alward public announce (e.g., (116 – annue) (11) Antenia (11) bit alians of public annual bit alians of public annual bit alians of public annual bit alians and posterior view, respectively. New effective view, Note alian activation and Bit alians, and Bit alians of alians, and Bit alians of the alians of t

board another limitation: the segmentation process is time consuming and requires familiarity with the software, the use of cross-sectional imaging and a bread understanding on cardiac morphology. The manual editing of the segmentation process allows five crustion and deletion of natarmized features, and consequently, supert's metian on the methodology is parameter to complete a seliable model.

The limited number of available pethological specimens makes 3D roodds an attractive option for teaching purposes. However, we

believe that providing expert's input during the traching session is essential, in the same way that imaging modulities in which MBU or echocardiography are explained during training. The involvement of the lecturer may improve the interaction of the students with the model and the andientanding of the anatomy as reported in handson seminary.<sup>5,57,20</sup>

In future, automatic segmentation with minimal manual editing may reduce the amount of time invested in the process, therefore decensing its costs and spreading its ase across the world.

Equivalent from the second sec



Figure 8. Details tablet right controller (2019), (e. 6, 1) introversitial an apply defect (2019) and 2019. (a) bit is from a state on (b) faith and explore only one of the restriction of the introversitian apply defect (2019), (e. 6, 1) introversitian apply defect (2019) and 2019 and 2019 and the asterney (b) faith apply on the right particle (c) (b), (a) and (c) the explored of the restriction of the introversitian apply defect (2019), (e. 6, 1) introversitian apply defect (2019) and 2019 and 2019 and the asterney (b) and (g) the restriction of the introversitian apply defect (2019), (e. 6, 1) introversitian apply and the introversitian apply defect (2019), (e. 6, 1) introversitian apply and the introversitian apply defect (2019), (e. 6, 1) intro

Visualisation of the anatomy in 3D will become routine practice before cardiac surgery, allowing for betwe planning of the proordure and selection of candidates for newel, less invasive techniques.

inclose set and prevents. We would like to there is the Parchatere Cardinlogy Detin the Exclana Landon Clubbergh Parapital for their callsboration to this paper.

Wetter (1900 Ets. Targel Victoria @ 8000-0000-5551-8800

Bow Manual Store That There is a rest of a prior of the Cology Longer and the Software Larged to the Cology Fair Series of Landowski at the Cology of the Software Larged Software Cology of the Software Larged Software Cology of the Software Larged Software Cology of the Soft

30

Formulat Report: MNV was analytical the Association. For Transpose Faultative and Comparatial Cardiology hasise research grave on 2015 to empose the ND printing scientific project in the field of pandiatole and comparatal cardiology in Europe.

I sufficts of internet. The eathers declare to conflicts of generat

UNIC at The same the same as and the same of the same source contributing to this work compty with the Helsenic Declaration of 1975, as revealed in 2008, and has have approved by the theory Research Authority (RDC reference: De(LO)(400).

#### References

- Heiseler D, Pacher PS, Boloux S, et al. Contour-made cart stanistic org/artic produced with CADICAM for the reconstruction of cruniari differts for J Oral Manfilofic Sarg 1998;27:334–338.
- Salar HE, Huen PE, Zolkkolar CP, et al. The milar of investibility price module for prosporative diagnosis of crossicilatial determinist and planning of acqueil convertions. Int J Oral Manifolia: Surg 1995;27:377–355.
- Park GC, Waterato IB, Clark WD. Correction of congenital neurona using sternal/disography. In: singleal planning. Plan Records: Surg. 2008;305: 1444–1447.
- Oasg PS, Farler TH, Parish CW, Jr, Miller MI, The accuracy of slover Morganyby in planning considered hore explanement. J Consider lang 2003;4:164–179.
- D'Uwi PL, Barker TM, Barwaler WI, et al. Storediffuggeptic homodelling in crasis-multi-facial surgery: a prospective trial. J Crasiconnullphc Surg (1994)77:30–37.
- Winder J, Rabh B, Mindical rapid pertorpying technologies state of the art and current limitations for application in and manifoldscal surgery. J Oral Manifolds: Surg 2003;65:1008–1015.
- Manjai S, Eerpold SN, Korarnich D, Shoti J, Fani HA. CT-generated 3-dimensional models for complex arctibule reconstruction. 1 Anthrophoty 2000;15:644–655. doi: 10.1056/arth.2000.0029.
   A Mires BJ SH& K, Bande B, Statue KA. The use of a recommended direct.
- Mines RJ, 886 R, Banke R, Sister RA. The use of a recombinated direct dimensional solid model from CT to add the negled transportant of a total knew arthroplastic a case study. Mod Bog Phys 200(12):522–526.
- Velasco Fario MN, Byrne N, Valverde Perer E, et al. 3D printed models in patients with concerns which finitiae analymical assessment and interventioned ploresting. *YumEntervention* 2017;11:s1000–e3083. doi: 10.42144/00/ D316-06007.
- Volasco Forts MS, Byrne N, Valvenle I, et al. Interventional correction of since venerus attial reptal defect and partial increasing pileronary venerus drainage: prescription planning using 7D printed models. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 1018;11:273–278. doi:10.1016/j.jcmg.2017.07080.
- Sodan B, Weber S, Mackett M, et al. Stensibilitingraphic models for negotil planning in assigntial baset stargery. Ann Thorae Sing 10(7):01:1858–1857. doi:10.1016/j.atforem.mi.2000.12000.
   Sodan K, Schrauss D, Schratti C, et al. 2-dimensional printing of reacking.
- Solian & Schmaus D, Schatti C, et al. P dimensional percent of models to create matters-made devices for cell emiodization of an anatomotic leak after solitic arch replacement. Ann Thorae Sarg. 2008;89:74–978. doi:10.1016/j.athorae.com.2009.83.014
- Schmans D. Harberle S. Hugi C. Sorhas R. Three designational printing in undus mapping and interventional candislogy a single-center reprintion. Intel Conductions, Socie 2010;57(20), 1057. doi: 10.1093/interview.0016
- Earl J Cardierhoux Surg 20/3547:1044–1052. dot: 11.1093/reprotent/10.
   Eard CD, Weild Z, Xuetture A, et al. Streamlin-graphic reproduction of complex conduct morphology based on high-potent morphology. Clin Best Cardial 2007;49:075–1083. doi:10.1005/s00395.007-24422.5
- Motti Lork L. Hohirr M, Kakov T, et al. Physical analytic and agrin complex congressial heart surgery. Ann Thora: Surg 2004;88:273–277. doi: 10.1016/ j.athoraceur9.2807.05.000.
- Valuente I, Gonaci G, Conenta IF, et al. 3D printed models for planning endowascilar iterating in transverse metric and hypoplasis. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 38(5):011006–2012. doi:10.1002/ccd.23018.
   Valuende J, Gonario G, Gonandez A, et al. These discontinuit patient specific.
- Wirunker, Gorum G., Gernakez A., et al. Three-dimensional patient operity. conduct model for samplaril planning in Minashit procedure. Cardiel Young 2015;25:699–194, doi: 10.00179104290114000742.

- M.N. Velasco Forte et al.
- Dynas N, Velanco Porte M, Tandon A, Valveski J, Hanaski T, A sprinkatic review of anage segmentation methodology, used in the additive maintdecture of patient-specific 3D printed models of the cardiovascular system. IRSN Cardiovasc Dis 2016;57:2018/files/seq2497. doi:10.1107/03480604014945482
- Cardiovae Do 2016/201400400405445407 doi:10.1177/20140054014415445487
   Ottos IM, Britann NS, Hasasin T, et al. 30 printing from cardiovascular CTL a practical gable and review. Cardiovasc Diago That 2017/7 307-356. doi:10.2116/frail.2017.01.12
- Valkovski M, Poperi DS, Jose Grasde Alim K, Little SB. 4D protect modeling of the mittal valve for Cathetin-based structural interventions. Ann Biomed Eng 2017;42:508–519. doi: 10.1007/s30479-016-3678-3.
- Scanlar AB, Ngogen AV, Ilian A, et al. Grapparties of ID Eclosion/hogenederined 3D painted value module to coulded models for simulated repair of pediatric artiseventricide volume. Pediatr: Candial 2016;39:536-547. doi:10.2007/s00266.0171/785-4.
- Goundi I, Pietila T, Sannad MP, et al. Integration of computed transprophy and three-dimensional reflocure/hoppingly for hybrid three-dimensional priority in composited from disease. J Objit Imaging 2018;24585–689. arXiv:10.1007/s10279-016-10079-0.
- Ohumer L, Maring SK, Morrin DL, et al. CT based 3D printing is separate to transcoophageal echococclography for per-presentate planning in left atrial separatage device closure. Int J Carolievise braging 201824-821-821. doi: 10.1007/s1054-027-128-6.
   Parmi M, Basher J, Thangandia V, et al. Toushility and validity of printing.
- Parme M, Booher J, Thonguada V, et al. Neukhilty and calibity of prioring 3D huart readels from matrianial angiography. Pediatr Cardial 2016;29:853–858. doi: 10.1007/s00280-017-1299-5.
- Castinoni M, Valvesle I, Katty J, Three-dimensional primal models in respectful hunt obsess: Int J Castleman: Imaging 2017;23:137–144. doi:10.1007/s20254-016-0401-2.
- Giastropeaker A.A. Minimum D. Yuo XI et al. Applications of ND printing in understanding the discours. Nat Rev Cardial 2010;13(20):1718. doi: 10.1018/ recordio.2010.170.
- Ganropeales AA, Stripper ML, George E, et al. Candotherate applicators of 3-dimensional pression. J Thoras Imaging 2016;11:251–272. doi:10.2020/07140000000000217.
- Saarre Majas C, Ganere Ceira G, Valvede J, Parn Calderon C. Ganere Cu T. New technologies applied to surgical processes visitual reality and regul prototyping. 2nal Beakh Technol Inform 2023;216: 689–671.
- Valacrin H, Masadegh R, Mas IK, Little HL, Cardus JD printing and its fature directions. [AUC: Cardiesan: Imaging 3017;10:771–184. doi:10.3016/jacrog.201612.000.
- Valveda I. Three-dimensional printed cardiac readils: appKrations in the field. of modesil education, cardiovascular targety, and another heart interventions. Rev Exp Cardiol (Engl Tab 2017/78: 242-29), doi:10.3016/j.mc.2017.01.012.
- Kier MS, Bainger AB, Garroll JD. Use of rapid prototyping in the cars of parietts with structured bear disease. Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2006;18:200–204. doi: 10.1016/j.j.cm.2006.11.001.
   Ean MS, Herigger AR, Work O, Comite EX, Carroll DJ. Rapid prototyping a
- Ern MS, Harsger AR, Wiel G, Qualfe RA, Carroll D, Bayal periotyping a new tool in undertrapping and treating structural beart disease. Climitedou 2009;117:2308–2394. doi:10.1361/CIRCULATIONAMIA.107.740877.
- Ngan EM, Rebesta IM, Ross DB, et al. The napid prototyping of enaronic models in putnomary attests. J Thrane Cardionase Surg 2004;133:264-264, intr 10.2016/j.jppm.2006.02.047.
- Valverle I, Genec Cleine G, Hanstei T, et al. Three dimensional primadmodels for surgrant planning of complex comparate learn defects an international meditoristic study. The J Cardiotheira Sang 2017, E01139–1148. doi: 011003/extraces208.
- Kendy L, Trifeig M, Bu NK, Talo H. Three-dimensional printed postorypes refuse the annuousy of post-multified Norwood-1 complex sorts such admiraction and adrew preservingual atradition of the septer. Internet Conditions: Three: Sent 2016;32:120–349. doi: 10.1005/Sentemi/201
- Cardianas: Tanapi Sang 201622-236-346 doi: 10.1095/ScinyTov120. 16. Stanishi I, Tanapishi M, Hamaola R, Pakazana M, Yapitan T. Simalarini operation on competitui heart disease using rubber: Ele userbasis directable graphic biomodels based on SD datasets of real failer computed tomographs.
- Eur J Cavdiarfiorsis: Eury 2010;37:305–308. doi: 10.1016/j.ejm.2008007046.
   Banamianngill J, Bindherl V, Wolf L, and The practical plantal nature of threedimensional analytic of complex comparatoly mellicitud bases. J Thermo-Cardiovise Surg 2009;158:191–580. doi: 10.1016/j.jpins.2009001011.

Download from their resolution of the second s

#### Cardinlogy in the mung

- Gordiar S, Blartel A, Chekhandin M, et al. Christial application and multidisciplinary assessment of frame dimensional printing in double order right workide with resource sorteriodic opyral defect. Workid D Pedato Congret Heart Song 2016;23:44–301. doi: 10.1177/21501.05104.05004.
   Farorqi KM, Nichen JC, Uppo SC, et al. Une of 3-dimensional printing to
- Faronqi KM, Nichen JC, Uppo SC, et al. Use of 5-dimensional printing to domonstrativ complex intracardiac relationships in double-outlet right version. In: anglost planning. Circ. Condoxiac: Imaging. 2015;8: e003043. doi: 10.1163/CERCIMAGING.114.800043.
- Harrinen H., Bueke TM, Solar SP, et al. Soon, pinn, print, practice, perform development and use of a patient-specific 3-dimensional period readed to adult conduct surgery. J Thoma: Cambronic Surg. 2017;151:132-140. doi: 10.1146/j.jcss.2016.40.007.
- Yang DH, Kang JW, Kins N, et al. Myscondial 3-demonstroal printing for sopial supectorely guidance in a patienti with obstructive hypertrophic cardiouryopathy. Carculation. 2015;132:309–301. doi: 10.1161/ CDB/01.07100744161.015.015002
- Sons KH, Kim KW, Alm CB, et al. Surgical planning by 3D printing for primury cardiac Schwarenova resolution. Youset Mul. J. 2003;39:1735–1737. doi: 10.3340/jmj.2015.308.1738.
- Schneuzs D, Gerber N, Sodian B, Three-dimensional printing of models for maginal planning to patients with primary ourdan taxions. J Threes: Candianese: Surg 2015;147:1407-1408. doi: 10.1016/j.pcss. 2012.12.058.
- Jacoba S, Granort R, Mohr PW, Fulk V. 3D-imaging of cardiac structures using 3D hoart models for planeting in least surgery: a performance study. Internet Cardiovasc Thoma: Surg 2008;76–8. doi: 10.1510/j.ests2007.156198.
- Golasworthy T. Lamparth M, Mohadilm R, et al. The Tailor of Glossonian a jucket for the Martine's astro. Lanuar 2004;36:1742, Art. 18.1016;30140-673600(37700-X).
- Popper L Golesworthy T. Uflay M. et al. Manufacturing and placing a bospole suggest for the Martin aeris: root description of the method and individual results and status at use pair for the fair two periods. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.000.365. doi: 10.1010/ icetb.2009.220019.
- 47. Treasure T., Tablomberg, Π., Gelessenthy T., et al. Devenalized external aertic root support (PEARS) in Marfan spedcome analysis of 1.4 year outcomes by interdian to treat in a colourt of the first 30 consecutive patients to reaster: a total tissue and webs conserving procedure, compared with the pathiched marks of aertic root replacement, Heart 2014;100 969–975, doi: 10.1136/barrind-2015-304901.
- Liffe SH, Vaklovik M, Avenith E, Barochaodani M, Darker CM, 3D printed modeling for patient-specific initial valve intervention: repair with a slip and a plog. [ACC Conference letters 2016;8972–975. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpin.2016.02.027.
- Figalla HR, Wehn KK, Lanten A, Feldman T. The transatheter valve technology pipeline. In: treatment of adult valvidar heart disease. Ear Heart J 2016;57:2226-2239, doi: 10.1003/earlsourtilities133.
- Ripley B, Kell T, Chennan MK, et al. 3D printing based on randim CT assists automic visualization prior to transactifieres aortic volve explacement. J. Cardensia: Comput. Tomogr. 2016;10:28–36. doi: 10.1016/ 10.0011/12.094.
- 51, Valvode I, Sarago F, Prieto B, Zamnangai H., Tisso-channing petating in vitro conductor of percetaneous palmonary solve implantation to

loge right worthcalle sufflow tract. Die Hoert J 2017;18:1263-1261. doi: 10.1093/carbeartjichve?46.

- Schievano S, Miglienacu F, Goari L, et al. Percepturesce publicours: valveimplantation-based on rapid protectoring of right vertification outflowinsit and publicoursy track from MR data. Badiology 2007;242:480–487. doi: 10.1148/risdu3.1422011894.
- Philips AD, Nevin P, Shoh A, et al. Development of a nevel hybrid strategy for transactivistic pulmonary solve placement in patients following transatentist patisk report of tetralogy of Fuller. Carbonic Cardiovasc Intere 2016;87:400–410. doi: 10.1082/crif.2015.1.
- Jinarji S, Velaco: Farte M, Byrne N, et al. Georgies percotaneous pubnonary versa P value implantation with simultaneous device closure of WOOT straturpen. The use of 5D woolding to perform mode intervention trainlinplannay, CSI Pracidian 2018.
- Biglino G, Capelli C, Koniardou D, et al. Use of 3D models of congenital level disease as an education tool for cardiac manes. Congenit Heart Dis 2017;12:113–118. doi: 10.1111/cdid.12414.
- Loke YPJ, Handhahri AS, Strieger A, Oliveard J, Usago of RJ models of intrasign at Faller for modelal education impact on humang congenital local deess. INIC Med Educ 2017;11:19. doi: 10.1188/s12909-017-0809-0.
- Too SI, Spiny T, Austin EH, Jid, Yua TJ, van Arabel GS. Hundr on sargard matrixy of congenital hunri surgery using 3-dimensional print models. J Thorac Cardionae: Surg 2017;153:1530–1540. doi: 10.1016/j.jp.vs.2016.12014.
- Groon SM, Klein AJ, Pancholy S, et al. The current state of medical simulation in interventional cardiology: a clerical document from the Society for Cardiovascular Anglography and Intervention's (SCAD) Structures Convention. Catholic Cardiovasc Interv 2614;03:07–46. doi: 10.1082/col.25048.
- Godd DA, Beshari JA, Kosal DO, et al. Socializion devices in retervational radiology: validation peeding. J. Van. Interv. Badiol. 2006;17: 215–216. doi: 10.1097/01.8V1.00007400.181451A
   Contello IP, Obrieri JJ, Su L. et al. Incorporating frame-dimensional
- Gostello (P., Olovieri D. Sui L. et al. Incorporating three determined printing into a simulation based congenital hourt disease and critical care sensing contradous for insident physicians. Corporat Heat: Dis 2015; 10:115–136. doi: 10.3111/doi.12.258
- Jonis TW, Saclader MD. Use of HD models of essentiar rings and ellings to improve resident education. Congenit Heart Dis 2017;12:678–682. doi: 10.1111/ebd.12086.
- Veluco Forte M. 3D printing for tracking direction normally AEPC patter Grant 2015. In: 51<sup>4</sup> Annual Meeting of the Association tor European Fundiatic and Computal Cardiology (AERC), Lyon, Cardiology in the Young, 2017.
- Highno G, Capelli C, Wan L et al. 3D-exaministantol patient-specific readals of compensati heart defects for continuumation in ultrical practice fearability and acceptability. IEEE Open. 2015;5:40807265. doi: 10.11.06/ hereiopee.2014-007165.
- Gao HC, Wang Y, Dail, Ben CW, UJH, Lai YQ, Application of 3D printing in the mapping planening of hypertrophic distructive caliboraropathy and physician-partient communications or preliminary study. J Thorae Dis 2018;16587–473. doi: 10.21007/j.0d.2018.06.55.
- 2016.06.867-873. doi: 10.21097/pd.2016.06.55.
   365.063. Stephender D, Gasparine M, et al. Photing the use of patient-specific cardiac models as a word sof to facilitate communication (Long clinical consultations: Follow Cardial 2017;36.813-418. doi: 10.1027/ s00446-012-1281-9

Developed from their lower and representation of the control of th

# Referencias

1. Toshio Nakanishi RRM, H.Scott Baldwin, Bradley B. Keller, Deepak Srivastava, Hiroyuki Yamagishi. Etiology and Morphogenesis of Congenital Heart Disease2016.

2. Nora JJ, Dodd PF, McNamara DG, Hattwick MA, Leachman RD, Cooley DA. Risk to offspring of parents with congenital heart defects. JAMA. 1969;209(13):2052-3.

3. Wang X, Li P, Chen S, Xi L, Guo Y, Guo A, et al. Influence of genes and the environment in familial congenital heart defects. Mol Med Rep. 2014;9(2):695-700.

4. Herskind AM, Almind Pedersen D, Christensen K. Increased prevalence of congenital heart defects in monozygotic and dizygotic twins. Circulation. 2013;128(11):1182-8.

5. Dina C, Bouatia-Naji N, Tucker N, Delling FN, Toomer K, Durst R, et al. Genetic association analyses highlight biological pathways underlying mitral valve prolapse. Nat Genet. 2015;47(10):1206-11.

6. Durst R, Sauls K, Peal DS, deVlaming A, Toomer K, Leyne M, et al. Mutations in DCHS1 cause mitral valve prolapse. Nature. 2015;525(7567):109-13.

7. Garg V, Muth AN, Ransom JF, Schluterman MK, Barnes R, King IN, et al. Mutations in NOTCH1 cause aortic valve disease. Nature. 2005;437(7056):270-4.

8. Gebbia M, Ferrero GB, Pilia G, Bassi MT, Aylsworth A, Penman-Splitt M, et al. X-linked situs abnormalities result from mutations in ZIC3. Nat Genet. 1997;17(3):305-8.

9. Shieh JT, Bittles AH, Hudgins L. Consanguinity and the risk of congenital heart disease. Am J Med Genet A. 2012;158A(5):1236-41.

10. Gelb BD, Chung WK. Complex genetics and the etiology of human congenital heart disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2014;4(7):a013953.

11. Zaidi S, Brueckner M. Genetics and Genomics of Congenital Heart Disease. Circ Res. 2017;120(6):923-40.

12. Bouma BJ, Mulder BJ. Changing Landscape of Congenital Heart Disease. Circ Res. 2017;120(6):908-22.

13. Gilboa SM, Salemi JL, Nembhard WN, Fixler DE, Correa A. Mortality resulting from congenital heart disease among children and adults in the United States, 1999 to 2006. Circulation. 2010;122(22):2254-63.

14. Siffel C, Riehle-Colarusso T, Oster ME, Correa A. Survival of Children With Hypoplastic Left Heart Syndrome. Pediatrics. 2015;136(4):e864-70.

15. Srinathan SK, Bonser RS, Sethia B, Thorne SA, Brawn WJ, Barron DJ. Changing practice of cardiac surgery in adult patients with congenital heart disease. Heart. 2005;91(2):207-12.

16. Berdat PA, Immer F, Pfammatter JP, Carrel T. Reoperations in adults with congenital heart disease: analysis of early outcome. Int J Cardiol. 2004;93(2-3):239-45.

17. Padalino MA, Speggiorin S, Rizzoli G, Crupi G, Vida VL, Bernabei M, et al. Midterm results of surgical intervention for congenital heart disease in adults: an Italian multicenter study. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2007;134(1):106-13, 13 e1-9.

18. Marelli AJ, Mackie AS, Ionescu-Ittu R, Rahme E, Pilote L. Congenital heart disease in the general population: changing prevalence and age distribution. Circulation. 2007;115(2):163-72.

19. van der Bom T, Mulder BJ, Meijboom FJ, van Dijk AP, Pieper PG, Vliegen HW, et al. Contemporary survival of adults with congenital heart disease. Heart. 2015;101(24):1989-95.

20. Vida VL, Berggren H, Brawn WJ, Daenen W, Di Carlo D, Di Donato R, et al. Risk of surgery for congenital heart disease in the adult: a multicentered European study. Ann Thorac Surg. 2007;83(1):161-8.

21. Verheugt CL, Uiterwaal CS, van der Velde ET, Meijboom FJ, Pieper PG, van Dijk AP, et al. Mortality in adult congenital heart disease. Eur Heart J. 2010;31(10):1220-9.

22. Zomer AC, Ionescu-Ittu R, Vaartjes I, Pilote L, Mackie AS, Therrien J, et al. Sex differences in hospital mortality in adults with congenital heart disease: the impact of reproductive health. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;62(1):58-67.

23. Kuijpers JM, Mulder BJ, Bouma BJ. Secundum atrial septal defect in adults: a practical review and recent developments. Neth Heart J. 2015;23(4):205-11.

24. Kuijpers JM, van der Bom T, van Riel AC, Meijboom FJ, van Dijk AP, Pieper PG, et al. Secundum atrial septal defect is associated with reduced survival in adult men. Eur Heart J. 2015;36(31):2079-86.

25. Kempny A, Dimopoulos K, Uebing A, Diller GP, Rosendahl U, Belitsis G, et al. Outcome of cardiac surgery in patients with congenital heart disease in England between 1997 and 2015. PLoS One. 2017;12(6):e0178963.

26. Sluman MA, Zomer AC, Vaartjes I, Bouma BJ, Mulder BJ. Congenital heart disease may hurt men more than women in job participation. Int J Cardiol. 2014;172(1):230-2.

27. Wu CW, Wu R, Shi RY, An DA, Chen BH, Jiang M, et al. Histogram Analysis of Native T1 Mapping and Its Relationship to Left Ventricular Late Gadolinium Enhancement, Hypertrophy, and Segmental Myocardial Mechanics in Patients With Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2019;49(3):668-77.

28. Garcia-Fernandez MA. Evolución de la imagen cardiaca a través de las publicaciones científicas en revistas médicas: un largo y fecundo camino. Revista Española de Cardiología. 2014;67(11):920-4.

29. Jone PN, Schowengerdt KO, Jr. Prenatal diagnosis of congenital heart disease. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2009;56(3):709-15, Table of Contents.

30. Verheijen PM, Lisowski LA, Stoutenbeek P, Hitchcock JF, Brenner JI, Copel JA, et al. Prenatal diagnosis of congenital heart disease affects preoperative acidosis in the newborn patient. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2001;121(4):798-803.

31. Grewal J, Majdalany D, Syed I, Pellikka P, Warnes CA. Three-dimensional echocardiographic assessment of right ventricular volume and function in adult patients with congenital heart disease: comparison with magnetic resonance imaging. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2010;23(2):127-33.

32. Kuo BT, Whitbeck MG, Gurley JC, Smith MD. Double atrial septal defect: diagnosis and closure guidance with 3D transesophageal echocardiography. Echocardiography. 2011;28(6):E115-7.

33. Chenier MT, E.M.; Kapadia, S.M.; Krishnaswamy, A. Multimodality imaging in the cardiac catheterization laboratory: a new era in sight. Interventional Cardiology. 2013;5(3).

34. Fratz S, Chung T, Greil GF, Samyn MM, Taylor AM, Valsangiacomo Buechel ER, et al. Guidelines and protocols for cardiovascular magnetic resonance in children and adults with congenital heart disease: SCMR expert consensus group on congenital heart disease. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2013;15:51.

35. Edwards RM, Reddy GP, Kicska G. The functional single ventricle: how imaging guides treatment. Clin Imaging. 2016;40(6):1146-55.

36. Chan FP, Hanneman K. Computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging in neonates with congenital cardiovascular disease. Semin Ultrasound CT MR. 2015;36(2):146-60.

37. Valsangiacomo Buechel ER, Grosse-Wortmann L, Fratz S, Eichhorn J, Sarikouch S, Greil GF, et al. Indications for cardiovascular magnetic resonance in children with congenital and acquired heart disease: an expert consensus paper of the Imaging Working Group of the AEPC and the Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Section of the EACVI. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2015;16(3):281-97.

38. Meng H, Grosse-Wortmann L. Gadolinium in pediatric cardiovascular magnetic resonance: what we know and how we practice. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2012;14:56.

39. Goyen M, Laub G, Ladd ME, Debatin JF, Barkhausen J, Truemmler KH, et al. Dynamic 3D MR angiography of the pulmonary arteries in under four seconds. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2001;13(3):372-7.

40. Geva T, Greil GF, Marshall AC, Landzberg M, Powell AJ. Gadolinium-enhanced 3-dimensional magnetic resonance angiography of pulmonary blood supply in patients with complex pulmonary stenosis or atresia: comparison with x-ray angiography. Circulation. 2002;106(4):473-8.

41. Kilner PJ, Geva T, Kaemmerer H, Trindade PT, Schwitter J, Webb GD. Recommendations for cardiovascular magnetic resonance in adults with congenital heart disease from the respective working groups of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur Heart J. 2010;31(7):794-805.

42. Ntsinjana HN, Hughes ML, Taylor AM. The role of cardiovascular magnetic resonance in pediatric congenital heart disease. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2011;13:51.

43. Baumgartner H, De Backer J. The ESC Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Management of Adult Congenital Heart Disease 2020. Eur Heart J. 2020;41(43):4153-4.
44. Schicchi N, Secinaro A, Muscogiuri G, Ciliberti P, Leonardi B, Santangelo T, et al. Multicenter review: role of cardiovascular magnetic resonance in diagnostic evaluation, pre-procedural planning and follow-up for patients with congenital heart disease. Radiol Med. 2016;121(5):342-51.

45. Jalanko M, Vaananen H, Tarkiainen M, Sipola P, Jaaskelainen P, Lauerma K, et al. Fibrosis and wall thickness affect ventricular repolarization dynamics in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol. 2018;23(6):e12582.

46. Taylor AM. Cardiac imaging: MR or CT? Which to use when. Pediatr Radiol. 2008;38 Suppl 3:S433-8.

47. Bret-Zurita M, Cuesta E, Carton A, Diez J, Aroca A, Oliver JM, et al. Usefulness of 64-detector computed tomography in the diagnosis and management of patients with congenital heart disease. Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed). 2014;67(11):898-905.

48. Lee T, Tsai IC, Fu YC, Jan SL, Wang CC, Chang Y, et al. Using multidetectorrow CT in neonates with complex congenital heart disease to replace diagnostic cardiac catheterization for anatomical investigation: initial experiences in technical and clinical feasibility. Pediatr Radiol. 2006;36(12):1273-82.

49. Fang W, Zhao L, Xiong CM, Ni XH, He ZX, He JG, et al. Comparison of 18F-FDG uptake by right ventricular myocardium in idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension and pulmonary arterial hypertension associated with congenital heart disease. Pulm Circ. 2012;2(3):365-72.

50. Pizzi MN, Roque A, Fernandez-Hidalgo N, Cuellar-Calabria H, Ferreira-Gonzalez I, Gonzalez-Alujas MT, et al. Improving the Diagnosis of Infective Endocarditis in Prosthetic Valves and Intracardiac Devices With 18F-Fluordeoxyglucose Positron Emission Tomography/Computed Tomography Angiography: Initial Results at an Infective Endocarditis Referral Center. Circulation. 2015;132(12):1113-26.

51. Grani C, Benz DC, Possner M, Clerc OF, Mikulicic F, Vontobel J, et al. Fused cardiac hybrid imaging with coronary computed tomography angiography and positron

emission tomography in patients with complex coronary artery anomalies. Congenit Heart Dis. 2017;12(1):49-57.

52. Mills NL, King TD. Nonoperative closure of left-to-right shunts. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1976;72(3):371-8.

53. Nassif M, Abdelghani M, Bouma BJ, Straver B, Blom NA, Koch KT, et al. Historical developments of atrial septal defect closure devices: what we learn from the past. Expert Rev Med Devices. 2016;13(6):555-68.

54. Bishnoi RN, Coulson JD, Ringel RE. Recent advances in interventional pediatric cardiology. Adv Pediatr. 2013;60(1):187-200.

55. Qureshi SA, Tynan M. Catheter closure of coronary artery fistulas. J Interv Cardiol. 2001;14(3):299-307.

56. Butera G, Carminati M, Chessa M, Piazza L, Micheletti A, Negura DG, et al. Transcatheter closure of perimembranous ventricular septal defects: early and long-term results. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007;50(12):1189-95.

57. Lurz P, Coats L, Khambadkone S, Nordmeyer J, Boudjemline Y, Schievano S, et al. Percutaneous pulmonary valve implantation: impact of evolving technology and learning curve on clinical outcome. Circulation. 2008;117(15):1964-72.

58. Lynch W, Boekholdt SM, Hazekamp MG, de Winter RJ, Koolbergen DR. Hybrid branch pulmonary artery stent placement in adults with congenital heart disease. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2015;20(4):499-503.

59. van der Bom T, Zomer AC, Zwinderman AH, Meijboom FJ, Bouma BJ, Mulder BJ. The changing epidemiology of congenital heart disease. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2011;8(1):50-60.

60. Toh S, Ang J, George JJ, Jayawardena O, Mahbub S, Harky A. Outcomes in techniques of valve sparing aortic root replacement: A systematic review and metaanalysis. J Card Surg. 2021;36(1):178-87.

61. Volguina IV, Miller DC, LeMaire SA, Palmero LC, Wang XL, Connolly HM, et al. Valve-sparing and valve-replacing techniques for aortic root replacement in patients with Marfan syndrome: Analysis of early outcome. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2009;137(5):1124-32.

62. Treasure T, Takkenberg JJ, Golesworthy T, Rega F, Petrou M, Rosendahl U, et al. Personalised external aortic root support (PEARS) in Marfan syndrome: analysis of 1-9 year outcomes by intention-to-treat in a cohort of the first 30 consecutive patients to receive a novel tissue and valve-conserving procedure, compared with the published results of aortic root replacement. Heart. 2014;100(12):969-75.

63. Matsuo K, Kabasawa M, Asano S, Tateno S, Kawasoe Y, Okajima Y, et al. Surgical treatment for adult congenital heart disease: consideration for indications and procedures. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2018;66(2):57-64.

64. Anwar S, Singh GK, Varughese J, Nguyen H, Billadello JJ, Sheybani EF, et al. 3D Printing in Complex Congenital Heart Disease: Across a Spectrum of Age, Pathology, and Imaging Techniques. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2017;10(8):953-6.

65. Bruckheimer E, Rotschild C. Holography for imaging in structural heart disease. EuroIntervention. 2016;12 Suppl X:X81-X4.

66. Bruckheimer E, Rotschild C, Dagan T, Amir G, Kaufman A, Gelman S, et al. Computer-generated real-time digital holography: first time use in clinical medical imaging. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016;17(8):845-9.

67. Velasco Forte MN, Byrne N, Valverde Perez I, Bell A, Gomez-Ciriza G, Krasemann T, et al. 3D printed models in patients with coronary artery fistulae: anatomical assessment and interventional planning. EuroIntervention. 2017;13(9):e1080-e3.

68. Schmauss D, Haeberle S, Hagl C, Sodian R. Three-dimensional printing in cardiac surgery and interventional cardiology: a single-centre experience. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2015;47(6):1044-52.

69. Sodian R, Weber S, Markert M, Rassoulian D, Kaczmarek I, Lueth TC, et al. Stereolithographic models for surgical planning in congenital heart surgery. Ann Thorac Surg. 2007;83(5):1854-7.

70. Sodian R, Schmauss D, Schmitz C, Bigdeli A, Haeberle S, Schmoeckel M, et al. 3-dimensional printing of models to create custom-made devices for coil embolization of an anastomotic leak after aortic arch replacement. Ann Thorac Surg. 2009;88(3):974-8.

71. Byrne N, Velasco Forte M, Tandon A, Valverde I, Hussain T. A systematic review of image segmentation methodology, used in the additive manufacture of patient-specific 3D printed models of the cardiovascular system. JRSM Cardiovasc Dis. 2016;5:2048004016645467.

72. Velasco Forte MN, Hussain T, Roest A, Gomez G, Jongbloed M, Simpson J, et al. Living the heart in three dimensions: applications of 3D printing in CHD - ERRATUM. Cardiol Young. 2019;29(12):1570.

73. Greil GF, Wolf I, Kuettner A, Fenchel M, Miller S, Martirosian P, et al. Stereolithographic reproduction of complex cardiac morphology based on high spatial resolution imaging. Clin Res Cardiol. 2007;96(3):176-85.

74. Mottl-Link S, Hubler M, Kuhne T, Rietdorf U, Krueger JJ, Schnackenburg B, et al. Physical models aiding in complex congenital heart surgery. Ann Thorac Surg. 2008;86(1):273-7.

75. Valverde I, Gomez G, Coserria JF, Suarez-Mejias C, Uribe S, Sotelo J, et al. 3D printed models for planning endovascular stenting in transverse aortic arch hypoplasia. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2015;85(6):1006-12.

76. Otton JM, Birbara NS, Hussain T, Greil G, Foley TA, Pather N. 3D printing from cardiovascular CT: a practical guide and review. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther. 2017;7(5):507-26.

77. Vukicevic M, Puperi DS, Jane Grande-Allen K, Little SH. 3D Printed Modeling of the Mitral Valve for Catheter-Based Structural Interventions. Ann Biomed Eng. 2017;45(2):508-19.

78. Scanlan AB, Nguyen AV, Ilina A, Lasso A, Cripe L, Jegatheeswaran A, et al. Comparison of 3D Echocardiogram-Derived 3D Printed Valve Models to Molded Models for Simulated Repair of Pediatric Atrioventricular Valves. Pediatr Cardiol. 2018;39(3):538-47.

79. Gosnell J, Pietila T, Samuel BP, Kurup HK, Haw MP, Vettukattil JJ. Integration of Computed Tomography and Three-Dimensional Echocardiography for Hybrid Three-Dimensional Printing in Congenital Heart Disease. J Digit Imaging. 2016;29(6):665-9.

80. Obasare E, Mainigi SK, Morris DL, Slipczuk L, Goykhman I, Friend E, et al. CT based 3D printing is superior to transesophageal echocardiography for pre-procedure planning in left atrial appendage device closure. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2018;34(5):821-31.

81. Parimi M, Buelter J, Thanugundla V, Condoor S, Parkar N, Danon S, et al. Feasibility and Validity of Printing 3D Heart Models from Rotational Angiography. Pediatr Cardiol. 2018;39(4):653-8.

82. Cantinotti M, Valverde I, Kutty S. Three-dimensional printed models in congenital heart disease. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2017;33(1):137-44.

83. Giannopoulos AA, Mitsouras D, Yoo SJ, Liu PP, Chatzizisis YS, Rybicki FJ. Applications of 3D printing in cardiovascular diseases. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2016;13(12):701-18.

84. Giannopoulos AA, Steigner ML, George E, Barile M, Hunsaker AR, Rybicki FJ, et al. Cardiothoracic Applications of 3-dimensional Printing. J Thorac Imaging. 2016;31(5):253-72.

85. Suarez-Mejias C, Gomez-Ciriza G, Valverde I, Parra Calderon C, Gomez-Cia T. New technologies applied to surgical processes: Virtual Reality and rapid prototyping. Stud Health Technol Inform. 2015;210:669-71.

86. Vukicevic M, Mosadegh B, Min JK, Little SH. Cardiac 3D Printing and its Future Directions. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2017;10(2):171-84.

87. Valverde I. Three-dimensional Printed Cardiac Models: Applications in the Field of Medical Education, Cardiovascular Surgery, and Structural Heart Interventions. Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed). 2017;70(4):282-91.

88. Kim MS, Hansgen AR, Wink O, Quaife RA, Carroll JD. Rapid prototyping: a new tool in understanding and treating structural heart disease. Circulation. 2008;117(18):2388-94.

89. Ngan EM, Rebeyka IM, Ross DB, Hirji M, Wolfaardt JF, Seelaus R, et al. The rapid prototyping of anatomic models in pulmonary atresia. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2006;132(2):264-9.

90. Valverde I, Gomez-Ciriza G, Hussain T, Suarez-Mejias C, Velasco-Forte MN, Byrne N, et al. Three-dimensional printed models for surgical planning of complex congenital heart defects: an international multicentre study. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2017;52(6):1139-48.

91. Velasco Forte MN, Nassar M, Byrne N, Silva Vieira M, Perez IV, Ruijsink B, et al. Morphological three-dimensional analysis of papillary muscles in borderline left ventricles. Cardiol Young. 2017;27(7):1369-76.

92. Velasco Forte MN, Valverde I, Prabhu N, Correia T, Narayan SA, Bell A, et al. Visualization of coronary arteries in paediatric patients using whole-heart coronary magnetic resonance angiography: comparison of image-navigation and the standard approach for respiratory motion compensation. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2019;21(1):13.

93. Hussain T, Lossnitzer D, Bellsham-Revell H, Valverde I, Beerbaum P, Razavi R, et al. Three-dimensional dual-phase whole-heart MR imaging: clinical implications for congenital heart disease. Radiology. 2012;263(2):547-54.

94. Heathfield E, Hussain T, Qureshi S, Valverde I, Witter T, Douiri A, et al. Cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging in congenital heart disease as an alternative to diagnostic invasive cardiac catheterization: a single center experience. Congenit Heart Dis. 2013;8(4):322-7.

95. Grosse-Wortmann L, Yun TJ, Al-Radi O, Kim S, Nii M, Lee KJ, et al. Borderline hypoplasia of the left ventricle in neonates: insights for decision-making from functional assessment with magnetic resonance imaging. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2008;136(6):1429-36.

96. Minich LL, Tani LY, Hawkins JA, Shaddy RE. Possibility of postnatal left ventricular growth in selected infants with non-apex-forming left ventricles. Am Heart J. 1997;133(5):570-4.

97. Greil G, Tandon AA, Silva Vieira M, Hussain T. 3D Whole Heart Imaging for Congenital Heart Disease. Front Pediatr. 2017;5:36.

98. Scott AD, Keegan J, Firmin DN. Motion in cardiovascular MR imaging. Radiology. 2009;250(2):331-51.

99. Wang Y, Rossman PJ, Grimm RC, Riederer SJ, Ehman RL. Navigator-echo-based real-time respiratory gating and triggering for reduction of respiration effects in threedimensional coronary MR angiography. Radiology. 1996;198(1):55-60. 100. Danias PG, McConnell MV, Khasgiwala VC, Chuang ML, Edelman RR, Manning WJ. Prospective navigator correction of image position for coronary MR angiography. Radiology. 1997;203(3):733-6.

101. Luo J, Addy NO, Ingle RR, Baron CA, Cheng JY, Hu BS, et al. Nonrigid Motion Correction With 3D Image-Based Navigators for Coronary MR Angiography. Magn Reson Med. 2017;77(5):1884-93.

102. Piccini D, Monney P, Sierro C, Coppo S, Bonanno G, van Heeswijk RB, et al. Respiratory self-navigated postcontrast whole-heart coronary MR angiography: initial experience in patients. Radiology. 2014;270(2):378-86.

103. Henningsson M, Koken P, Stehning C, Razavi R, Prieto C, Botnar RM. Wholeheart coronary MR angiography with 2D self-navigated image reconstruction. Magn Reson Med. 2012;67(2):437-45.

104. Moghari MH, Roujol S, Henningsson M, Kissinger KV, Annese D, Nezafat R, et al. Three-dimensional heart locator for whole-heart coronary magnetic resonance angiography. Magn Reson Med. 2014;71(6):2118-26.

105. Keegan J, Gatehouse PD, Yang GZ, Firmin DN. Non-model-based correction of respiratory motion using beat-to-beat 3D spiral fat-selective imaging. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2007;26(3):624-9.

106. Wu HH, Gurney PT, Hu BS, Nishimura DG, McConnell MV. Free-breathing multiphase whole-heart coronary MR angiography using image-based navigators and three-dimensional cones imaging. Magn Reson Med. 2013;69(4):1083-93.

107. Etienne A, Botnar RM, Van Muiswinkel AM, Boesiger P, Manning WJ, Stuber M. "Soap-Bubble" visualization and quantitative analysis of 3D coronary magnetic resonance angiograms. Magn Reson Med. 2002;48(4):658-66.

108. Diaz de la Llera LS, Fournier Andray JA, Gomez Moreno S, Mayol Deya A, Gonzalez Garcia A, Perez Fernandez-Cortacero JA. [Percutaneous occlusion with coils of coronary artery fistulas in adults]. Rev Esp Cardiol. 2005;58(1):93-6.

109. Biglino G, Capelli C, Koniordou D, Robertshaw D, Leaver LK, Schievano S, et al. Use of 3D models of congenital heart disease as an education tool for cardiac nurses. Congenit Heart Dis. 2017;12(1):113-8.

110. Loke YH, Harahsheh AS, Krieger A, Olivieri LJ. Usage of 3D models of tetralogy of Fallot for medical education: impact on learning congenital heart disease. BMC Med Educ. 2017;17(1):54.

111. Yoo SJ, Spray T, Austin EH, 3rd, Yun TJ, van Arsdell GS. Hands-on surgical training of congenital heart surgery using 3-dimensional print models. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2017;153(6):1530-40.

112. Green SM, Klein AJ, Pancholy S, Rao SV, Steinberg D, Lipner R, et al. The current state of medical simulation in interventional cardiology: a clinical document from the Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Intervention's (SCAI) Simulation Committee. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2014;83(1):37-46.

113. Gould DA, Reekers JA, Kessel DO, Chalmers NC, Sapoval M, Patel AA, et al. Simulation devices in interventional radiology: validation pending. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2006;17(2 Pt 1):215-6.

114. Costello JP, Olivieri LJ, Su L, Krieger A, Alfares F, Thabit O, et al. Incorporating three-dimensional printing into a simulation-based congenital heart disease and critical care training curriculum for resident physicians. Congenit Heart Dis. 2015;10(2):185-90. 115. Jones TW, Seckeler MD. Use of 3D models of vascular rings and slings to

improve resident education. Congenit Heart Dis. 2017;12(5):578-82. 116. Collett RW, Edwards JE. Persistent truncus arteriosus; a classification according to anatomic types. Surg Clin North Am. 1949;29(4):1245-70. 117. Walters HL, 3rd, Mavroudis C, Tchervenkov CI, Jacobs JP, Lacour-Gayet F, Jacobs ML. Congenital Heart Surgery Nomenclature and Database Project: double outlet right ventricle. Ann Thorac Surg. 2000;69(4 Suppl):S249-63.

118. Ebadi A, Spicer DE, Backer CL, Fricker FJ, Anderson RH. Double-outlet right ventricle revisited. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2017;154(2):598-604.

119. Lev M, Bharati S, Meng CC, Liberthson RR, Paul MH, Idriss F. A concept of double-outlet right ventricle. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1972;64(2):271-81.

120. Quinonez LG, Del Nido PJ. Valve reconstruction for congenital mitral valve disease. Multimed Man Cardiothorac Surg. 2015;2015.

121. Emani SM, Bacha EA, McElhinney DB, Marx GR, Tworetzky W, Pigula FA, et al. Primary left ventricular rehabilitation is effective in maintaining two-ventricle physiology in the borderline left heart. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2009;138(6):1276-82.

122. Nassar MS, Narayan SA, Nyman A, Salih C, Austin CB, Anderson D, et al. Second stage after initial hybrid palliation for hypoplastic left heart syndrome: Arterial or venous shunt? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2015;150(2):350-7.

123. Corno AF. Borderline left ventricle. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2005;27(1):67-73.

124. Hammon JW, Jr., Lupinetti FM, Maples MD, Merrill WH, First WH, Graham TP, Jr., et al. Predictors of operative mortality in critical valvular aortic stenosis presenting in infancy. Ann Thorac Surg. 1988;45(5):537-40.

125. Parsons MK, Moreau GA, Graham TP, Jr., Johns JA, Boucek RJ, Jr. Echocardiographic estimation of critical left ventricular size in infants with isolated aortic valve stenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1991;18(4):1049-55.

126. Rice K, Simpson J. Three-dimensional echocardiography of congenital abnormalities of the left atrioventricular valve. Echo Res Pract. 2015;2(1):R13-24.

127. Henningsson M, Hussain T, Vieira MS, Greil GF, Smink J, Ensbergen GV, et al. Whole-heart coronary MR angiography using image-based navigation for the detection of coronary anomalies in adult patients with congenital heart disease. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2016;43(4):947-55.

128. Monney P, Piccini D, Rutz T, Vincenti G, Coppo S, Koestner SC, et al. Single centre experience of the application of self navigated 3D whole heart cardiovascular magnetic resonance for the assessment of cardiac anatomy in congenital heart disease. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2015;17:55.

129. Mavrogeni S, Markousis-Mavrogenis G, Kolovou G. Contribution of cardiovascular magnetic resonance in the evaluation of coronary arteries. World J Cardiol. 2014;6(10):1060-6.

130. Sun Z, Choo GH, Ng KH. Coronary CT angiography: current status and continuing challenges. Br J Radiol. 2012;85(1013):495-510.

131. Hussain T, Mathur S, Peel SA, Valverde I, Bilska K, Henningsson M, et al. Coronary artery size and origin imaging in children: a comparative study of MRI and trans-thoracic echocardiography. BMC Med Imaging. 2015;15:48.

132. Kim MS, Hansgen AR, Carroll JD. Use of rapid prototyping in the care of patients with structural heart disease. Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2008;18(6):210-6.

133. Noecker AM, Chen JF, Zhou Q, White RD, Kopcak MW, Arruda MJ, et al. Development of patient-specific three-dimensional pediatric cardiac models. ASAIO J. 2006;52(3):349-53.

134. Olivieri L, Krieger A, Chen MY, Kim P, Kanter JP. 3D heart model guides complex stent angioplasty of pulmonary venous baffle obstruction in a Mustard repair of D-TGA. Int J Cardiol. 2014;172(2):e297-8.

135. Samuel BP, Pinto C, Pietila T, Vettukattil JJ. Ultrasound-Derived Three-Dimensional Printing in Congenital Heart Disease. J Digit Imaging. 2015;28(4):459-61. 136. Valverde I, Gomez G, Gonzalez A, Suarez-Mejias C, Adsuar A, Coserria JF, et al. Three-dimensional patient-specific cardiac model for surgical planning in Nikaidoh procedure. Cardiol Young. 2015;25(4):698-704.

137. Valverde I, Gomez G, Gonzalez A, Suarez-Mejias C, Adsuar A, Coserria JF, et al. Three-dimensional patient-specific cardiac model for surgical planning in Nikaidoh procedure. Cardiol Young. 2015;25(4):698-704.

138. Pushparajah K, Barlow A, Tran VH, Miller OI, Zidere V, Vaidyanathan B, et al. A systematic three-dimensional echocardiographic approach to assist surgical planning in double outlet right ventricle. Echocardiography. 2013;30(2):234-8.

139. Pushparajah K, Miller OI, Simpson JM. 3D echocardiography of the atrial septum: anatomical features and landmarks for the echocardiographer. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2010;3(9):981-4.

140. Charakida M, Pushparajah K, Anderson D, Simpson JM. Insights gained from three-dimensional imaging modalities for closure of ventricular septal defects. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2014;7(6):954-61.

141. Olivieri LJ, Krieger A, Loke YH, Nath DS, Kim PC, Sable CA. Threedimensional printing of intracardiac defects from three-dimensional echocardiographic images: feasibility and relative accuracy. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2015;28(4):392-7.

142. Fernandez-Alvarez JA, Infante-Cossio P, Barrera-Pulido F, Gacto-Sanchez P, Suarez-Mejias C, Gomez-Ciriza G, et al. Virtual reality AYRA software for preoperative planning in facial allotransplantation. J Craniofac Surg. 2014;25(5):1805-9.

143. Schievano S, Migliavacca F, Coats L, Khambadkone S, Carminati M, Wilson N, et al. Percutaneous pulmonary valve implantation based on rapid prototyping of right ventricular outflow tract and pulmonary trunk from MR data. Radiology. 2007;242(2):490-7.